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Financial Highlights

2022 2021
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000

RERE OPERATING RESULTS
Wegs Revenue 1,335,549 1,047,330
EH Gross profit 194,954 194,262
Skl Operating profit 32,107 34,978
ANAEEE A AEGEEREF]  Profit for the year attributable to equity holders 15,134 20,120

of the Company

(4 ==at)
(Restated)
BREARRESRN (GBI Basic and diluted earnings per share (HK cents) 15.1 20.1

BA AR FINANCIAL POSITION
MENVEE Current assets 866,773 798,815
mEaE Current liabilities 794,879 726,397
IEMBNVE E Non-current assets 110,743 98,394
e EIN=E Non-current liabilities 26,602 18,068
RARERFRE ARG ER Equity attributable to equity holders of the 156,035 152,744

Company
E-3p 30 i KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

ERx Gross profit margin 14.6% 18.5%
= Net profit margin 1.1% 1.9%
Rz Bl R (K1) Return on equity (Note 1) 9.8% 13.9%
428 =R (MsE2) Return on total assets (Note 2) 1.6% 2.4%
BN EL Current ratio 1.1 {Ztimes 1.1 {&times
FERBELE(MEES) Net gearing ratio (Note 3) 21.2% 27.9%

BT -

Notes:

1. EEmEERETIRE GG A @R F19456H 1. The calculation of return on equity is based on profit for the year divided by

FIAT00%=1E -

BIRA100%:1E ©

average balance of total equity and multiplied by 100%.

4R FE SRR TRE N NG AR EEN T 548 2. The calculation of return on total assets is based on profit for the year divided
by average balance of total assets and multiplied by 100%.

3. SFEARBBHEIREFITEZRINKRESRES% 3. The calculation of net gearing ratio is based on total bank borrowings net of

BY - PARIRITER - BARRE BIRIA100%5T

and multiplied by 100%.

4 WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Five-Year Financial Summary

e A CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
BZ12A3101LEE
For the year ended 31 December
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
FHBT FAT FHT FHT FAT
HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Wz Revenue 1,335,549 1,047,330 819,503 980,844 1,257,295
K A Operating profit 32,107 34,978 14,692 63,253 107,384
EAN/NIE: £ Profit for the year
B A1 attributable to equity
F N A holders of the Company 15,134 20,120 1,451 33,390 77,018
SeEEHEE CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
®W12A31H
As at 31 December
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
FHET FAT FHIT FHIT FAT
HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
MENVE B Current assets 866,773 798,815 637,049 494,598 806,318
RENAE Current liabilities 794,879 726,397 582,013 479,342 770,146
IEMBENEE Non-current assets 110,743 98,394 108,517 117,094 137,319
ERHERE Non-current liabilities 26,602 18,068 25,848 80,195 48,774
RNNRETFEA A Equity attributable to equity
JE(hHE s holders of the Company 156,035 152,744 137,705 52,155 124,717
BEER R ERAR 5
2022F 4
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Chairman’s Statement

RAANEREEFRBZERAER AR (XA
"Bl BREMBARGHE AEE@ESF([E
B kEEEDS([EER ] RAMAAA]
BEER(TRRDIREASEHE2022F12A318
IEFE (20228 BEE | |EHHE D OFE
FERRAVBHRFERBEE2021F12A31H
IEFE(2021BEE ) MEERET -

02 HEBRFZIRE A LN —F - BF
HERESETE  RANKRSDE TELS
i o B R EARLME([HE]) BN
HEBERBERE - RPARIKI 182022 F8
ROKEMER - & EBEES27 5% TTE
ENBEREREF

RBE=FHE - COVID-19EBE—HITE S
KREERE - XEREEFRBNER - &M
NEFHARERBEHES R FRIFER
MEETER  FEwite T A AKEE FAH
T® o R FSETFEZTHELIE - #F0S
BEEZR - AR - AR EEM B AR
EREMBE AR - ELERRIEAREBK
AEBEAEETE - Bt - A5EBEEZE2022
F12A31HIEFEMHEERTEMEERAR
FREDBDBREDUERERRIIBZEM R
FRAR ERR - RIEEHEE T Wastgne /2 -

REFBELFBBRERD RRBARKES
7 2 A Talentone Technology Limited ([ TTLJ)
T T EEREIMIRE  c AR BEMRRES
([COVID-19)) BIERZE K EEERS T
B SHBESHE2022F —HEE=ZFD
RZINEP - TRRERAFAEEFE - BUETTL
WARR2022F 515 —[EZEEigat 25 EE
Al AEEE o RRVRIGAEEEER LA - TTLER
F2022F12A31 A ILFE W EERS W ©
It AEESSBESECEBB2.0885 T
MEBARAFEESIEBERARZEMEEN
AR EHFEE AT EEBREN1318EE
T e BATEMABRRZEMEERBEEE
BERSmEFERRBEA ST ENEZAFEY
ARREHF 2 IREEFTE - BN BHEBEE
AREME 2 BE MU THEAEEZRE
TR o RBTTLIR B 5T R h G & ¥
kAR TENARRKRESAFERE &
SEBRATEHANRA ARG IN15.1 8 & BT °
BERR AEERBEYERESE ARIKEE
MELE AR EBFTAE LA S BE -

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors” and
each a “Director”) of Wise Ally International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased
to present to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) the
annual results and consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (“FY2022” or the “reporting period”)
together with the comparative figures for the year ended 31 December
2021 (“FY2021").

2022 was a remarkable year to the Group, as we have achieved a
record high level of revenue despite the range of adversities piled on us.
Amongst all, we succeeded in capitalizing the pivotal last two months of
2022 once the lockdown policies implemented in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) have been relieved, and managed to pull with a
27.5% increase in topline, and a gross profit mildly higher than last
year’s.

The COVID-19 pandemic had remained influential in the global business
context throughout the past three years. Benefitting from recovery
embarked last year, our customers had been picking up and displaying
restored willingness to place orders from us. This inevitably boosted the
Group’s sales in the year. However, various unfavourable factors had
been emerging, such as the conflict in Ukraine, soaring interest rates and
the increase in the critical material price, which have remained largely
unresolved. All these factors have an immediate impact on the Group’s
cost structure. As a result, the Group’s cost of sales for the year ended 31
December 2022 increased which was mainly due to increase in cost of
raw materials given that the supply of some critical components was in a
severe shortage throughout the year, which offset substantially the effect
of increase in revenue.

Last year, the Group completed an investment in a joint venture,
Talentone Technology Limited (“TTL”), by way of subscription of shares
and the subscription of a convertible bond issued by TTL. Due to the
COVID-19 pandemic (including the spread of variants such as Omicron)
which caused disruptions and factory shutdowns in the PRC until third
quarter of 2022, TTL did not commence its planned test production
in the last quarter of 2022. Due to the delay in the commencement of
test productions, TTL did not record any revenue for the year ended
31 December 2022. As a result, the Group recorded a share of loss of
HK$2.0 million in the joint venture and approximately HK$13.1 million
of fair value impairment in the convertible bond as financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss. The impairment in financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss arose from re-measurement of the investment
in convertible bond at the reporting year end date at their fair value
pursuant to the applicable accounting standards. As such loss is only
provision for impairment nature, they do not affect the Group’s cash
flow condition. Without taking into account the share of loss in the
joint venture and the fair value impairment in the convertible bond as
a financial instrument in respect of the investment in TTL, the Group’s
profit before income tax would have been improved by HK$15.1 million.
Looking ahead, the Group will monitor the performance of joint venture
while taking into account the challenges faced by the Group.

6 WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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PROSPECTS

Prosperity and happiness have not displaced disruptions and grievances
in the post COVID-19 world. Instead, with an unabated war in Ukraine,
an aggregate demand plummeting amidst unprecedented and frantic U.S.
federal funds rate hikes, the global economy now teeters on the brink
of a major recession. The near-universal view for 2023 is an impending
proverbial “perfect storm”.

With the prospect of “normalcy” far beyond horizon, we are to get
ourselves financially buttoned-up and operationally ready for drastic
maneuverings.

The strategy is to focus whatever resources available on business
development remains steadfast as a diverse set of potential customers has
been connected and new product developments underway.

Investment in this direction assumes primacy as holding on to this course
with toil and endurance will let us emerge pre-eminently.

Despite all these current uncertainties, we are confident that the
Company will emerge fresher, stronger and worthier.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
my sincere appreciation to our customers, business partners and
Shareholders for their continuous support. | would like to also thank the
management team and all staff members for their contribution during the
year.

Chu Wai Hang Raymond
Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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REER2022 M BFEESUE1,335.88
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group recorded revenue of HK$1,335.5 million for FY2022 (FY2021:
HK$1,047.3 million), reflecting an increase of HK$288.2 million or
27.5%. Such increase was mainly due to the business rebound in the last
quarter of 2022.

For FY2022, our products were shipped to over 25 (FY2021: 25)
countries and regions. The U.S. continued to be our largest market,
contributing HK$496.8 million (FY2021: HK$430.9 million), or 37.2%
(FY2021: 41.1%) of our total revenue. The U.S. sales showed a slight
drop of 3.9% in the sales mix, which is the result of notable increases in
sales in other regions, such as Mexico and Hong Kong, in FY2022. The
changes in sales mix to other major countries around the world were
mainly the combined effect of the COVID-19 pandemic and a change
in the distribution strategy from some of our major customers between
countries.

Gross profit for FY2022 amounted to HK$195.0 million (FY2021:
HK$194.3 million), which increased by HK$0.7 million, or 0.4%, while
gross profit margin decreased from 18.5% for FY2021 to 14.6% for
FY2022. The increase in gross profit was mainly due to the increase in
revenue brought by new customers, whilst the decrease in gross profit
margin was a direct consequence of the increase in material costs due to
shortages of key components and supply chain disruption in FY2022.

Selling and distribution and administrative expenses for FY2022
were HK$149.8 million (FY2021: HK$145.9 million), reflecting an
increase of HK$3.9 million or 2.7%. The cost increase was mainly
due to a particularly large increase in legal and professional expenses
rendered, in connection with the joint venture investment and the shares
consolidation in FY2022.

Net finance costs increased by HK$3.3 million, or 44.0% from HK$7.5
million for FY2021 to HK$10.8 million for FY2022. The increase
was mainly due to the fact that the global interest rates have been
dramatically increased during FY2022.

As a result of the foregoing, profit for the year attributable to equity
holders of the Company for FY2022 was HK$15.1 million (FY2021:
HK$20.1 million), reflecting a decrease of HK$5.0 million or 24.9%. The
decrease in profit for FY2022 was mainly attributable to (i) the significant
loss in fair value of financial asset at fair value through profit or loss;
and (ii) the increase in cost of sales, mainly due to the increase in cost
of raw materials as the supply of some critical components was in a
severe shortage throughout the year, which offset the effect of increase in
revenue.

8 WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$5.0
million (2021: HK$5.0 million), representing HK$0.05 (2021: HK$0.05)
per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2022 on the
assumption that the Share Consolidation (as defined in this annual report)
which became effective on 16 September 2022 have been effective in the
prior year. Subject to the approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday, 1 June
2023 (the “2023 AGM”), the proposed final dividend is expected to be
paid on or before Friday, 23 June 2023 to the Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Friday, 9 June
2023.

There is no arrangement under which a shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividends.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group funded its liquidity and capital requirements primarily
through a combination of internally generated funds from its operating
activities and bank borrowings. As at 31 December 2022, the Group's
bank borrowings were HK$275.3 million (31 December 2021: HK$249.9
million) while the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits
were HK$242.2 million (31 December 2021: HK$207.3 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's total net borrowings amounted to
HK$33.1 million (31 December 2021: HK$42.6 million) while its total
equity amounted to HK$156.0 million (31 December 2021: HK$152.7
million), resulting in a net gearing ratio of 21.2% (31 December 2021:
27.9%). The net gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings net of
cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits divided by total equity and
multiplied by 100%.

The Group has adequate liquidity to meet its current and future working
capital requirements.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES AND COMMITMENTS

The Group incurred total capital expenditures of HK$14.6 million during
FY2022 (FY2021: HK$16.9 million) for additions of properties, plant and
equipment and intangible assets.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had capital commitments in relation
to the purchase of plant and machinery contracted but not provided for
in the amount of HK$0.5 million (31 December 2021: HK$1.8 million).

BFERERERAR 9
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, to the best knowledge of the Board, the Group
was not involved in any legal proceedings pending or threatened against
our Group which could have a material adverse effect on our business or
operations. Besides, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities as at 31 December 2022.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were no charges over the assets
of the Group.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

On 28 January 2022 (after trading hours), Wise Ally Holdings Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (as the subscriber) (the
“Subscriber”), TTL (as the issuer and the warrantor) (the “Target
Company”) and the then existing shareholders of the Target Company
(as the warrantors) have entered into a share subscription agreement
(the “Share Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to which the Subscriber
has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the Target Company
has conditionally agreed to issue, the subscription shares, representing
10% of the equity interest in the Target Company as enlarged by the
subscription shares, for the consideration of HK$2.0 million (the “Share
Subscription”). On the same date, the Subscriber, the Target Company (as
the issuer and the warrantor) and then existing shareholders of the Target
Company (as the warrantors) have also entered into the CB subscription
agreement (the “CB Subscription Agreement”, together with Share
Subscription Agreement, the “Subscription Agreements”), pursuant to
which the Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the
Target Company has conditionally agreed to issue, the convertible bonds
(the “CB”) in the aggregate principal amount of HK$44.0 million in two
tranches.

On 22 March 2022, the Share Subscription was completed in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Share Subscription Agreement.
On the same date, the subscription of the first tranche of the CB in the
principal amount of HK$22.0 million was completed in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the CB Subscription Agreement.

The Target Company is principally engaged in the development and
sales of high technology floor care products including, among others,
vacuum cleaners and has been granted the right to use the brand
trademark licensed by the Target Company from the licensor, a Fortune
100 company listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market with strong global
brand awareness and market share as a supplier of home appliances and
products.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Details of the above transactions and the Subscription Agreements can be
found in the announcements of the Company dated 28 January 2022, 8
February 2022 and 22 March 2022. Save as disclosed above, the Group
did not have any other significant investments, material acquisition
or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not make or hold any significant
investments (including any investment with a value of 5% or more of the
Company’s total assets as at 31 December 2022) during the year ended
31 December 2022.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising primarily with respect to the United States
dollars (“USD”) and Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”). Most of the Group’s
sales proceeds are received in USD and some of the Group’s purchases
and operating expenses are denominated in RMB. The Group closely
monitors its overall foreign exchange exposure from time to time and
will adopt a proactive but prudent approach to minimize the relevant
exposures.

The Group entered into derivative instruments to hedge against its foreign
exchange exposure during FY2022.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange since 10 January 2020 (the “Listing Date”). As
at 31 December 2022, the Company’s total number of issued shares
was 100,000,000 at HK$0.2 each (after adjustment for the Share
Consolidation (as defined in this annual report)) which became effective
on 16 September 2022) (31 December 2021: 2,000,000,000 at HK$0.01
each).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s capital structure consisted of bank
borrowings and equity attributable to equity holders of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves. Save as disclosed above,
there was no material change in capital structure of the Group during
FY2022.
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed approximately 1,700
(31 December 2021: 1,300) employees in Hong Kong and the PRC.
Total staff costs for FY2022 amounted to HK$230.2 million (FY2021:
HK$191.4 million). The Group adopts a remuneration policy which
is commensurate with job nature, qualification and experience of
employees. In addition to the provision of annual bonuses and employee
related insurance benefits, discretionary bonuses are also rewarded to
employees based on individual performance. The remuneration packages
and policies are reviewed periodically. The Group also provides in-house
and external training programs to its employees. The emoluments of the
Directors are decided by the Board and the Remuneration Committee of
the Company having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Group has also adopted a share option scheme on 10 December
2019 for the purpose of providing incentives to eligible participants of
the scheme, including Directors, full-time employees of and advisers and
consultants to the Group. No option was granted during FY2022 and as
at 31 December 2022, there was no outstanding option granted under
the scheme.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group has set out its future plans in the prospectus of the Company
dated 27 December 2019 (the “Prospectus”). As part of its future plans,
the Group plans to establish production facilities in South East Asia
region and expand manufacturing platform in the PRC by acquiring
new surface mount technology (“SMT”) lines, upgrading the production
facility at the existing plant and strengthening the research and
development capability for the development and provision of Internet of
Things related solutions. The future plans will be funded by a balanced
mix of internal resources, borrowings and proceeds from the Global
Offering (as defined in the Prospectus).

1 2 WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

On 6 February 2023, Dongguan Wise Ally Industrial Co., Ltd (BR5=EHE
FEEAEPRAR), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
as lessee, entered into a tenancy agreement for the purpose of renewal
of the lease in respect of the premises under existing tenancy agreement
with Dongguan Yetong Property Management Co., Ltd* (RZEm @Y
¥EEAER AT, as lessor, an independent third party, in which the
new term of the lease of premises has commenced from 1 April 2023
and will expire on 31 March 2028 (both days inclusive) for the Group’s
use as its production plant, staff quarters and ancillary functions in the
PRC. The tenancy agreement was approved by the Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 17 March 2023.
For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 6
February 2023 and the circular of the Company dated 24 February 2023.

SHARE CONSOLIDATION AND CHANGE OF
BOARD LOT SIZE

On 5 August 2022, the Board proposed to implement: (i) a share
consolidation (the “Share Consolidation”) on the basis that every
twenty (20) issued and unissued existing shares of par value of HK$0.01
each in the share capital of the Company be consolidated into one (1)
consolidated share of par value of HK$0.2 (the “Consolidated Shares”);
and (ii) subject to the Share Consolidation becoming effective, the
board lot size for trading on the Stock Exchange be changed from 8,000
existing shares to 2,000 Consolidated Shares (the “Change in Board Lot
Size”). The Share Consolidation was approved by the Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 14 September
2022, and became effective on 16 September 2022. For details of the
Share Consolidation and the Change in Board Lot Size, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 15 September 2022 and 5 August
2022, and the circular of the Company dated 29 August 2022.

* For identification purpose only
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Executive Directors

Mr. Chu Wai Hang Raymond (“Mr. Raymond Chu”), aged 70, is our
Chairman, an executive Director and one of the founders of our Group
and has been the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 30
September 2021. He is also a member of the Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee and an authorized representative of the
Company. He is responsible for the leadership of the Board, corporate
governance promotion, strategic planning, and major decision-making of
our Group.

Mr. Raymond Chu is a director of various subsidiaries of the Company.
Prior to the establishment of our Group in July 2010, Mr. Raymond Chu
had worked for Defond Holdings (H.K.) Co. Limited and its subsidiaries
since June 1990 as the chairman responsible for technical, information
technology and research and development functions and later for the
management and operation of the electronics manufacturing services
(“EMS”) division. From May 1977 to early 1990s, Mr. Raymond Chu had
worked as an engineer for a company principally engaged in the supply
of electromechanical motion systems and solutions.

Mr. Raymond Chu graduated from the University of California, Berkeley
in the U.S. with a bachelor of science in mechanical engineering in
March 1977.

Mr. Raymond Chu is the father of Mr. Chu Man Yin Arthur Newton,
Executive Director and the Managing Director of original brand
development, and the elder brother of Mr. Chu Wai Cheong Wilson (a
controlling and substantial shareholder of the Company). He is also a
controlling and substantial shareholder of the Company and a director
and shareholder of each of Smart Union Global Group Limited and
Smartview Investments Limited, each of which has an interest in the
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”).

Mr. Chu Man Yin Arthur Newton (“Mr. Arthur Chu”), aged 40, was
appointed as an Executive Director on 2 July 2021. He joined the Group
in January 2021 with the position as the Managing Director of original
brand development responsible for overall operation of the New Branded
Division of the Group. His duties include formulation of the marketing
strategy of self-developed products, identification and development of
new sales opportunities, and maintaining long-term relationships with
internal and external partners.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Arthur Chu had worked for Cornerstone
Developments Limited as research and development senior manager
from December 2015 to January 2021, responsible for research, planning
and overseeing development of new LED lighting products. Mr. Arthur
Chu joined Defond Electrical Industries Limited (“DEIL”) as a mechanical
engineer in April 2008, and was responsible for monitoring product
design and development, testing schedule, collaborating with different
departments to drive and control the project progress. He was later
promoted to senior program manager in February 2013, responsible for
overseeing the new projects launching, budget control, coordination
and implementation of products, and handling commercial issues with
customers. Mr. Arthur Chu’s last position in DEIL was research and
development senior manager from April 2015 to November 2015,
responsible for research, planning and implementing new programs
development into the organization.

Mr. Arthur Chu graduated from the University of Southern California with
a Bachelor Degree of Science in Mechanical Engineering in 2006.

Mr. Arthur Chu is the son of Mr. Raymond Chu, the Chairman, the
Chief Executive Officer, an Executive Director, and a controlling and
substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr. Arthur Chu is also the
nephew of Mr. Chu Wai Cheong Wilson, a controlling and substantial
shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Lau Shui Fung (“Mr. Lau”), aged 56, was appointed as Chief
Financial Officer of the Company and an executive Director on 31
October 2021 and on 1 December 2021, respectively. He is responsible
for financial and accounting management of the Group. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Lau had been the chief financial officer of Defond
Holdings (H.K.) Co Ltd., and held various positions, including vice
president of finance and company secretary in Defond Holdings (H.K.)
Co Ltd. from April 2016 to October 2021. From September 2013 to
March 2016, he was the vice president of finance of Computime Group
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 320). He had served as an independent non-executive
director of Kaisa Health Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0876) for the period
from August 2019 to March 2020. He had also served as an independent
non-executive director of Nam Tai Property Inc., a company listed on
the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: NTP), from June 2018 to June
2019. He held various positions, such as group financial controller, vice
president of finance and corporate secretary of Nam Tai Electronics, Inc.
(the company name was changed to Nam Tai Property Inc. in 2014) from
November 2001 to September 2013.

BEBEFIERER AR
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Mr. Lau obtained a bachelor degree of commerce in accounting from
The University of Southern Queensland in Australia and a master of
professional accounting degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Mr. Lau is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a Certified Practising Accountant of
CPA Australia and a fellow member of the Association of International
Accountants. Mr. Lau has over 21 years of extensive experience
in accounting, auditing and finance gained from high technology
companies listed in the United States and Hong Kong.

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Ling Imma Kit Sum (“Ms. Ling”), aged 68, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 10 December 2019. She is
mainly responsible for providing independent advice to our Group. She
is also the chairperson of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Ms. Ling is a Certified Public Accountant and a retired assurance
partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers. She is also an independent non-
executive director of Raymond Industrial Limited (stock code: 0229),
EVA Precision Industrial Holdings Limited (stock code: 0838) and Arta
TechFin Corporation Limited (stock code: 0279), all of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Ms. Ling was an independent
non-executive director of Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
2022), from November 2017 to June 2021.

Ms. Ling is a council member and the treasurer of The Education
University of Hong Kong. She is also a council member of The Hong
Kong Federation of Youth Groups and an executive committee member
of the Hong Kong Youth Hostels Association. Ms. Ling was appointed
as an independent manager of the incorporated management committee
of Ng Yuk Secondary School, an aided school, in February 2023. She
previously served as a board member of the Estate Agents Authority from
November 2015 to October 2021 and the Employees Compensation
Assistance Fund Board from July 2006 to June 2012. Ms. Ling also served
as a member of the Appeal Board Panel (Town Planning) from October
2016 to September 2022 and a member of the Hospital Governing
Committee of the Hospital Authority from April 2015 to March 2022.

Ms. Ling is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, Chartered
Professional Accountants of Canada, and Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants. She is an accredited general mediator.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren (“Mr. Lee”), aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 10 December 2019. He is
mainly responsible for providing independent advice to our Group. He
is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee.

Mr. Lee was one of the founding directors of Yu Ming Investment
Management Limited (“Yu Ming”) in July 1996 and has worked in Yu
Ming ever since, responsible for overseeing business development,
maintaining client relationship, monitoring industry developments and
supervising corporate finance advisory and asset management teams on
the provision of services to clients. Mr. Lee is an executive director of
Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited, the holding company of Yu Ming,
which has been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1073) since July 2019. Mr. Lee was an executive director and
the chairman of the board of SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited which
was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 666)
in December 1990 but was delisted on 23 April 2021 subsequent to its
successful privatization. Mr. Lee first joined SHK Hong Kong Industries
Limited as a manager in July 1992 and became an executive director in
September 2004. He was appointed as the chairman of the board and
ceased to act as the managing director of SHK Hong Kong Industries
Limited in March 2009. From November 2007 to March 2015, Mr. Lee
was a non-executive chairman of Rotol Singapore Ltd which was listed
on the main board of the Singapore Exchange Limited until August 2011.
He acted as an executive director of Viva China Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8032),
from June 2010 to June 2013. From February 2013 to April 2013, he was
a non-executive director of China Kingstone Mining Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1380). From December 2006 to May 2007, he was the chief executive
officer of Nam Tai Electronics, Inc. (currently known as Nam Tai
Property Inc.), an electronics manufacturing services provider listed on
the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: NTP). From March 2004 to
February 2006, he was an independent non-executive director of Nam
Tai Electronic & Electrical Products Limited, and from February 2006 to
April 2007, he was re-designated as a non-executive director. At the time
of his directorship, Nam Tai Electronic & Electrical Products Limited was
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2633). From
January 2007 to April 2007, he was also a non-executive director of J.I.C.
Technology Company Limited (currently known as China Renewable
Energy Investment Limited), which is listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 987).

Mr. Lee graduated from The University of East Anglia in England in
1986 with a bachelor of science and obtained a distinction in master of
science from The City University Business School in London in 1988.

Mr. Lee is a responsible officer licensed to conduct type 1 (dealing in
securities), type 4 (advising on securities), type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
SFO.
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Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting (“Mr. Szeto”), aged 55, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 10 December 2019. He is
mainly responsible for providing independent advice to our Group. He is
also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Szeto was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in September 1992
and is currently a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. Mr. Szeto is the co-
founder of Messrs. Y.T. Szeto & Co., Solicitors that was established in
September 1996 and has served as the sole proprietor of Messrs. Szeto
& Co., Y.T. since January 2001. Mr. Szeto worked for Messrs. Paul Chan
& Co., Solicitors from October 1993 to August 1996 as an assistant
solicitor. Prior to that, Mr. Szeto served as an articled clerk in Messrs.
Norman Yung & Co., Solicitors from September 1990 to September 1992
and then as an assistant solicitor with the same firm from September
1992 to October 1993.

Mr. Szeto graduated from the University of Hong Kong in Hong Kong
with a bachelor of laws in December 1989 and was awarded the
postgraduate certificate of laws by the University of Hong Kong in
Hong Kong in June 1990. Since June 2017, Mr. Szeto has served as
an independent non-executive director of Evergreen Products Group
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1962). Since 4 March 2022, Mr. Szeto has served as an
independent non-executive director of Chiho Environmental Group
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 976).

Senior Management

Mr. WEI Andrew, Yick Siu, (“Mr. Wei”) age 53, was promoted to Chief
Marketing Officer on 1 January 2023, who was initially appointed as
Vice President of Client Base Management of the Company on 3 August,
2021. He participates in strategic planning and business development
for our Group. Prior to joining our Group, from October 2017 to June
2021, Mr. Wei was managing the EMS Business Unit as a Director at PC
Partner Limited, a subsidiary of PC Partner Group Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1263), the
principal business of which is to develop and manufacture an OBM
line of gaming PCs as well as graphics interface cards. Mr. Wei was
responsible for developing new business, establishing new technology
platform and leading R&D for the EMS Business Unit. From 2000 to
2017, Mr. Wei joined Electronics Tomorrow Limited, a subsidiary of
Tomorrow International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Former stock code: 760) principally
engaged in the designing and manufacturing of LCD time piece and LCD
connected consumer electronics for global markets. His last position for
the group was Chief Operation Officer. From 1995 to 2000, Mr. Wei
joined Hiraoka & Co., HK. Limited, as Departmental Senior Manager, a
renowned Japanese Trading firm that managed outsource manufacturing
and product development for appliance & consumer electronics with
majority of clientele from Japan. Mr. Wei graduated from the University
of Toronto in June 1992 with a Bachelor Degree in Economics &
Japanese Studies. During his years in the University of Toronto, he has
participated in an exchange program with Sophia University in Japan for
his Japanese proficiency since 1990.
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Ms. Choi Yuet Mei Mercury, (“Ms. Choi”) aged 51, has been appointed
as the Vice President of the Supply Base Management of the Group
since October 2021, and is primarily responsible for overseeing the
procurement team of the Group. Ms. Choi leads the procurement team
to negotiate prices and terms, promotes the formulation of alternative
procurement plans to improve material cost competitiveness, formulates
strategic arrangements for suppliers, establishes supplier partnerships,
and manages suppliers service performance.

Before joining the Group, Ms. Choi worked in the electronics and
enclosure manufacturing industry for nearly 30 years, responsible for
procurement, supply chain, logistics operation, production operation
management, program management. Ms. Choi joined Karrie Group (stock
code: 1050), a Hong Kong listed company, from July 2017 to September
2021 as the Assistant General Manager of Procurement — Supply Chain
Management, responsible for formulating overall procurement strategic
management, procurement policy direction, and ensuring the stability
of supply chain management. From July 2009 to October 2013, she
worked for a Chinese based EMS enterprise listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, Shenzhen Sea Star Technology Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2137),
as the Vice General Manager, responsible for managing the Program
Management Department, Purchasing Department, Logistics Supply
Chain and Operations Management.

Ms. Choi graduated from Macquarie University, Australia in July 2009
with a Master Degree in Logistics and Operations Management.
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Mr. Chan Wai Ho, aged 53, joined our Group on 6 April 2020 as general
manager of our Group. He is responsible for overseeing production
operation of our Group.

Mr. Chan Wai Ho has over 30 years’ experience in various multinational
companies in EMS and manufacturing industry. Before joining our Group,
from January 2018 to April 2020, Mr. Chan Wai Ho worked for an EMS
company as general manager and was promoted to the position of vice
president of operations, with the responsibility of formulating overall
strategy and establishing policies to ensure production runs smoothly
and efficiently. Mr. Chan Wai Ho worked for Meter Technology Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of The Hong Kong & China Gas Company
Limited, a company listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 3), principally engaged in design and manufacturing of utility gas
flow meter with micro electro mechanical system (MEMS) technology
for China market, from November 2012 to January 2018, where he was
the assistant general manager of operation, responsible for gas meter
production, gas flow senor design enhancement and improvement,
quality improvement, metrology development and manufacturing process
development and supplier development.

During September 2010 to November 2012, Mr. Chan Wai Ho worked as
the head of manufacturing of IDT Technology Limited, a company listed
on Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 167), principally
engaged in design and manufacturing of radio control clocks, electronic
thermometers, barometers and weather stations, wearable sport & fitness
product, wireless product like including DECT phone & DECT based
conference phone where he was responsible for managing the affairs of
the manufacturing operations.

From April 2008 to September 2010, Mr. Chan Wai Ho worked for
Rohm and Haas Electronic Material Dongguan Limited, a company
principally engaged in design and manufacturing of specialty chemical
for print circuit board production use, as a deputy general manager and
was responsible for daily operation, including supply chain management
team and quality & analytical laboratory.

Mr. Chan Wai Ho obtained a Post Certification in Manufacturing System
Engineering from University of Warwick in the United Kingdom in
July 1999 where he attended the course in Hong Kong and obtained a
bachelor of engineering in computer aided engineering from Liverpool
John Moores University in the United Kingdom in July 1993.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The Board is pleased to present this report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability on 15 January 2019 and was registered as
a non-Hong Kong company under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622, Laws of Hong Kong) on 14 March 2019. The Shares have
been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since 10 January
2020 by way of Hong Kong public offering and international placing (the
“Global Offering”).

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERING

The net proceeds raised from the Global Offering, after deducting
the underwriting fees and other related listing expenses, amounted to
approximately HK$74.0 million. As of the date of this annual report,
the Company does not anticipate any change on its plan on the use
of proceeds as stated in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” of the Prospectus.
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R20225F12 8310 » BB EABEASHRIE  As at 31 December 2022, the details of the utilised and unutilised net
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EEBA
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I
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FR8RIE timeline of
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FSFRRIERZ Proposed 28A KEA  the unutilised
Intended use of proceeds use of proceeds Utilised Unutilised proceeds
BEER BEET BEET
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
FBER AR & P EEREEE T S8 hNERE
Increasing production capacity by expanding 26.1 (6.6) 19.5  H2023FE K
manufacturing platform in South East Asia (PfEE)
region and the PRC By the end of

2023 (Note)
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Enhancing production efficiency and capability by 16.6 (12.6) 4.0 F2023FRK
acquiring new machinery and equipment and (P E)
upgrading the production facility at our existing By the end of
production plant in Dongguan 2023 (Note)

H5R R 3 IR R Y AB AR BARRR T RV B RE 1

Strengthening research capability for the 3.9 (1.0) 2.9 F2023FRK
development and provision of Internet of (FftE)
Things related solutions By the end of

2023 (Note)

PIIE:ViSSIESYN kw2
Increasing marketing efforts in North America and 4.3 (0.6) 3.7 P2023FR
Europe (B=E)
By the end of
2023 (Note)

IRBUERTT R R L E MBI R ERRIE
Enhancing manufacturing execution system and 1.9 (1.9) -
information technology infrastructure

52.8 (22.7) 30.1

MIEE :©  EPACOVID-19%& 18 EA M35 - Ik7TRHI  Note: Due to the border controls, travel restrictions and disruptions in supply

Rt e E - ZSERAE RICEE B R chain caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, the unutilised proceeds of
B A RIBTET 2023 F K FLABA © these expansion plans and enhancement projects are expected to be

utilised by the end of 2023.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
subsidiaries of the Company are primarily engaged in the manufacturing
and sales of electronic products.

RESULTS AND FINAL DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page
109.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$5.0
million (2021: HK$5.0 million), representing HK$0.05 (2021: HK$0.05)
per ordinary share (the “Proposed Final Dividend”), for the year ended
31 December 2022, on the assumption that the Share Consolidation
which became effective on 16 September 2022 had been effective in the
prior year. Subject to the approval by the Shareholders at the 2023 AGM,
the Proposed Final Dividend is expected to be paid on or before Friday,
23 June 2023 to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Friday, 9 June 2023.

There is no arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividends.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The 2023 AGM is scheduled to be held on Thursday, 1 June 2023. For
determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 29
May 2023 to Thursday, 1 June 2023, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of share(s) of the Company will be registered. In
order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM, unregistered
holder(s) of share(s) of the Company should ensure that all share transfer
document(s) accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30
p-m. on Thursday, 25 May 2023.
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For determining the entitlement to the Proposed Final Dividend (subject
to the approval by the Shareholders at the 2023 AGM), the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 8 June 2023
to Friday, 9 June 2023, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of share(s) of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify
for the Proposed Final Dividend, unregistered holder(s) of share(s) of
the Company should ensure that all transfer document(s) accompanied
by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 7
June 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business for the year ended 31 December 2022
including an analysis of the Group’s performance using key financial
performance indicators, principal risks and uncertainties facing by the
Company, important events affecting the Company that have occurred
since the end of FY2022, and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 6 to
7 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 8 to 13 of this
annual report. These discussions form part of this Report of the Directors.
Other than the events set out in other parts of this annual report, no other
significant event affecting the Group has occurred since the end of the
year under review and up to the date of this annual report.

Environmental Policy and Performance

The Group is committed to environmental responsibility through
minimizing the impacts to the community and environment while
safeguarding the health and safety of the public. More details regarding
the Group’s environmental policies and performance are provided in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 64 to 98 of
this annual report.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

To the best knowledge of the Board, during the year under review, the
Group has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation
of the Company. Further details regarding the Group’s compliance with
the applicable laws relating to the environmental and social aspects
are provided in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on
pages 64 to 98 of this annual report.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers

The Group recognises that employees are one of the valuable assets
of the Group. The Group aims to continue establishing a caring
environment to its employees and emphasise the personal development
of its employees.

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers and
suppliers. Despite the challenging business conditions, the Group aims
to continue providing products and services that meet or exceed its
customers’ requirement or expectation for quality, reliability and value.
In accomplishing this goal, the Group endeavours to build long-term
and mutually beneficial relationships with its suppliers, ensuring reliable
delivery to its customers.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no significant and
material dispute between the Group and its employees, suppliers and/or
customers.

DONATIONS

During the reporting period, the Group made charitable donation
amounting to HK$521,500.

PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in properties, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Details of the significant event occurring after the reporting period are set
out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2022 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARES ISSUED

In preparation for the listing of the Company’s Shares on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, the Company underwent series of reorganisation
arrangements, which are more particularly described in the subsection
headed “History, Reorganisation and Corporate Structure” in the
Prospectus.

The Company had 1,000,000 issued Shares immediately before
the capitalisation issue and the Global Offering. On 10 January
2020, immediately before the Global Offering, the Company issued
1,499,000,000 new Shares to the Shareholders whose name appeared
on the register of members of the Company at the close of business on a
date prior to the Global Offering by way of capitalisation of an amount of
HK$14,990,000 standing in the share premium account of the Company
credited as a result of the Global Offering. On 10 January 2020, pursuant
to the Global Offering, the Company issued 500,000,000 new Shares
at HK$0.25 each. The net proceeds received by the Company from the
Global Offering (after deducting the underwriting fees and other related
listing expenses), amounted to approximately HK$74.0 million. Details of
the Global Offering were disclosed in the Prospectus. Immediately upon
completion of the Global Offering, the total number of issued shares
of the Company was 2,000,000,000. On 5 August 2022, the Board
proposed to implement the Share Consolidation on the basis that every
twenty (20) issued and unissued existing shares of par value of HK$0.01
each in the share capital of the Company be consolidated into one (1)
Consolidated Share of par value of HK$0.2. The Share Consolidation
became effective on 16 September 2022 and as at the date of this report,
the total number of issued shares of the Company is 100,000,000.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to HK$81,516,000.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Details of the Company’s dividend policy are set out in the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles of Association”) or the laws of the
Cayman lIslands which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of the bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2022
are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings and
banking facilities were secured by a letter of undertaking from Mr.
Raymond Chu, a director and controlling Shareholder, and Mr. Chu Wai
Cheong Wilson, a controlling Shareholder.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the previous financial years is set out in the section headed “Five-Year
Financial Summary” in this annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company did not enter into
any equity-linked agreements, save for the Share Option Scheme (as
defined in this annual report) of the Company as disclosed under the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this Report of the Directors.
As at 31 December 2022, no share option had been granted by the
Company under the Share Option Scheme.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the
date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Raymond Chu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Arthur Chu

Mr. Lau Shui Fung (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Ling Imma Kit Sum

Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren

Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting

Pursuant to Article 109 of the Articles of Association, Ms. Ling Imma Kit
Sum and Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren shall retire from office by rotation at
the 2023 AGM and be eligible for re-election at the 2023 AGM.
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Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election
at the 2023 AGM, whereas Ms. Ling Imma Kit Sum has notified that she
will not seek for re-election and will retire from office of the independent
non-executive Director with effect from the conclusion of the 2023
AGM. Therefore, the Board will seek and nominate one candidate for
election as new independent non-executive Director at the 2023 AGM.

Ms. Ling Imma Kit Sum has confirmed that she does not have any
disagreement with the Board and there is nothing to be brought to the
attention of the Shareholders in relation to her proposed retirement.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Raymond Chu, an Executive Director, has entered into a director
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date and the term has been renewed for a
further period of three years commencing from 10 January 2023 while
each of Mr. Arthur Chu and Mr. Lau Shui Fung, executive Directors,
has entered into director service agreement with the Company for terms
of three years commencing from 2 July 2021 and 1 December 2021
respectively (all are subject to termination in certain circumstances as
stipulated in the relevant director service agreement).

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date and they have entered into new
letter of appointments with the Company on 1 March 2023 which did
not specify the term of appointment, but their appointment is subject to
termination in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant letter of
appointment.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the 2023 AGM
has a service agreement or letter of appointment with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save for the continuing connected transactions as disclosed below and
the related party transactions disclosed in note 32(b) to the consolidated
financial statements, other related party transactions disclosed in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements, did not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Continuing Connected Transactions — Master Purchase
Agreement

On 19 December 2019, Wise Ally Holdings Limited (“HK Wise Ally”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and DEIL, which
is a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong with limited
liability and beneficially held as to 50% by Mr. Raymond Chu and
as to 50% by Mr. Chu Wai Cheong Wilson (younger brother of Mr.
Raymond Chu), each being a controlling Shareholder and a connected
person of the Company, entered into a master purchase agreement (the
“Master Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which HK Wise Ally and
its subsidiary agreed to purchase, and DEIL and its subsidiaries (“DEIL
Group”) agreed to supply and/or manufacture a variety of switches
(the “Products”) to the Group for a term commencing on the Listing
Date until 31 December 2022. As such, DEIL is an associate of the
connected persons of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of
the Listing Rules and the transactions contemplated under the Master
Purchase Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions for the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Master Purchase Agreement, DEIL Group agreed to
supply the Products to the Group at a price which shall be determined
on arm’s length negotiations based on the prevailing market prices for the
supply of similar Products. The parties agreed that each purchase order
(“Order”) placed by the Group with DEIL Group for the purchase of the
Products shall constitute a separate legally binding contract between
DEIL Group and the Group upon acceptance by DEIL Group. The terms
and conditions of the Master Purchase Agreement shall be deemed to be
incorporated into each Order and form part thereof. The parties further
agreed that prevailing market price of Products shall be (i) the lower
of the quoted prices for such Products of comparable quality ordered
in similar quantities obtained by the Group from no less than two
independent third parties; or (ii) in the event that the Group is not able
to obtain at least two quotes from independent third parties, determined
on terms no less favourable than terms available to independent third
parties for the purchase of such Products of comparable quality in similar
quantities from DEIL Group.

The Group has been purchasing the Products from DEIL Group since
2010. Given (i) the long-term business relationship of the Group with
DEIL Group, (ii) that the Group is satisfied with the quality and timely
delivery of the Products and (iii) the terms offered by DEIL Group to
the Group are of normal commercial terms and no less favourable than
those provided by independent third parties, the Directors are of the
view that it will be in the interests of the Group and the Shareholders as
a whole to continue such transactions with DEIL Group. Furthermore,
given the long-term business relationship with DEIL Group, DEIL
Group understands the quality, standards, and specifications that the
Group requires in relation to the Products, and the Directors believe
that the Group would be able to achieve better business and operation
efficiencies through the long-term working relationship with DEIL Group.
Thus, the Directors believe that the entering into of the Master Purchase
Agreement with DEIL Group will bring synergies to the Group’s business
and operations.
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The annual caps for each of the financial years ended 31 December
2020, 2021 and 2022 in respect of the maximum purchase price payable
by our Group to DEIL Group in respect of the purchase of the Products
are HK$4.0 million, HK$4.0 million and HK$4.0 million, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group purchased
goods from DEIL Group amounting to HK$1.8 million. Details of
the transactions with DEIL Group are set out in note 32(b)(i) to the
consolidated financial statements.

The transactions contemplated under the Master Purchase Agreement
constitute non-fully exempt continuing connected transactions which
are exempt from the circular and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements but subject to reporting, annual review and announcement
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Stock Exchange
has granted to the Company a waiver from strict compliance with the
announcement requirements of the Listing Rules in respect of the non-
fully exempt continuing connected transactions.

Annual Review of the Continuing Connected Transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions
were entered into:

e in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
e on normal commercial terms or better; and

e according to the agreement governing the terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and Shareholders as
a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the above continuing
connected transactions of the Group in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information”, and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The Company’s auditor has issued its unqualified report containing
its findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed on pages 29 to 30 of this annual report in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s
report has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
regarding the continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31
December 2022.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements, and
in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this annual report,
no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the
Group’s businesses to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries, or
any of its holding companies was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31 December
2022.

DIRECTORS” EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

With effect from 1 April 2023, monthly remuneration of Mr. Raymond
Chu will be increased from HK$300,000 to HK$380,000 and monthly
remuneration of Mr. Lau Shui Fung will be increased from HK$150,000
to HK$180,000.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he/she shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of his/her duty or
supposed duty in his/her respective offices or trusts.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for the
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. As
at the date of this annual report, the permitted indemnity provision is
currently in force for the benefits of the Directors.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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(1) RROBEFR

EEnR

Name of Director

5 EEHE

Capacity/Nature of interest

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES” INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company and/or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules were as follows:

(1) Long position in the Shares

EARTREN
BHED
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

in the Company

EBERHE
Number of
ordinary Shares

REEEE
Mr. Raymond Chu

MiFE © 12,000,000 A% % 13 LA Smart Union Global
Group Limited ([ Smart Union | ) &) % 2
E &0 ¢ M Smart Union ) & 20 & % 17 %
MEBARBEXER2EHA © 51,000,000
fi% P& 1 LA Smartview Investments Limited
([ Smartview ) F) & &5 + ifiSmartview
B50%EZETRNDBREZESLLEES - B
BRAFREAEE - REBELXERRAR
Smart Union & Smartview#¥ A #) 2 2B i {5
R R
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X EE S
Interest in controlled corporations

63,000,000 63.0%
(P EE)

(Note)

Note: 12,000,000 of the Shares are registered in the name of Smart Union
Global Group Limited (“Smart Union”), all the issued shares of
which are wholly-owned by Mr. Raymond Chu. 51,000,000 of the
Shares are registered in the name of Smartview Investments Limited
(“Smartview”), 50% of the issued shares of which are owned by Mr.
Raymond Chu. Under the SFO, Mr. Raymond Chu is deemed to be

interested in all the Shares held by Smart Union and Smartview.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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(2) Long position in the shares of associated corporations
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HEEE AR shareholding
Name of B REmtE REE interest in
EEHE associated Capacity/Nature fE=ER Number the associated
Name of Director corporation of interest Class of interest  of share(s) corporation
KEEBLE Smartview BEnlEE A T3
Mr. Raymond Chu Smartview Beneficial owner Ordinary 1 50.0%
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2022 was the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or their
associates to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in the
Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2022, the following
persons (other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company)
had interests in 5% or more of the Shares and underlying Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO or which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:
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TERRHE BB

Name of substantial Shareholder

Long position in the Shares

5 EEME

Capacity/Nature of interest

EA R BRER

OB

Approximate

ZRRHE percentage of
Number of shareholding

ordinary Shares  in the Company

Smartview
Smartview

Smart Union
Smart Union

Grandview Group Holdings Limited
([ Grandview )

Grandview Group Holdings Limited
(“Grandview”)

REELLE
Mr. Chu Wai Cheong Wilson

BEELL

Ms. Tam Wai Yee Czarina

RELL
Ms. Ng Ching Annetta

Bt -

BN e N
gy

Beneficial interest

BN AE S L
ey ol

Beneficial interest

£ 14

=gy

Bk

S

Beneficial interest

R AR
Interest in controlled corporations

FoiBtEas

Interest of spouse

FoiBtEas

Interest of spouse

51,000,000 51.0%
12,000,000 12.0%
12,000,000 12.0%
63,000,000 63.0%
(FF&ET)
(Note 1)
63,000,000 63.0%
(PtsE2)
(Note 2)
63,000,000 63.0%
(FfF5E3)
(Note 3)

Notes:

(1) 12,000,000 f% f% 13 LA Grandview B9 & & &7 * H (1)
EHRARREBEENERABELELER
A ° 51,000,000 % B% 15 LA Smartview £ & & & &C
H50%BRAHRABRLEERS - BRIFZFRIAER
5l SREREE S A M AR VB S Grandview 2 Smartview

P 2 BB A0 ABERS -

2) BEERTR/RBELEENLE - BEEFLPE ()
] - BEEXTERERRBEEENETHER

R rERS R MR PR o

(B) REZTRREELENEE - RESHFRHAEEK  0)
Pl REZIHERERRAEREENERERZE

HIAB R 8 B HOAR 1) R A A
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12,000,000 of the Shares are registered in the name of Grandview, the
entire share capital of which is wholly-owned by Mr. Chu Wai Cheong
Wilson (the younger brother of Mr. Raymond Chu). 51,000,000 of the
Shares are registered in the name of Smartview, 50% of the share capital of
which is owned by Mr. Chu Wai Cheong Wilson. Under the SFO, Mr. Chu
Wai Cheong Wilson is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Grandview and Smartview.

Ms. Tam Wai Yee Czarina is the spouse of Mr. Raymond Chu. Ms. Tam Wai
Yee Czarina is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in
which Mr. Raymond Chu is interested by virtue of the SFO.

Ms. Ng Ching Annetta is the spouse of Mr. Chu Wai Cheong Wilson. Ms. Ng
Ching Annetta is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in
which Mr. Chu Wai Cheong Wilson is interested by virtue of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, no person (other
than the Directors and chief executives of the Company) had interests
in 5% or more of the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) pursuant to the written resolutions of the then Shareholders
passed on 10 December 2019 (the “Adoption Date”). No share option
has been granted by the Company under the Share Option Scheme since
the Adoption Date and up to the date of this report.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme.

(@) Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise and
acknowledge the Eligible Participants (as defined in paragraph (b)
below) who have contributed and will contribute to the Group.
The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible Participants an
opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company with the view
to achieving the following objectives:

(i) motivating the Eligible Participants to optimize their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and

(i) attracting and retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going
business relationships with the Eligible Participants whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term growth of
the Group.

(b) Participants
The “Eligible Participants” are:

(i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(i) any directors (including non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors) of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries;

(iii) any advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers and agents to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries; and
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(iv) such other persons who, in the sole opinion of our Board, will
contribute or have contributed to the Group, the assessment
criteria of which are:

e contribution to the development and performance of the
Group;

e quality of work performed for the Group;

e initiative and commitment in performing his/her duties; and

e length of service or contribution to the Group.

(c) Total number of Shares available for issue

The maximum number of Shares issuable upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of all the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date,
being 200,000,000 Shares, and this number has been adjusted
to 10,000,000 Shares (the “Limit”) (representing 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of this annual report)
following the Share Consolidation. The Board may renew the Limit
subject to approval of the Shareholders and/or other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules and the Share Option Scheme
but the Limit must not exceed 30% of the issued Shares from time to
time.

(d) Maximum number of options to any one individual

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each Eligible Participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options and Shares which were the
subject of options which have been granted and accepted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company but subsequently canceled) under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue as of the date of grant. Any further grant of options
in excess of this 1% of the issued shares of the Company should be
subject to approval of the Shareholders and/or other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules and the Share Option Scheme.
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Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time after the date upon which the
option is deemed to be granted and accepted and prior to the expiry
of ten years from that date. The Board may at its absolute discretion
determine any minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised and/or any performance targets which
must be achieved before the option can be exercised, except that
no option may be exercised more than ten years after it has been
granted.

Amount payable on acceptance of the option and the
payment period

To accept the grant of an option, HK$1.0 as consideration for the
grant of an option must be paid by the grantee to the Company on or
before the relevant acceptance date, as defined in the Share Option
Scheme, which is a date not later than 30 days after the date of
grant.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price shall be such price determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less than the highest
of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which must be a day
on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing
in securities (“Business Day”);

(i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five Business

Days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of a Share.

(h) Life of the Share Option Scheme

(i)

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing from 10 January 2020 up to and including 9
January 2030.

The number of options available for grant

As at 1 January 2022, the number of options available for grant
under the scheme mandate of the Share Option Scheme was
200,000,000. Given that no option was granted during the year
ended 31 December 2022 and following the Share Consolidation
which has become effective from 16 September 2022, the number of
options available for grant under the scheme mandate of the Share
Option Scheme has been adjusted to 10,000,000 as at 31 December
2022.

Other details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the Prospectus.

BFERERERAR
20224

37



EEEHRESE
Report of the Directors

R2022F 12 AT HEZAFTRAE - HERH
ERESREERETSIRER T ERE - B
I - RARFHRAE - RIBERERT 87 21T
48 21 510,000,000 %A% 10 + BIAA AN 3k H HA
BEITIRMDBEHI0% °

#£2023F1 A1 - ETARAE17ZE&E5]
WA - BMAEEETH EMRBE+EZEET
RBELHRRTE  ARB AT EERIEEEE
RiETEMAERSEERLBRE HER
BitsIBEEEENKER AL - EREAR R
BISETRERIERT BIMIGR - AR A EIERTH
MRANE+ L EW S RAEFHEIRE -

R2022F 12 A31BEEAFR A, BREK
R EION - RA T W ER NI (EHBRE
+EETE TR EMRGEE -

EXEN

REE2022F12831BILFE » BREGEAVE
MWERFTEEEIN - BEEIEAR AR R S (RIS
REIRA R RIS ENB ARG L ERERE L
(BREBBRAR R SHEEMNE AR R R
FHEREL) o

TREFRMER

AEBNEERFE MEEEEGEE20229F12
A3 BIEFERNHEERLKFEEE LT ¢

— BARF : AEEAEETEN11.9%
— RAARFHR : AEBEBHETEN47.8%

RIBH

— RAHER  ARERRERNT5.7%
- BAHERHAN: AEEAREBEN
32.1%

MEBEEE RENETHEASEMRERE
EEMANBEEEBARAEHETRNOEKAN
5%) A Ll BEF MR A T

38

Annual Report 2022

As at 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report, no
share options had been granted or agreed to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme. As a result, the total number of Shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme as of the date of this annual report was
10,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the total number of Shares in
issue as of the date of this annual report.

With effect from 1 January 2023, Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules has been
amended. As provided under the transitional arrangements under the
amended Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the Company would continue
to make grants to participants eligible under the existing Share Option
Scheme until refreshment or expiry of the existing scheme mandate,
upon which the Company will be required to amend the terms of the
scheme to comply with the amended Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and
seek shareholders’ approval for a new scheme mandate.

As at 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has not adopted any share schemes (as defined under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules) other than the Share Option Scheme.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, no controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries has any material contract (including
material contract for the provision of services to the Company or any
of its subsidiaries) with the Company or its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year ended 31 December
2022 attributable to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as
follows:

Sales

— the largest customer: 11.9% of the Group’s total sales
- five largest customers combined: 47.8% of the Group’s total sales

Purchases

— the largest supplier: 15.7% of the Group’s total purchases
— five largest suppliers combined: 32.1% of the Group’s total
purchases

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder (who to
the best knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the number
of issued shares of the Company) had an interest in the above major
customers and suppliers.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 8(a)
to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

The Company has received confirmation letters from the Directors
confirming that other than the business of the Group, none of the
Directors holds any interest in business which directly or indirectly
competes or is likely to compete with the business of the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, to the best knowledge of the Directors, none
of the Directors was considered to have any interests in businesses which
compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group, other than those businesses where the Directors
were appointed as directors to represent the interests of the Company
and/or the Group.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements and
in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this annual report,
no contract of significance has been entered into between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report.

REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS BY AUDIT
COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Ms. Ling Imma Kit Sum (chairperson of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren and Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting. The
Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float for the period during FY2022 and up to the date of
this annual report.
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AUDITOR

The Shares have been listed on the Stock Exchange since 10 January
2020 and there has been no change in auditor since then. The
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers whose term of office will
expire upon the conclusion of the 2023 AGM. A resolution for the re-
appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the Company is to
be proposed at the 2023 AGM.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude to our
management and staff for their dedication and contribution to the Group
throughout the year.

By Order of the Board

Chu Wai Hang Raymond
Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the corporate
governance of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are conducted in
accordance with high ethical standards. This reflects its belief that, in
the achievement of its long-term objectives, it is imperative to act with
probity, transparency and accountability. By so acting, the Company
believes that shareholder wealth will be maximised in the long term
and that its employees, those with whom it does business and the
communities in which it operates will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs
management of the Group to conduct its affairs with a view to ensuring
that its objectives are met. The Board is committed to maintaining and
developing robust corporate governance practices that are intended to
ensure:

satisfactory and sustainable returns to the Shareholders;

— that the interests of those who deal with the Company are
safeguarded;

— that overall business risk is understood and managed appropriately;

— the delivery of high-quality products and services to the satisfaction
of customers; and

— that high standards of ethics are maintained.

The Board is committed to achieving high corporate governance
standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are essential
in providing a framework for the Group to safeguard the interests of
Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies
and policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability.
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The Company has in place a corporate governance framework and
has adopted a set of policies and procedures based on the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. Such policies and procedures provide the infrastructure
for enhancing the Board’s ability to implement governance and exercise
proper oversight on business conduct and affairs of the Company.

In the opinion of the Directors, during the year ended 31 December
2022, the Company has complied with all the code provisions as set
out in the CG Code except as disclosed in this Corporate Governance
Report.

The Company has also put in place certain recommended best practices
as set out in the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the period during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up
to the date of this report.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the “Employees
Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the Model Code for securities
transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information of the Company. No incident of
non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees
was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and takes collective
responsibility for promoting the Company’s success by directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs. Directors make decisions objectively
in the best interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business
and regularly reviews the contribution required from a Director to
perform his/her responsibilities to the Company and whether the Director
is spending sufficient time performing them that are commensurate with
their role and the Board’s responsibilities. The Board includes a balanced
composition of executive Directors and non-executive Directors so
that there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgement.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Board Composition
As at the date of this report, the composition of the Board is as follows:
Executive Directors

Mr. Raymond Chu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Arthur Chu
Mr. Lau Shui Fung (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Ling Imma Kit Sum
Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren
Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting

The biographical information of the Directors and the relationships
between the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 14 to 20 of this annual report.

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a year
involving active participation, either in person or through electronic
means of communication, of a majority of Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board held six meetings.
A summary of the attendance records of the Directors at the Board
meetings held during the year is set out below:

EEfE HERER
Name of Directors Attendance
KREELEE Mr. Raymond Chu 6/6
KXEFRE Mr. Arthur Chu 6/6
2Tt Mr. Lau Shui Fung 6/6
BRI Ms. Ling Imma Kit Sum 6/6
TEMITE Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren 6/6
AIERRE S & Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting 6/6

BREHEEeSRI  HE2022F12A318 1
FE > EFEMREMESIARHFEABR T E
B EMITEERIT T —XEH o

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held one meeting
with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The Company has deviated from this code
provision as Mr. Raymond Chu has acted as both the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 30 September 2021.

Considering that Mr. Raymond Chu is the founder of the Group
possessing the expertise and extensive experience in the EMS
industry conducive to the Company’s development, coupled with his
responsibility in major decision-making concerning the Group's daily
management and business, the Board believes that the roles of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer being assumed solely by Mr. Raymond Chu
can provide the Group with strong and consistent leadership and allow
for effective development of long-term business strategies and efficient
execution of business decisions and plans.

The Board also believes that the balance of authority is adequately
ensured as the Board currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors who offer different independent perspectives. At the
same time, all major decisions of the Company are made in consultation
with members of the Board as well as the senior management. Therefore,
the Board is of the view that the current organizational structure of
the Company is in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole, and
there is adequate balance of power and safeguards in place. The Board
will nevertheless review the organizational structure of the Company
and composition of the Board from time to time in light of prevailing
circumstances in order to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance practices of the Company.

Independent non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-
third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at least once every three years.
The Company’s Articles of Association also provides that any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting
of the Company after his/her appointment and shall then be eligible for
re-election at that meeting.

Mr. Raymond Chu, executive Director, has entered into a director service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date and the term has been renewed for a further period
of three years commencing from 10 January 2023. Each of Mr. Arthur
Chu and Mr. Lau Shui Fung, executive Directors, has entered into a
director service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 2 July 2021 and 1 December 2021 respectively. Either
party may at any time terminate the director service agreement by giving
to the other party three months’ written notice or payment in lieu of
notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors, Ms. Ling Imma Kit
Sum, Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren and Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting, has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a new letter of appointment with
the Company on 1 March 2023 which did not specify the term of
appointment but their appointment may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company currently has in place the following mechanisms to ensure
that independent views and input are available to the Board:

(@) the Company receives confirmations from all independent non-
executive Directors for their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules;

(b) the Company has an annual evaluation on board independence
through the Directors’ participations in and discussion of the
Company’s business during the year in which independent non-
executive Directors demonstrated their ability to continue to bring
in independent judgements to the Board and respective Board
Committees;
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(c) under the terms of reference of all Board committees, it is clearly
stated each Board committee is authorised to obtain external
independent professional advice and to secure the attendance of
outsiders with relevant experience and expertise where necessary to
assist the Directors’ performance of their duties; and

(d) the Directors are aware of any potential conflicts of interest that may
arise on their part in relation to the Company’s businesses. In case of
such conflict of interest arises, the Director concerned would declare
his/her interest to the Board, and abstain from voting on the issues or
matters to be resolved.

The Company has also established its Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism which sets out the processes and procedures to ensure
a strong independent element on the Board, as well as allowing the
Board to effectively exercise independent judgment to better safeguard
Shareholders” interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximize strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement
or further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what
actions of the Company need to be taken to maintain and improve the
Board performance, for instance, addressing individual training and
development needs of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the Board
will conduct annual review on its independence. A board independence
evaluation report will be presented to the Board which will collectively
discuss the results and the action plan for improvement, if appropriate.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, all Directors has completed
the independence evaluation in the form of a questionnaire individually
and supplemented by individual interviews. The board independence
evaluation reports were presented to the Board and the evaluation results
were satisfactory.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism and believed that it was adequate and effective to ensure
independent views and inputs were available to the Board for them to
perform their duties.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing a
balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on
corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses, for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held
by them.

The principal functions of the Board are to supervise the Group’s
business and affairs; to review the Group’s financial performance; to
review the Group’s systems of risk management and internal control; to
approve the strategic plans; and to appoint Directors of the Company.

Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing
and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of the Company
are delegated to the management.
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on appointment and any necessary briefing
and professional development to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the operations and business of the Group, and is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities under statutes and common law, the
Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the Group’s
business and governance policies.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading materials on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company organised
training sessions conducted by legal advisers for all Directors. The
training sessions covered a wide range of relevant topics including
directors’ duties and responsibilities, corporate governance and
regulatory updates. In addition, relevant reading materials including
compliance manual, legal and regulatory updates and seminar handouts
have been provided to the Directors for their reference and studying.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The training records of the Directors for the year ended 31 December
2022 have been provided to the Company and are summarized as
follows:

= E:

BEx Type of
Directors TrainingNots
BITES Executive Directors
KEBEE Mr. Raymond Chu AKB
Aand B
KXERE Mr. Arthur Chu AKB
Aand B
2 tEksE Mr. Lau Shui Fung AKB
A and B
BYFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
BERILE T Ms. Ling Imma Kit Sum AKB
A and B
TEMLE Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren AKB
A and B
AITERRIESEE Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting AKB
A and B
5T Notes:
HEHIAE R Types of training

A 2INEFIERE - BRETERNER  H g 23
&

B: BIEARBMERM - WA - #T) - M RAERE T

EXZES

EERCRU=AZRES AEZRZBE®  #
MEESMEEEES  UEEBARREKH
BENHE - ARBIMAEEZEEHRIAER
BERKE FWATEANBELEE -BF
ZEEMBERECKNAR R MR FTEEA
fo - AR ER T IAER] -

BEZZBENEIFAKNEBREHNAFRE
2B[REIER—Hf -

A:  Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars,
conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant
publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
All Board committees of the Company are established with specific
written terms of reference which deal clearly with their authority and
duties. The terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available
to Shareholders upon request.

The list of the chairperson and members of each Board committee is
set out in the section headed “Corporate Information” on page 2 of this
annual report.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Ling Imma Kit Sum, Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren
and Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting. Ms. Ling Imma Kit Sum is the chairperson of
the Audit Committee. At least one of the committee members possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required by the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit
Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial information
and reporting process, risk management and internal control systems,
effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope of audit, relationship
with the external auditor, and arrangements to enable the employees
of the Company and those who have dealings with the Company to
raise concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties (including
financial reporting and internal control) in the Company.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended 31
December 2022 to review annual financial results and report in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2021, interim financial results and
report in respect of the six months ended 30 June 2022, significant
issues on the financial reporting, operational and compliance controls,
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
and internal audit function, re-appointment of external auditor, audit
planning, engagement of non-audit services, continuing connected
transactions and arrangements for employees to raise concerns about
possible improprieties.

The attendance records of the members of the Audit Committee are as

follows:
ERZEERENSR HEER
Name of Members of the Audit Committee Attendance
BRI L Ms. Ling Imma Kit Sum 3/3
TEGEE Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren 3/3
AIfEEE R E Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting 3/3
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of four members, namely Mr.
Szeto Yuk Ting, Ms. Ling Imma Kit Sum and Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren,
independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Raymond Chu, executive
Director. Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary
functions of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management, the remuneration
policy and structure for all Directors and senior management, reviewing
and/or approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules, establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of
his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year ended
31 December 2022 to review and make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration proposals of the executive Directors, independent
non-executive Directors and senior management and the remuneration
policy and structure of all Directors and senior management.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration of the senior
management by band is set out below:

AB
FrEEEE Number of
Remuneration band persons
1,000,00187CZ 1,500,000/ 7T HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2

1,500,001;87C22,000,000/8 7T

HZE2022F12 A31 B It FER LS M FHNE
BEPERE SRR MIFE3S ©

FMEZEeRBHHERENT

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The attendance records of the members of the Remuneration Committee
are as follows:

FHEEEREHB HERR
Name of Members of the Remuneration Committee Attendance
RO L Ms. Ling Imma Kit Sum 1/1
FEMREE Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren 1/1
RITERRE & Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting 1/1
KEERE Mr. Raymond Chu 1/1
BFBBRIERER AT
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of four members, namely Mr.
Lee Wa Lun Warren, Ms. Ling Imma Kit Sum and Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting,
independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Raymond Chu, executive
Director. Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal
duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board, the Board Diversity Policy and
Nomination Policy of the Company, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of Directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
succession planning of Directors, and assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning
Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board Diversity Policy.
The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and
recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria
as set out in the Company’s Nomination Policy that are necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendations to the Board.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board, the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors, the Nomination Policy and Board Diversity
Policy of the Company and to consider and recommend to the Board on
the Directors standing for re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company.

The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained and has not set any
measurable objective implementing the Board Diversity Policy.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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REZEEREMNHERLEOT ¢ The attendance records of the members of the Nomination Committee
are as follows:
REZEEREHSE HERR
Name of Members of the Nomination Committee Attendance
BRI Ms. Ling Imma Kit Sum 1/1
TEMILE Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren 1/1
BITESRESE A Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting 1/1
KEEBRE Mr. Raymond Chu 1/1
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company recognises and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality
of its performance and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of the Company’s strategic
objectives and sustainable development.

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to talent,
skills, professional experience, independence and knowledge. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates for appointment as Directors will be based on a
range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to talent, skills,
professional experience, independence and knowledge. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement the
Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time to
ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards
achieving those objectives. At present, the Nomination Committee
considered that the Board is sufficiently diverse.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

B ERER A R A
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MARERH  EZEWAERTHUTEES  Asat the date of this report, the Board’s composition can be summarised

T AR by the following main diversity perspective:
EEAH™
Number of
Directors
51 Gender
4 Female 1
B Male 5
B %5 Ethnicity
s Chinese 6
FiR Age
31ZE408% 31-40 1
41ZE508% 41-50 0
51Z608% 51-60 3
61%E708% 61-70 2
BR# £ R Length of Service
1224 1-2 years 2
283F 2-3 years 0
3EAF 3-4 years 3
AZ54E 4-5 years 1
¥ Gender Diversity

RABERAEESEAMNMERIZ (L c A4 The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group. The
HEBH  AEBEET(BREESSNEME  following table sets out the gender ratio in the workforce of the Group,
BE) MR BIEE R T - including the Board and senior management as at the date of this report:

B %(A)
Unit: % (person)

zt B
Wl Category Female Male
A Board 16.7% (1) 83.3% (5)
SRERE Senior Management 66.7% (2) 33.3% (1)
HiES Other employees 48.4% (817) 51.6% (871)
RS T Overall workforce 48.3% (820) 51.7% (877)
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The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at least one female
Director, one female senior management and at least 40% of female
employees of the Group and considers that the above current gender
diversity is satisfactory.

The Nomination Committee will continue to identify suitable female
candidate(s) to develop a pipeline of potential successors for appointment
to the Board on merit against objective criteria in order to maintain
gender diversity in the Board.

Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee.

The Company has adopted a Nomination Policy which sets out the
selection criteria and process in relation to nomination and appointment
of Directors and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of
expertise, skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

The Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the suitability of
a proposed candidate, including but not limited to the following:

Skills, knowledge and experience relevant to the operations of the
Company;

e Commitment in respect of available time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the Company;

e Various aspects set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the Company
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, and professional experience;

e Independence of the proposed independent non-executive Directors
in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

e Company’s business model and specific needs.

The Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the selection and
appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors at general
meetings.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee
will also review at least annually the structure, size and composition
(including skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and diversity
of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance
of the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report. A manual setting
out various corporate governance policies and procedures has been
adopted by the Company, which applies to assist the Board and the top
management to better perform their corporate governance duties to the
Group and delegate the responsibilities to the Board committees.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management and
overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and guidelines with defined authority for implementation
by key business processes and office functions, including sales and
receivables, procurements and payments, financial reporting, human
resources and information technology.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems include
a defined management structure with limits of authority. Appropriate
policies and control procedures have been designed, implemented
and reviewed to ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper
use or disposal; established system, relevant rules and regulations are
adhered to and complied with; reliable financial and accounting records
are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting standards and
regulatory reporting requirements; and key risks that may impact the
Company’s performance are appropriately identified and managed. Such
procedures are designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The management, in coordination with department heads, assesses the
likelihood of risk occurrence, provide treatment plans, and monitor the
risk management progress, and reports to the Audit Committee and the
Board on all findings and the effectiveness of the systems. Any significant
internal audit issues identified and associated remedial actions are
followed up for proper implementation, and the progress is reported to
the Audit Committee periodically.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit Committee
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year under review, the Company engaged its external auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, to conduct an internal control review on certain
operational processes of the Group. A report on the result of assessment
and recommendations was provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers to
the Audit Committee. The Group will take measures to implement the
recommendations made by PricewaterhouseCoopers on the internal
control system.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report and the internal audit findings, reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, for the year ended 31 December
2022, and considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The
annual review also covered the financial reporting and internal audit
function and staff qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.

The Company has adopted a Whistle-blowing Policy to facilitate
employees of the Group and those who deal with the Group to raise,
in confidence, concerns with the Audit Committee about possible
improprieties in the practices and procedures, including financial
reporting, internal control and other matters, in their workplace.
It enables employees to report matters that may constitute (i) non-
compliance to laws or regulations; (i) malpractice, impropriety or fraud
relating to internal controls, accounting, auditing and financial matters;
(iii) endangerment of the health and safety of an individual; (iv) damage
caused to the environment; (v) improper conduct or unethical behaviour
likely to prejudice the standing of the Company; and (vi) deliberate
concealment of any of the above.

The Company has developed its Inside Information Policy which provides
a general guide to the Directors, officers and relevant employees of the
Group in handling confidential information, monitoring information
disclosure and responding to enquiries. The Inside Information Policy
ensures that potentially price sensitive or inside information can be
promptly identified, assessed and escalated for the attention of the Board
to decide the need for timely disclosure in order to ensure compliance
with Part XIVA of the SFO.
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The Company has in place the Anti-corruption Policy to safeguard
against corruption and bribery within the Company. The Company has
an internal reporting channel that is open and available for employees of
the Company and stakeholders to report any suspected corruption and
bribery.

The Company has also adopted a Code of Business Conduct Policy to
ensure that the Group conducts its business activities and transactions
with honesty and integrity, and in accordance with moral, ethical
and legal standards of the countries in which the Group conducts its
business. This policy applies to the Company’s business worldwide and
to all employees of the Group (unless the subsidiary(ies) of the Company
has(have) its(their) own code of business conduct) and covers the
following aspects:

e Obligations towards the Group

*  Personal conduct

e Employment practices

e Relations with customers

e Relations with suppliers and contractors

e Responsibilities to shareholders

e Responsibilities to the community

*  Monitoring of compliance and means of enforcement

e Compliance with laws, rules and regulations

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Each of the controlling Shareholders, namely Smartview, Smart Union,
Grandview, Mr. Raymond Chu and Mr. Chu Wai Cheong Wilson, has
entered into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Company on 20
December 2019 (the “Deed”), details of which have been set out in the
Prospectus.

The Company has received written declaration from each controlling
Shareholder in respect of his/its and/or his/its close associates’
compliance with the terms of the Deed during the year ended 31
December 2022. The independent non-executive Directors have also
reviewed the compliance with the Deed and enforcement of the terms
of the Deed by the controlling Shareholders and confirmed that the
controlling Shareholders have not been in breach of the Deed during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 99 to 108 of this
annual report.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of external
auditors.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, in respect of audit services and non-
audit services for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:

g1/
EfEH
Fees Paid/
Payable

ZE RS
FERZBRTS
— BB A R R AR

—HAAEARE —RE - e RER

2,200,00078 7T
HK$2,200,000

Audit services

Non-audit services

— Tax compliance and advisory services 377,560/ 7T
HK$377,560

— Other advisory services — environmental, 280,000/ 7T
social and governance HK$280,000

2,857,560/ 7T
HK$2,857,560
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chan Sau Ling of Tricor Services Limited, external service provider,
has been appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company with
effect from 31 October 2021.

Ms. Chan Sau Ling has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The primary contact person of Ms. Chan Sau Ling at the Company is
Mr. Lau Shui Fung, executive Director and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with Shareholders through various
communication channels.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of individual Director. All resolutions
put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

A summary of the attendance records of the Directors at the general
meetings of the Company held during the year is set out below.

HEER
Attendance
BRAFRSE

Annual General

XS

Extraordinary

EEgE Name of Directors Meeting General Meeting
KREELE Mr. Raymond Chu 1/1 1/1
KXERE Mr. Arthur Chu 1/1 1/1
2Tkt Mr. Lau Shui Fung 1/1 1/1
BRI Ms. Ling Imma Kit Sum 1/1 1/1
TEGILE Mr. Lee Wa Lun Warren 11 0/1
RIESERE Mr. Szeto Yuk Ting 11 11
BRERRIFHAE Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting
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Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings can be convened on the requisition of
one or more Shareholders (including a clearing house (or its nominee(s)))
holding, as at the date of deposit of the requisition, in aggregate not less
than one-tenth of the total voting rights (on a one vote per Share basis)
in the share capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
any one or more Shareholder(s) (including a clearing house (or its
nominee(s))) holding as at the date of deposit of the requisition in
aggregate not less than one-tenth of the total voting rights (on a one
vote per Share basis) in the share capital of the Company can make a
requisition to add resolutions to the agenda of a meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For enquiries about shareholdings, Shareholders shall direct their
enquiries to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer office, Tricor Investor Services Limited and the contact details are
set out as follows:

Address:  17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong
Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com

Telephone: (852) 2980 1333
Fax: (852) 2810 8185

For enquiries about corporate governance or other matters to be brought
to the attention of the Board, Shareholders shall send their written
enquiries to the Company either via mail to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong or via email. The mail address and email
address are set out in the subsection headed “Contact Details” below.

Contact Details

Shareholders can send their requisitions, proposals and enquiries as
mentioned above to the Company as follows:

Address:  Units 3203-3207, Tower 1, Enterprise Square Five,
38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Company Secretary)

Fax: (852) 2505 1283

Email: ir@wiseally.com.hk

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

The Company will normally not deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and
in particular, through annual general meetings and other general
meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates
as appropriate) will be available to meet Shareholders and answer their
enquiries.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.wiseally.com.hk where up-to-date information and updates on
the Company’s financial information, corporate governance practices
and other information are posted.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has amended
its Memorandum and Articles of Association to (among other matters)
(i) bring the Memorandum and Articles of Association in line with the
relevant requirements of the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands
and the Listing Rules; (ii) allow general meetings to be held partly (but
not wholly) by means of electronic facilities; and (iii) make some other
housekeeping improvements. Further details of the amendments are set
out in the circular dated 29 April 2022 of the Company. An up-to-date
version of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Shareholder Communication Policy

The Company has in place a Shareholder Communication Policy. The
policy sets out the standards and practice in relation to communicating
with Shareholders and prospective investors. The Company is committed
to maintaining effective and timely dissemination of the Company’s
information to Shareholders and the market. The Company believes
that providing regular communications to Shareholders and the market
is important to ensure they have the available information reasonably
required to make informed assessments of the Company’s strategy,
operations and financial performance.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining an
on-going dialogue with its Shareholders as follows:

Shareholders’ meetings

The annual general meetings and other general meetings of the
Company are the primary forum for communication by the Company
with Shareholders and for shareholder participation. The Company
encourages and supports shareholder participation in general meetings.
Shareholders are encouraged to appoint proxies to attend and vote
at meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend such
meetings. Mechanisms for enabling shareholder participation will be
reviewed on a regular basis by the Board to encourage the highest level
of participation. The Chairman of the Board, appropriate members of the
Board committees and the external auditor of the Company will attend
the annual general meetings to answer questions from the Shareholders.

Company’s website

The Company’s website (www.wiseally.com.hk) contains information
about the Company including shareholder communications. The
Company will place on its website the Company’s announcements,
circulars, notices of general meetings and other information in
compliance with the applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to
the Company’s share registrar. Shareholders and the public may at any
time make a request for the Company’s information to the extent such
information is publicly available. Shareholders may direct their queries to
the Company’s company secretary. The Company will respond promptly
to Shareholders’ queries and concerns.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders” Communication Policy and the results were satisfactory.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of dividends.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group
and the conditions and factors as set out in the Dividend Policy,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board during a
financial year and any final dividend for a financial year will be subject
to the Shareholders” approval. The Board currently intends to recommend
dividend no less than 30% of the net profit available for distribution to
the Shareholders beginning from the financial year ended 31 December
2022.

B ERER A R A
20224 3R

63



RIE - HERERBE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B HRREAKE (RS &
SREARE B

BFERERARAR([AAF] - EREH
EPNSIE LRS- N 4 G UDE R RS T L
RESCERPEENOBRAKE D - RALR
ERMORE  HERE RS ([RE - HF
RERHE]) -

HESE KSR

RE  MHERERBREMAANEEEHERE -
HekER((RE HEREREENR
B - BHIRERSEAZ WIS AL EER]
SEHESFENS NHEER - METMREAE
BH202251 418212 A31 B EHB (T8
HR )Mz L EREERER - 2HRBEMINR
B HeREARR - BRBEHRBIN
e RERARENBEMRERSBENTEE
BHBAR BREREENNEERPEAR
HAE([hE ) RELEEMBER -

BIE -

BETRERSHHEABRNNEERE LR
BRBENRIMEEER - AAKRELRE
REPIMES  B2HAFEREIAEER
WEE| - BREMS - HEHWERL—F
BHHREBE—2

64

Annual Report 2022

OVERVIEW OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (THE “ESG REPORT”)

Wise Ally International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and its

subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”,
as a key component of long-term business success. We are pleased to

we” or “us”) values sustainability

present our Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report”).

Reporting Scope and Boundary

The ESG Report summarises the Group’s strategy, practice and vision
regarding environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) issues,
and conveys a clear message of its commitment to sustainability. It
also includes the Group’s ESG performance within its core business
operations and activities for the period from 1 January to 31 December
2022 (the “Reporting Period”). Unless otherwise specified, the scope
of the ESG Report covers all principal subsidiaries during the Reporting
Period, which include the businesses and offices in Hong Kong and
Dongguan production plant in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

It also provides pertinent updates on significant ESG matters identified
during the Reporting Period. For the Group’s corporate governance
practices, please refer to the section “Corporate Governance Report” of
this Annual Report. Overall, the reporting boundary remains the same as
that of last year.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Preparation and Basis of this ESG Report

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) under Appendix
27 of the Listing Rules and complies with all provisions of “mandatory
disclosure” and “comply or explain”, as well as the following reporting
principles:
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Materiality
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Stakeholder
engagement and
materiality review is
conducted to assure
that the ESG issues
identified remain
relevant and material
to our business
operations and
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Quantitative
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Quantitative metrics
are collected and
monitored regularly
in order to track the
progress of our ESG
initiatives.
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To provide an
unbiased picture

of our ESG
performance, this
report highlights both
the accomplishments
and improvement
areas of our ESG
management.

—Eft

Consistency

RE—RNTEER
BEENRR g
REARREL - &
BURSRT A M
BEMEZS - Q5
TR RVRRRE -

For meaningful
comparison of our
ESG performance,
we adopt consistent
methodologies.
Remarks are
provided in case

of any change in
data compilation

stakeholders.
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methodologies and
scope.

In preparing the ESG Report, the Group has adopted the international
standards and emission factors specified in the respective guidance
materials on the ESG Guide for computing the relevant Key Performance
Indicators (“KPIs”)'. There is no change from the previous year in the
way the ESG Report has been prepared.

Source of Data and Reliability Statement

The information disclosed in the ESG Report is extracted from the
Group’s internal documents, statistical reports and relevant public
materials. The Group undertakes that the ESG Report does not contain
any false information, misleading statement or material omission, and
takes responsibilities for the contents hereof as to the authenticity,
accuracy and completeness.

1 How to prepare an ESG Report? — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs, https://www.hkex.com.hk/-media/hkex-market/listing/
rules-and-guidance/other-resources/environmental-social-and-governance/
how-to-prepare-an-esg-report/app2_kpis
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CONFIRMATION AND APPROVAL

The ESG Report was approved by the board of directors of the Company
(the “Board”) on 28 March 2023 upon confirmation by the management
of the Company. The ESG Report is prepared in both Chinese and
English. In case of any discrepancy between the Chinese and English
versions of the ESG Report, the English version shall prevail.

ESG GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT

Governance ensures an organisation has appropriate structure and
processes for building an environment of trust, transparency and
accountability where the interests of all stakeholders are protected.
Effective governance is essential to enhancing shareholders’ values and
safeguarding the interests of both our internal and external stakeholders,
including the community we serve.

Board Statement

The Board acknowledges the importance of effective sustainability
practices and actively integrates ESG systems into key business decisions.
Ultimately the Board is responsible for overseeing the ESG risks and
opportunities for the Group, establishing and implementing ESG
strategies and targets, reviewing progress made towards the Group’s
ESG goals and targets, and revisiting ESG strategies if the Group falls
significantly behind in achieving these targets.

The Board evaluates and determines the risks (including ESG-related
risks) relevant to the Group on a regular basis and ensures that effective
and appropriate risk management and internal control systems are in
place. Board meetings are held regularly to discuss the effectiveness of
these systems, as well as the progress made in meeting relevant ESG-
related goals and targets. The Board will continue to review and monitor
the Group’s environmental performance to ensure that it aligns with our
environmental targets. While generating strong shareholder returns, we
will be able to operate in an environmentally and socially responsible
manner.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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ESG Governance Structure

BIE HeREAIENMIBTREIEREES  An ESG Working Group has been formed with members from middle to
WERBHKEME - ERYMRE AWEIE  senior management. Its purpose is to assist the Board in implementing
SERIRE HERERRBEKEEE 714  ESG-related strategies and targets, conducting materiality assessments

RE -HEREARRENEEH  AEBES  of ESG issues, collecting ESG data from different functional departments
BEAESPPIUNEIRIE - e MEJAEUE - MaTFT  within the Group, reviewing the implementation of the measures

BMARE e REAREAREENER

related to ESG issues identified, and investigating any deviations from

FEREIRE  HE@RERARBEEBEMNE  the ESG-related strategies and targets, and coordinating with relevant
W EAREE AR EPIHRIELAREEIER  functional departments of the Group to promptly address such deviations.
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BiR - #HER
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ESG Working
Group

EEg
The Board

T RE AR P
Functional
Departments

i RE AR P
Functional
Departments

B EEBB T
Functional
Departments
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B RERRFT

Functional Departments

Governance Structure

ESgaRERAR WEERS #ghkEBRfIENREY - EBETE -
The Board is responsible for the overall decision-making and oversees the formulation,
administration, and assessment of the ESG system.

RS #H@MEeTERMARHDETSRREEREERE HakERER -
TR NERK B BRERHPFINSARRE - MAKTRE RIE R PR A RS B 17
AR FEERE g RERHE -

The ESG Working Group is responsible for assisting the Board in managing and
monitoring the ESG matters on a daily basis. Aiming to facilitate better coordination in
addressing ESG issues, this working group comprises senior representatives from
various departments.

FREEEIFT (B RS  HEEER  FEPEREEE ANEBERE) BEEHTRE
HETERAE & B AR HIE ¥ e - EHIEDR MR i A AR -

Functional departments, such as Operations, Supply Base Management, Client Base
Management, Human Resources departments, are responsible for the execution of
implemented measures to achieve the set strategies and targets as well as the monitoring
and evaluating the effectiveness of implemented measures on a regular basis.

ERBEENEEAR  AEBERMEBERE
MIRE HEREARENEZEREMER
RELEARKBERIEEBSEBRRNE
ZER - FRETRERS(TEMS ) ITEMTT
52 8E > AEERNREREE MR D XK
EEHNBREELNTE - RIERESNINE
RESRIEZCBEZENEN  AKEEE
BRIEE(CHERZFBL S AEZEAARRE
ERR G AFEOERBRFESE RN
A REHARBENRBEXNEATENRR

EEeRUERNARERERE HERER
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As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group acknowledges the
importance of a robust ESG process and the contribution we make
to ensure the sustainable economic growth and development of our
business. As a market participant in the Electronic Manufacturing
Services (“EMS”) industry, the Group strives to minimise our
environmental footprint arising from our operations. The Group has
taken climate-related issues into consideration and incorporated them
into our risk management system to enhance the Group’s resilience and
adaptability to potential climate change impacts. In the annual enterprise
risk assessment, risks that may have a material impact on the Group’s
businesses have been considered and evaluated.

The Board will continue to review the Group’s progress regarding ESG
issues in order to build a more sustainable business and make greater
contributions to the society as a whole.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Engagement with Stakeholders

In the course of operation, the Group continues to pay attention to
the major concerns of internal and external stakeholders. Through
comprehensive and transparent engagement with stakeholders, the
Group continues to improve sustainable development strategies and
plans based on the feedback of stakeholders. Through addressing the
expectations and needs of stakeholders, the Group strives to build mutual
trust and develop cooperative relationships with stakeholders, and create
a future of sustainable economic growth, and an environmentally friendly
and socially inclusive workplace.

The table below summarises the Group’s communication and engagement
channels with its stakeholders, as well as their major ESG concerns:

BE
Stakeholders

RE -HEBRERBAIER
Areas of ESG Concerns

SERE

Engagement Channels

B P

Stock Exchange

o BTLEWRA: &
o NMEREMNNE

e Compliance with the Listing Rules; and
e Timely and accurate announcements

. B

o IFIIEMEE Rk
o AREWUKRAE
*  Meetings;

e Trainings and seminars; and
e Company’s website and announcements

B M EEHE

Government and regulatory

. BELR:
. R R
. RERBRARER

e Operational compliance;

s FEFELRERF M
o ARFBUERAE

e Annual reviewal process; and

authorities e Tax payment as legally required; and e Company’s website and announcements
e Disclosure of information and
submission of materials

REE o EBREELKRE s BEAE®:
s BREEER: s MBBERLDE R
o HERN: R LI N/NS I
o REMIK

Investors e Business strategies and performances; e General meetings;
e Effective corporate governance; e Financial reports and announcements;
e Sustainable profitability; and and
* Investment returns e Company’s website

S JNFINAA s BEER: o R
o RBHRE: R o RARIMY G R
o BRI ARER  FE%ME

Media & Public e  Corporate Governance; *  Announcements;

e Environmental protection; and
e Uphold human rights standards

e Company’s website; and
e Press conference

BEEBERERAR
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& RS HERERBIET SHRE
Stakeholders Areas of ESG Concerns Engagement Channels
g o IR&HE BiEhE
o BRBEM g3 R
s ZEAMR R BEFEgRENEH®
c BEMRGEER
Suppliers e Payment schedule; Site visits;

e Demand stability;
e Operational Compliance; and
e Quality services and products

Meetings; and
Conference calls and interviews

5P o BEMREER
s EmkE:
s BWEFEE

o AHERERE
s ZEANR

Customers e Quality services and products;
e Product safety;
e Commercial credibility;
e Intellectual property rights and

3
& .
= A
B

=58
EN g L

Visits;

Meetings;

Conference calls; and
Customers’ enquiries handling

protection; and mechanism
e Operational compliance
’8 o EERMEREN: EHeH
o HIIRERE EEHE
o TITHRERBELZE R FEE
s TEHE BRM R
WhatsApp K f8i{= 8%

Employees e Rights and benefits of employees;
e Training and development;
e Working environment and occupational
safety; and
e Equal opportunities

Regular meetings;

Employee training;

Annual appraisal;

Opinion box; and

WhatsApp and WeChat groups

o s HERER:
s BMEME:

. BERE R
. HEEN

Community e Community development;
e Employment opportunities;
e Environmental protection; and
e Social welfare

?iEHE%%?E@J ;
ﬁ%ﬁ_\‘ﬂﬂ u@
%ﬁﬁﬁ%’fﬁﬁ&"i

Community service activities;
Media enquiry; and
Press release and announcements
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Materiality Assessment

The Group has identified ESG issues that may have potential impacts
on our sustainable development from various sources, including issues
outlined and included in the Group’s previous ESG report, internal
policies, some reflected by industry trends, and areas of ESG concerns
raised by the Group’s stakeholders as set out above. Such ESG issues
have been analysed with reference to an array of factors, including the
Group's overall ESG-related strategy, development, and goals and targets.

We have reviewed the list of material issues by considering our business
operations, priorities and development, of which the 16 material issues
identified last year, remained relevant and applicable to us. The Group
has adopted relevant measures to cope with these factors, and therefore,
we believe that these factors do not have a material impact on the
financial and operational performance of the Group.

The table below illustrates the results of the Group’s materiality
assessment, which identifies the issues that are considered to be the most
material and may affect the Group’s ESG performance significantly.

B B &S HE
Environmental Operations Employees Community
1. BRERERERHK 6. EmAMT 1. &% 16. HEREE

1. Greenhouse Gas (“GHG"”) 6.
& Air Emissions

Product Responsibility ~ 11. Employment

16. Community Investment

Consumption

2. BERHERERAIKE 7. BEEER 12. BTER

Energy & Water Supply Chain 12. Labour Standards

Consumption Management

R EIE E AR 13. BEERE

Waste Management Product Related 13. Health and Safety
Complaints

RIRE(L RESEH 14, BREE|

Climate Change Anti-corruption 14. Development and
Awareness Training

BEMEIERE 10. FGERE 15. FLERRE

Packaging Material 10. Intellectual Property 15. Privacy Protection

BEEBERERAR
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ENVIRONMENTAL
Overview

The Group is an established EMS provider, offering full turnkey solutions
to customers, with a particular focus on consumer electronic products
that cover a diverse range of product applications, including vapour
products, appliances, commercial controls and heating, ventilation and
air-conditioning.

The Group acknowledges the importance of environmental protection
and follows the principle of sustainable development in our daily
operations in an attempt to improve the environmental awareness of
employees and build a more sustainable environment. The Group has
formulated an ESG policy to guide the ESG practice, and our Dongguan
production plant has also established an environmental management
system with relevant policies and procedures for each business process
that met the international industry-specific environmental standards
and obtained I1SO 14001:2015 certification. Some of these policies
and procedures include, but are not limited to, the Environmental
Management Handbook, the Procedure for Environmental Factors/
Hazard Source Identification, Evaluation and Updating, the Procedure
of Monitoring and Measurement of Environmental Performance, and the
Management Procedures for Electricity and Water Usage.

The Group strictly adheres to the relevant environmental laws and
regulations in the PRC, including but not limited to:

° “Environmental Protection Law”

J “Law on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution”

o “Law on the Prevention and Control of Water Pollution”

o “Law on the Prevention and Control of Solid Waste Pollution to

the Environment”; and

o (EIHIREIRIED © o “Law on Energy Conservation”.
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BEEH-R
Environmental Targets At a Glance

FE SR:
Aspects Targets

HZE20225F12A31HEER
Progress as at 31 December 2022

T KERFFE380ME —SULARE 8 RITAH
BRBESEMAT -

GHG Emissions Maintain below 380 tonnes CO,e per million

units of production by pieces.

AEE2022F R EREIMERE S FHM
BB 1E(EN385 31— S Lt E &
RUNEEEESEN) REARLE
SEFEIZAN o

The Group’s GHG emission in 2022 was
slightly above our target (i.e. 385.31 tonnes
CO, e per million units of production
by pieces) due to greater electricity
consumption.

BERRMLE MEATFE0. 10 R T B B BEEER

AT o

B

Maintain below 0.10 tonnes per million units
of production by pieces

Hazardous Waste production

REE20226MEEERYMEEES N
HER(RN0.19ME RN EERERSE
i) - REARHEMREL TRINVEERE
=M -

The Group’s hazardous waste production
in 2022 was above our target (i.e. 0.19
tonnes per million units of production by
pieces) due to additional hazardous wastes
generated from new product lines.

E

ARIRFER HIFTE030M RN E R BER B

AT e

Maintain below 0.30 tonnes per every
million units of production by pieces.

Paper Consumption

REB A RFERMRE0.2008 R4t
BEEBEEENRER TE—BEZ-

We achieved this goal by reducing our paper
consumption to 0.20 tonnes per every
million units of production by pieces this
year.

BEIRIHRE MEAFFEO0 50T ELBS AR (At B E B E

AT o

Maintain below 0.50 kWh per total
production units by pieces.

Energy Consumption

FPIimB KR EREREE0.47 TR,/
BUFTEEEENRERTERBR -

We achieved this goal by reducing our
energy consumption to 0.47 kWh per total
production units by pieces this year.

HERRTE.03 7 3K,/ el S 40 B BB i
AT o

FK

Maintain below 0.03 m?* per total production
units by pieces.

Water Consumption

HIFIRBEA/KERE0.01 5K,/
BT BESEMRER TE—H1Z -

We achieved this goal by reducing our
water consumption to 0.01 m? per total
production units by pieces this year.

AEBBREME LIRRER - BTSSR
RAURKEZERRE - UYRBVEERRNER
ELAR -

The Group is well aware of the above environmental targets, we
will continue to monitor its sustainability performance, and take the
appropriate measures in order to achieve them.

BEEBERERAR
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Air Emission

The Group’s air emissions derive mainly from automobiles. The table
below summarised the types and the amount of air emissions.

2022FHHE 2021FHHE

EEHHRY Bfy 2022 Amount 2021 Amount
Major Emissions Unit of Emission of Emission
FAE(HNO) Fr
Nitrogen Oxides (NO) Kg 59.94 63.55
RE by SO) T
Sulphur OX|des (SO) Kg 0.11 0.18
SR (PM) T
Particulate Matter (PM) Kg 5.64 5.95
BZE R B GHG Emissions

AEENRERBERFNEERRNHEH
REWEREREARESENER  RER
BREZHFHRTIERRRIMNEE N - ZENER
AREE REHERLOMIE -

The Group’s direct emissions of GHG result principally from the
burning of fuels in generators and vehicles, as well as the consumption
of refrigerants, while the indirect GHG emissions are mainly from
purchased electricity, discarded waste paper and the flights that
employees have taken for business trips.

2022FHEME  2021FHE

BERmER Bfy 2022 Amount 2021 Amount

Types of Emissions Unit of Emissions of Emissions

FE - ERELRBEN

Scope 1: Energy Direct Emissions

EHEN - BBHEIRBIRE (1)

Scope 1: Fuel burning in generators (Note 1)

—&{LirCo,) W= RS E

Carbon Dioxide (CO,) Tonnes CO,e 12.89 162.33

FUR(CH,) —E(LHEE

Methane (CH,) Tonnes CO,e 0.00 0.03

— L= AN,0) M= RS E

Nitrous Oxide (N,O) Tonnes CO,e 0.01 0.14

#Et W LR EE

Total Tonnes CO e 12.90 162.50
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2022 HERE 2021 HIE
BEHmESR B 2022 Amount 2021 Amount
Types of Emissions Unit of Emissions of Emissions
HE1 — BRI
Scope 1 — Combustion of fuels in vehicles
—&Lico, M= LA &
Carbon Dioxide (Co,) Tonnes CO,e 18.05 28.71
FR(CH,) M= SR B
Methane (CH,) Tonnes CO,e 0.03 0.05
—S{L=AN,0) Mo EILHEE
Nitrous Oxide (N,0O) Tonnes COze 2.05 3.43
Bt WE—E(LIREE
Total Tonnes CO,e 20.13 32.19
FE —ERRLE (PEE2)
Scope 1 — Use of Refrigerants (Note 2)
—&Lico, M= LA &
Carbon Dioxide (CO,) Tonnes CO,e 208.15 166.52
#E1—REREHMHITE3)
Scope 1 — GHG Emissions (Note 3)
#Et WE—E(LIREE
Total Tonnes CO,e 241.18 361.21
#E2 — LREE B
Scope 2 — Energy Indirect Emissions
E(M15E4) MR —RLIEE
Electricity (Note 4) Tonnes CO,e 7,151.68 6,926.03
#[E3 — H RN
Scope 3 — Other Indirect Emissions
REAR (F5ES) MR —RILIREE
Waste Paper (Note 5) Tonnes CO,e 15.14 20.35
AT (P EE6) WE—RLEE
Business Trips (Note 6) Tonnes COze 9.21 1.50
#BET WE—E(LIREE
Total Tonnes CO,e 24.35 21.85

BFEBRZER AR AR
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2022FHEME  2021FHE

HBmER B 2022 Amount 2021 Amount
Types of Emissions Unit of Emissions of Emissions
BEREBHRMEE
Total GHG Emissions
#Et Mg — SR EE
Total Tonnes CO,e 7,417.21 7,309.09
B E WM-SLREE RHNEa8EREN
Emission Intensity Tonnes CO,e/every million units of production

by pieces 385.31 346.25

MysE - Notes:

1. 201 FMHEREEENEEREHERBEE
K REA2021F5 AZ10 A8 - mEHE
RISE  BHHRTAEERE TR REZETAK
FBIEIN o AFR20224 88 IR T E 11 A RS
B AR EREENEREF AR N o

2. REWEE( WABNEABRAEEHN -

3. HWEURERBEEERE PR BRI A P
TR MARERE HERERWE] A
[Hfs%—  RIBEIRERUERERIES] | FTiE
GO ES TG i

4. BBEVEEREHN GERINEE NHREH
B mE - R BEARREEEMR (2019
FREEMEEGHINEF) ARTEMEE
NS EEERCRE (2021F) o

5. FEEEREIMBARERNTMAEEIIR
BEZ P TIEE [MARERE B RER
WE] A M8 RIRAREBUIERE RS
511 PrREMBIAREGTE -

6. AEHERTELMHEDREREIDR AR
RAABEOTRERET ESE ST -

RRLEERERAFEAZRTMEELTEZE
& RibA=REHRER L EREHEEM
BN ERARAEERM o U BEEAE
EEBERTRGBLD  AREELTEZHNR
BIRTT - BEAFERERBHHIEN - KE
BRFAFEERFRR - BB BRI TR
B MR DI BT ©

1. The significant total GHG emission from fuel burning in 2021 was due to
the continuous city power shortage problem during May to October in 2021,
resulting in a greater reliance on fuel burning for our Dongguan production
plant. As there was no city power shortage in 2022, the GHG emissions have
significantly decreased compared to last year.

2. The use of refrigerant has increased this year due to the aging of the air
conditioners.

3. The emission factors of Scope T GHG emissions was calculated based
on the emission factors provided in “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” in “How to prepare an ESG Report” published by the
Stock Exchange.

4. For Scope 2 GHG emission (indirect emission from consumption of
purchased electricity), the Baseline Emission Factors for Regional Power
Grids in 2019 issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC,
and also the carbon dioxide equivalent emissions intensity of electricity sold
by CLP in 2021 is adopted.

5. The emission factor of paper consumption in Scope 3 GHG emissions was
calculated based on the emission factors provided in “Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” in “How to prepare an ESG Report”
published by the Stock Exchange.

6. The emission of Scope 3 GHG emissions generated in business trips is
calculated by International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) Carbon
Emissions Calculator.

As the operations in our Dongguan production plant gradually resumed
to normal this year, the amount of GHG emissions has increased
compared to the previous Reporting Period, mainly contributed by
an increase of usage in electricity. Moreover, as travel restrictions in
various countries lessened this year, more business trips were conducted,
resulting in a higher GHG emissions this year. To uphold the principles
of sustainable development, the Group is committed to reducing its
carbon footprint through adopting the following mitigating measures.
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Measures to Reduce Emissions

The Group has adopted a wide range of measures to reduce the
emissions that we generate. In relation to our fleet of vehicles, the Group
has prohibited the use of vehicles by our employees for purposes other
than business, whereas the use of vehicles for long-distance travelling
by employees would only be permitted when it is strictly necessary. The
Group also conducts weekly inspections and regular maintenance of the
vehicles to ensure that they are operating at maximum fuel efficiency.

Desulphurization, dust removal and purification are conducted regularly
in the Group’s production plants in order to reduce emissions from diesel
generators. Furthermore, the Group installed exhaust ventilation systems
to control emissions generated during the soldering process, and these
exhaust facilities are managed and maintained by appropriate personnel
from the Administrative Department (“ADM”).

Due to the above measures, the Group has been maintaining a stable
emission level that meets the emission standards set out by law in order
to maintain I1SO 14001:2015 certification.

Waste Management

The Group advocates the idea of a green and sustainable working
environment, and adheres to the principle of the 4'R’s’ in environmental
protection (Reduce, Reuse, Recycle and Replace). Employees are
encouraged to use digital communication to reduce the use of paper.
Besides, the Group also implemented the Waste Management Procedures
to categorise wastes according to their hazardous and non-hazardous
nature.

R B|E Efy 20225 20214
Types of Waste Unit 2022 2021
BEERY
Hazardous Waste
BEERRYEE Mg
Total Hazardous Waste Tonnes 3.70 0.72
BERENTE MRS R ES B
Hazardous Waste Intensity Tonnes per every million units of

production by pieces 0.19 0.04
BEBRRY
Non-Hazardous Waste
MRFERRE Mg
Total Paper Consumption Tonnes 3.88 4.24
MRFEREE MRt E R ES BN
Paper Consumption Intensity Tonnes per every million units of

production by pieces 0.20 0.23

BEEBERERAR
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Hazardous waste is primarily derived from chemical waste, such as
waste mineral oil, used mercury containing lamps and paints. The Group
has engaged an environmental service provider with Hazardous Waste
Business License to collect hazardous waste on an annual basis.

Non-hazardous waste is mainly generated by paper consumption
and other forms of general commercial waste, such as office supplies
and plastics. The Group further categorises non-hazardous waste into
recyclable and non-recyclable waste. The recyclable waste is sorted out
and collected by the recycling companies at the centralised location.
Meanwhile, we also require our employees to use both sides of paper
when printing or photocopying, and reuse single-sided paper for
photocopying or printing draft documents, as well as recycle them if no
confidential information is contained therein.

Use of Resources and Energy Efficiency

In terms of electricity savings, the Group has established the Management
Procedures for Electricity Usage to ensure industrial safety and encourage
energy conservation at the workplace. Specific measures have been
implemented to conserve energy, such as requiring employees to turn off
electrical equipment and power supply before leaving the premises and
when such equipment is idle; prohibiting employees from laying cables
without obtaining pre-approval from the ADM; monitoring electricity
consumption on a monthly basis, and following up with relevant
departments that exceed the electricity usage standards.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The table below summarised the Group’s direct and indirect energy
consumption results, principally from the consumption of diesel for
generators and electricity respectively.

REIRH ¥ Energy Consumption

20225 R 20216 HFEE
REREE B 2022 2021
Types of Energy Unit Consumption Consumption
EERRHRE | REH(ME7)
Direct Energy Consumption: Generators (Note 7)
s FHE
Diesel kWh 52,799.10 664,671.42

BIZRERUERE B

Indirect Energy Consumption: Electricity

(= TR

Electricity kWh 8,927,305.60 8,651,576.00

BEFURERE

Total Energy Consumption

RERHRRE TR

Total Energy Consumption kWh 8,980,104.70 9,316,247.42

BT F R

Energy Consumption Intensity kWh 0.47 0.51
BaE Note:

7. P20V FEEEREREEAN  REA20214F
5AZE2021F10 A HAR - T ENRRISTE -
BYRZEEMEHNREZESHKE - AR
2022F R EHBHMENERERE - Fitsen
SHAEE EFAIE TBE o

AEBBAIRERERL - AFEE - HRE
REEREHREHNIHEREARRD - 88
RHRBEEEZ050 T RE RIFEE
BEf o RK - ARBESEEERWRD R
HRE - AREREAFREN B IEEZAR

7. The significant direct energy consumption in 2021 was due to the continuous
city power shortage problem during May 2021 to October 2021, which
resulted in a reliance on fuel burning to support operations in our Dongguan
production plant. Without like city power shortage in 2022, the consumption
of diesel fuel has significantly decreased compared to that of last year.

The Group endeavours to promote a low-carbon culture. This year, our
energy consumption intensity has achieved the target of 0.50 kWh per
total production units by pieces, because of the significant reduction in
diesel consumption of generators in our Dongguan production plant.
Moving forward, the Group will continue to monitor and reduce the
energy consumption to ensure that the target can be reached again next
year.

BEEBERERAR
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Water Usage

The existing water supply adequately meets the Group’s daily operational
needs and there has been no difficulty in sourcing water. Water is mainly
used in the offices in Hong Kong and the Dongguan production plant for
cleaning and sanitation. As the water supply of office premises in Hong

TR EREREERENRKIBR Kong is centrally managed by property management, the data below only
pertain to water usage in the Dongguan production plant.
20225 KR 2021 FHFEE

Rk B 2022 2021
Water Usage Unit Consumption Consumption
RkieE AV
Total Water Consumption Cubic Meters 97,613 101,930
RKBETE MR B B
Intensity of Total Water Consumption Cubic meters per total production

units by pieces 0.01 0.01

AREEE T — RIIEKER - PINERBE
RAKES - ERREKERNER TV ED
R R SRR - X TFEAREE
IKBESR S KRB AR BB NEA A EEE
SHEARKER -

BEME
AEEERNBEEBERME AH S

IR - BRRASORKBBEN L - TRED
AEBERREHRE LR BEMEBUE -

The Group strives to conserve water by implementing a series of
measures, such as, adopting a circulating water system, performing
regular checks on faucets to avoid unnecessary leakage and to enable
prompt reporting of any damages. For the purpose of promoting water
conservation awareness among our employees, water-saving signs were
placed inside the toilets and next to every faucet.

Packaging Material

The Group uses materials such as paper, paper boxes, partition
cardboard, plastic bags and foam sponges for the packaging of products.
The table below shows the data of the amount of packaging materials
that the Group has consumed during the Reporting Period.

2022 HER 2021 HEE

BEMH B 2022 2021
Packaging Materials Unit Consumption Consumption
EREEMIEE A
Total Packaging Materials Used Tonnes 551.96 792.43
EREEMHEERE MRt E B B
Intensity of Total Packaging Tonnes per total production

Materials Used units by pieces 28.67 43.32
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RixEEE
Types of Climate Risk

ARz
Specific Risk

The Environment and Natural Resources

By constantly monitoring the impacts of our operations on the
environment, the Group adheres to the ISO 14001:2015 environmental
management standards and our ESG policy. Through managing all
environmental aspects of our activities, products and services in a
systematic manner, we ensure that we minimise our carbon footprint and
impacts on the environment.

Climate Change

In light of the imminent threat of climate change, the Group has
considered the potential climate-related risks in respect of the
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD) and identified the following climate risks (both
physical and transition risks) that are relevant to the Group’s businesses.

J=NGg P

Description of the risk

Eiemk (SZAME)

Physical risk (acute)

Rim AR (ML - #R2R - 3t

Extreme weather conditions (e.g. typhoons,
extreme heat, flooding)

HARF PPN ERE R EERE TR SRR
mARFENME - BINAFEL2HEE
FERR - AREREEREE&E -

In spite of the fact that our offices and
production plants are not located in areas
prone to extreme weather conditions, safety
measures and drills should be implemented
to minimise the likelihood of such risks
occurring.

B (R FE=R

Physical risk (chronic)

Sustained high temperatures

RENARLEENS RS EHAEEE
i e REERIREETREIE HER A B, SR

BREREREERTEKT

Chronic heat waves and sustained high
temperatures result in greater electricity
usage. Energy conservation measures
should be adopted by the Group in order to
reduce and/or maintain the overall energy
consumption at a steady level.

BEEBERERAR
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R EEARRER RBETE BBERE BRSO
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Transition risk Regulatory compliance risk As environmental regulations become more
stringent and carbon taxes have greater
financial implications for businesses, the
Group needs to be fully aware of these issues
as to avoid violations of laws.

BIRRER BERR HBEETRBESHNAEE SEREEE
WAFERA RS EBFNEE -
AEEARBEREEREEBEL - TR
HEE R AL E BB B E M 4 B BfR
ELAEARA

Transition risk Reputational Risk The reputation of Wise Ally may be affected

by the change in customer behaviour or
perception of the Group’s contribution to
the transition to a low-carbon economy. It is
imperative that the Group’s business model
be enhanced to align with the low-carbon
economy, otherwise customers may perceive
Wise Ally negatively due to lack of progress.

EA AERBERSEH KRR E L NIREHE
AP EE TSR ARBNELELEAT
2 - BXAEENEREEA LIS - .
MHEANELE - LU B RIRERZE

For the time being, the Group believes that the potential of extreme
weather conditions and changes in environmental-related regulations
would not have a material impact on the Group’s operation.
Nevertheless, the Group continues to monitor and evaluate the
situation and improve relevant measures to mitigate the exposure to the
aforementioned climate-related risks.
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SOCIAL
Employment and Labour Standards

The Group believes that employees are one of the most valuable assets
of an enterprise and we view human resource management as an integral
part of our overall business strategy. The Group strictly abides by all
applicable laws and regulations related to employment, including but not
limited to:

In Hong Kong:

“Employment Ordinance”,

“Minimum Wage Ordinance”, and

”

“Employees’ Compensation Ordinance
In PRC:

e “Labour Contract Law”,

e “Labour Law”,

e “Regulations on Paid Annual Leave of Employees”,

e “Law on the Protection of Women’s Rights and Interests”,
e “Law on the Protection of Disabled Persons”, and

e “Social Insurance Law”

Going beyond compliance, the Group is committed to building a
diversified and inclusive working environment to ensure that no
employees are discriminated against or deprived of opportunities due
to their gender, ethnic background, religious belief, colour, sexual
orientation, age, marital status or family status in relation to recruitment
and promotion. The Group has specially formulated the Rules on the
Labour Protection of Female Employees and Anti-discrimination and
Harassment Procedures to protect the rights of all employees, so that the
employees’ talents can be reflected on, assessed and rewarded fairly.

The Group has zero tolerance on child labour and forced labour at
work, and strictly prohibits any form of child and forced labour at work.
To avoid such practice, the Human Resources Department performs
detailed interview screening procedures on each candidate. A thorough
background check is conducted to verify the authenticity of personal
data stated on application forms by examining the applicant’s original
identity card and making detailed inquiries to ensure that no child labour
is employed.

BEEBERERAR
20224 3R
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Should any incident of child labour or forced labour at work be found,
the Group would immediately terminate his or her employment and
investigate the underlying cause. We will reserve our rights to take
disciplinary actions against any employees who are accountable for
the employment of child labour or forced labour at work. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases regarding the
practice of child labour or forced labour at work.

The Group has also established a Human Resources Policy to manage
our employee recruitment, resignation, promotion and other processes,
so as to standardize the workflow and improve the working efficiency
of the Group. In accordance with our needs, the Group recruits suitable
candidates through a series of selection processes, including resume
screening, background check and job interview. Employees who intend
to resign shall notify his or her Department Head and Manager-in-Charge
in advance by written notice. On the last day of employment of the staff
member who is leaving the Group, the Human Resources Department
performs an exit interview with the leaving staff member to understand
the reason for resignation, and collect further feedback or complaints
to ascertain if there are any rooms for improvement in the workplace
environment.

Employee probation assessments and annual appraisals serve as
an important basis for rewards and punishments, salary adjustment
and promotion, year-end bonuses, etc. Our remuneration policy is
commensurate with the job nature, qualifications and experience of our
employees, and such policy is reviewed annually. In addition to the
provision of annual bonuses and employee related insurance benefits,
discretionary bonuses are also rewarded to employees based on their
individual performance.

To attract high-calibre talents and motivate employees, the Group
provides competitive remuneration packages, fringe benefits, and
welfare allowances for existing employees, such as medical and social
insurances, travel allowances and phone bill allowances. The standard
working hours of the Group’s employees are 8 hours per day and 40
hours per week on average, with at least 1 rest day per week. In order to
strengthen team cohesion and create a harmonious working atmosphere,
the Group organises different group activities on a regular basis.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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20224 « REBEEF HFEEFBLERAE  In 2022, the Group was awarded the “Caring Company Logo” by Hong
Mo Y mARBIE EE =18 E20 Kong Council of Social Service for the 7 consecutive years to recognise
RIFIEHEREXL R HMAIIEIR  our commitment in offering a caring culture and inclusive workplace

BHEREZE T © environment.

EESTHE 20225 20214
Employees Demographics 2022 2021
BEAH Total number of employees 1,695 1,212
RUBB D HEEAR Number of employees by gender
oy Female 873 609
S Male 822 603
BRERERBIHNESAR Number of employees by age group
255 AT <25 321 167
25%F295% 25-29 349 164
30E395% 30-39 694 427
40E495% 40-49 292 316
5088 A £ >50 39 138
RERELESNEBAY Number of employees by employment type
28 Full-Time 1,682 1,211
FRE Part-Time 13 1
R EE D HNESAR Number of employees by geographical
region
B Hong Kong 63 61
a3 PRC 1,632 1,150
HAth Others 0 1
B SR KL= (KfFE8) 20224 20214
Employee Turnover (Note 8) 2022 2021
BREERKLE Overall employee turnover rate 18% 23%
BERIB D NESRALL R Employee turnover rate by gender
gegis Female 14% 15%
S Male 21% 31%
RERERESHNEERLLE Employee turnover rate by age group
255 A <25 37% 56%
25Z295% 25-29 16% 33%
30E395% 30-39 1% 18%
402495% 40-49 15% 12%
5058 A - >50 18% 1%
RES S HEERKLL R Employee turnover rate by geographical
region
BA Hong Kong 56% 80%
Fh PRC 16% 20%
Hth Others 0% 0%
B 4 ][R 472 B A5 R A S
ﬁiLﬂﬁﬂzﬂxﬁ\zﬁégﬁ 85
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Health and Safety

Employee’s health and safety is of utmost importance to the Group.
The Group complies with all relevant safety regulations such as the
“Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance” in Hong Kong and the
“Production Safety law” and “Fire Protection Law” in the PRC. An
Employee Safety Policy has been developed to identify different potential
hazards and outline the safety procedures for various aspects of our
production activities. The Group also established contingency measures
in the Employee Handbook, which outlines special work arrangements
during times of crisis, such as typhoons, rainstorms, serious infections
diseases, etc.

As for our Dongguan production plant, the Environmental Health and
Safety (“EHS”) employee is responsible for handling all health and safety
related issues. All employees have to acknowledge and sign for record
after inspecting their working environment. The Group also requires all
new joiners to complete a “3-Level Safety Training” before commencing
work. The training consists of both operational and preventative
guidelines to raise employees’ awareness of work safety and guide them
to operate equipment in an accurate and safe manner, and encourage
employees to respond promptly in case of emergencies.

In addition, the Group has formulated a series of general safety
measures, which include prohibiting smoking in non-smoking zones (e.g.
warehouse, flammable and explosive areas, and other production areas);
implementing a fire safety management plan and precaution procedures
in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, and conducting
regular fire drills to strengthen the safety awareness of all employees and
assist them in being prepared when fire accidents occur.

During the Reporting Period, there were no work-related fatalities but 6
reported cases of work injuries, resulting in a total of 30 lost days.

20224 20214 2020%F

RERZZ Health and Safety 2022 2021 2020
IE8E Number of injuries 6 11 4
ETEBARTIIER Lost days due to work injuries 30 62 101
EIT#HEH Work-related fatalities = = =
Nil Nil Nil

BE-F(BRERREHRE)  ~&EREEZHLN
THEHBEEFEREKT - REB[HEE
BHMBBEANREIEF RUZRFREL
BERZ2HEE -
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Over the past 3 years, including the Reporting Period, the number of
work injuries suffered by our employees maintained at a relatively low
level. The Group continues to enhance existing safety procedures and is
dedicated to improving occupational safety measures where necessary.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Development and Training

EEMFAELRHRENAEENRAZEEEEH  The skills and experience of our employees are critical to the long-term
FZ Al BZRMAREMKNEIRE - #1815  development of the Group. Therefore, we invest in the growth of our
SRR B WA A o HMAEIIRZEE  employees to enhance their knowledge and skills through training. Our
AL BT UEREESEMMMEE  training covers a myriad of topics, ranging from technical knowledge,
BREENBEEEY - REEEFSAMEITE  such as electronic components and welding, to communication skills
E FANTENEEEREMBABZ - A&EBE  and relationship building, which would in turn allow them to perform
—HAMBLRAEBERHEANIEINBEEF - their duties more effectively while facilitating them in achieving their

A FHEBMBEERMEAKE

personal goals. The Group is committed to providing our employees
across all levels with both in-house and external trainings to support their
career development and personal growth.

EE%3 20224 20214

Employee Training 2022 2021

RUBESNZIEER DL Percentage of employee trained by gender

gegis Female 55% 31%

S Male 45% 69%

REEEHEINZIEETSLL Percentage of employee trained by

employee category

EIRE Management 13% 2%

HRRES Mid-level employee 10% 7%

ik EE Junior employee 77 % 91%

MR TNEERETHZIIN Average training hours completed per

PR employee by gender

gk Female 9.68/ ¥ 12.23/)\EF
9.68 hours 12.23 hours

Stk Male 10.65/) B 12.68/N

10.65 hours 12.68 hours
RESERESHNERREETK Average training hours completed per
I F IR R employee by employee category

EEE Management 6.64/\ ¥ 4.96/\F
6.64 hours 4.96 hours

HhREE Mid-level employee 2.80/1BF 4.33/\BF
2.80 hours 4.33 hours

IR EE Junior employee 6.68/NEF 10.07/) 6%
6.68 hours 10.07 hours

g )] 4% $7c A EN|
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Supply Chain Management

The Group understands that prudent supply chain management is
integral to sustainable development and therefore, we are committed to
establishing long-term and harmonious cooperation relationships with
our suppliers. The Group expects our suppliers to uphold the principles
of integrity and pragmatism, and provide products and services in strict
compliance with the requirements of applicable laws and regulations.
The Group requires suppliers to comply with applicable laws and
regulations in relation to relevant European Union (EU) directives and
regulations, such as the Restriction of Hazardous Substances Directive
2002/95/EC (“RoHS”) and the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and
Restriction of Chemicals Regulation (EC) No 1907/2009 (“REACH”).

As part of the Group’s efforts to standardise procurement procedures
and strengthen the monitoring and management of suppliers, a set of
Supply Base Management (“SBM”) Standard Operating Procedure has
been established. Among the key measures included are assessments
conducted prior to acceptance of approved suppliers, as well as on-going
assessments and regular inspections of approved suppliers.

During the process of sourcing new suppliers, the SBM team and
the supply quality assurance team would evaluate the capability of
the potential supplier, while our engineers may request the potential
supplier to submit samples for testing. The SBM team would obtain
relevant documents from the potential supplier, such as signed supplier
information forms with company chops and compliance declaration
forms in relation to RoHS and REACH.

New suppliers can be added to the approved vendor list only upon
passing the assessment and getting the approval from the manager and
the vice president of SBM. Our assessments include the new supplier’s
background information, product and service quality, reputation, human
rights management, etc. We would also investigate if the potential

EITEBCE R REFIAEBIZENMHERERA]  suppliers have involved in any significant environmental non-compliance
BEZARIEARIE - incidents. Supplier performance appraisal is conducted on an annual
basis and those suppliers that fail to meet the Group’s standards may
result in termination of the cooperation.
20225 20214
HEGHE HERHE
R E B 5 KBRS Number of Number of
Geographical region of suppliers suppliers in 2022 suppliers in 2021
& PRC 430 697
BB Hong Kong 181 271
EH - BUM K ar N E MBI K iR U.S., Europe and the rest of Asia 106 101
et Total 717 1,069
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Product and Service Responsibility

Providing a safe, quality and reliable product and service to customers
is one of the core values of the Group, and we are committed to
maintaining high quality in our manufacturing process. The Group
adopted the principles of total quality management (TQM) and provides
ongoing training to our employees on quality assurance. We also comply
with all relevant regulations such as the “Product Quality Law” in the
PRC, the EU Directive 2006/122/EC, 2005/69/EC and 2011/65/EU, and
the Regulation (EC) No. 1907/2006.

The Group maintains stringent quality assurance and carries out in
depth inspections throughout the manufacturing process, from the
incoming quality assurance of materials procured to performing in
process inspections during production and outgoing quality assurance of
finished electronic products. The quality assurance officers will perform
periodic sample checks, including visual checks, functionality tests,
automated optical inspection (AOI) and/or x-ray inspections to ensure
that all products meet the specifications and standards before delivering
to customers.

The Group has implemented a traceability record system in the
production line to allow easy retrieval of production data. All our
products are labelled with barcodes during the production process.
If there are any quality issues with the Group’s products, the system
enables the Group to promptly ascertain the source of the defect
throughout the production process, identify the defective lot of products
and take appropriate remedial measures to rectify the issues and to
prevent future reoccurrence.

In addition, the Group has a Class 100K cleanroom production floor
with a gross floor area of approximately 2,700 square meters in our
production facility, which comprises a Class 10K cleanroom laboratory
facility for the production of products with higher sanitary requirements,
such as medical and healthcare products.

With the stringent quality assurance in place, the Group has obtained,
among others, 1ISO 9001:2015 for quality management system in respect
of manufacture of printed circuit board assembly (PCBA) and design of
household control modules; ISO 13485:2016 for quality management
system for manufacture of electrocardiogram monitor patch; and pulse
oximeter QSR 820 for the United States Food and Drug Administration
Medical Device Quality System Regulation; and Good Manufacturing
Practice (GMP) certifications for food from both International
Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) and Underwriters Laboratories Inc.
(UL). To achieve the above certifications, the Group’s production and
quality management systems are inspected and reviewed on an annual
basis.
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Intellectual Property

The Group recognises the importance of protecting and enforcing
our intellectual property (“IP”) rights, and strictly complies with all
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on us. These
regulations include but are not limited to the “Trade Marks Ordinance”
and “Copyright Ordinance” in Hong Kong, and “Trademark Law” and
“Patent Law” in the PRC. The Group has adopted practices to avoid
infringements of intellectual property rights, such as entering into
Confidentiality Agreement (CA) or Non-Disclosure Agreement (NDA)
with our subcontracted manufacturers and employees; and register
intellectual property rights that are material to our business operations.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group has registered a total of 10
trademarks, 1 patent and 2 domain names that are material to our
business.

Privacy Protection

In the course of the Group’s business operations, we collect and maintain
basic information of our customers, suppliers and employees. To protect
the interest of respective stakeholders, any dispatch or use of such data
for purposes other than conducting normal business is strictly prohibited.
In accordance with the requirements set out in the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance in Hong Kong and the Cybersecurity Law in PRC,
the Group has established rules and formulated a Personal Data Policy to
handle confidential information and prohibit any leakage of information
pertaining to the Group, our suppliers, customers, as well as any other
external parties.

During the Reporting Period, our Dongguan production plant has
organised regular information system safety trainings to employees to
raise their awareness on data protection and privacy matters.

Complaints and Responses

Customers feedbacks are the key component to strive the Group’s
success, we take all feedback and complaints from customers seriously
and ensure that immediate follow-up actions are carried out upon receipt
of complaints. The Group has established a customer complaint handling
procedure. In cases where complaints are received, the quality engineers
from the Quality Assurance Department will investigate the incidents and
issue a report outlining the responsible department, the root cause of the
problem, and the corrective actions taken.

During the Reporting Period, 18 customer complaints were received by
the Group. All customer complaints were resolved after proper follow-
up actions were taken, with no similar issues noted in subsequent
production and shipment. There were no product recalls due to safety or
health concerns.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Anti-corruption

The Group strictly complies with all relevant laws and regulations over
anti-corruption, including the “Prevention of Bribery Ordinance” in
Hong Kong and the “Criminal Law” in the PRC.

The Employee Handbook clearly outlines the expected business
conduct and professional ethics of our employees. Coupled with the
Corporate Governance Policies and Procedures and the Policy on Inside
Information, the Group is determined to convey a clear message to all
employees that any forms of bribery, corruption, extortion and fraud
are strictly prohibited. During the Report Period, more than 160 anti-
corruption training sessions were provided to our employees in the
Dongguan production plant, while 4 anti-corruption training sessions
were provided to all employees and directors of the Group’s Hong Kong
office.

This year, the Group has implemented its Anti-Corruption Policy,
which provides guidance to employees regarding acceptance of gifts
and advantages, and handling conflicts of interest. The policy outlines
the circumstances or conditions under which employees are permitted
to accept advantages and gifts. Employees are also required to declare
actual or potential conflicts of interest to the Group’s Head of Human
Resources. Our commitment to doing business ethically and with
integrity also extends to our business partners, where we expect them to
comply with the relevant Group policies and standards.

Moreover, the Group has revised the Whistleblowing Policy this year
which provides further guidance to employees to report any concerns
regarding malpractices or improprieties. Should employees have any
concerns about malpractices or improprieties, they can report them to
their supervisors or to the Whistleblowing Committee via email. A full
investigation will then be conducted, and disciplinary action will be
applied to the employees involved upon confirmation of the allegation.
Further legal action may be taken depending on the nature and
circumstances of each case.

During the Reporting Period, no legal cases regarding corruption were
brought against the Group or our employees, and the Group is not aware
of any incidents of bribery, extortion, fraud or other violations.
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Community Investment

The Group earnestly fulfils our social responsibilities, actively carries
out public welfare activities, and regards public welfare as an important
aspect of our corporate culture.

In 2022, the Group donated HK$500,000 to the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology (HKUST) for research and development.
This donation demonstrates the commitment of the Group to support
academic research and development in the field of electronic
manufacturing services. The goal of their research is to advance the
electronic manufacturing services industry and promote technological
innovation in Hong Kong.

With the pandemic on the wane, the Group will explore and participate
in more public welfare and community activities in the future to support
and improve the wellness of the community around us.
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To the Shareholders of Wise Ally International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Wise Ally International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set
out on pages 109 to 196, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

¢ the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

e Revenue recognition for the sales of goods

Fair value measurement of financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL”) — investment in convertible bonds:

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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EPNESNAEERREETSE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

BREEEmlaE

Revenue recognition for the sales of goods

BB E M RRMFE2.23 %5 ©
Refer to Notes 2.23 and 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BE20229F12A31HLFE - REFHEEMKE
$##91,335,549,0008 LK BEEMNGRERE
W RIER

During the year ended 31 December 2022,
revenue from the sales of goods amounting to
approximately HK$1,335,549,000 was recognised
in the Group’s consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

ERHERERIEFIREEERRNE — (AR
RS o

Revenue from the sales of goods at a point in time

is recognised when the control of the goods has

transferred.

BRI ERHE & MRS I TR BRI 215
Our audit procedures performed on revenue recognition for the
sales of goods included:

o HFIERER - AME NEER A R HE E RS RS
e We understood, evaluated and validated the key controls in
respect of revenue recognition for the sales of goods;

o HAMWMETABHATPHHEESL YR EHEBEE M
1 I 2 B RO R R S R R LA 1B 0 (40 A) - LART
. ERENKERARRESTERITEELRE -

e We reviewed, on a sample basis, the sales contracts with
customers and identified the terms and conditions relating
to the timing of transfer of control of goods, along with other
customary business practices, if any, to assess if the Group’s
revenue recognition policies were in accordance with the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards;
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

ZMBINUTE - RRSRAEENRERSE
BREA - Jit - R EEA D EEER RN
BIR °

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of
revenue transaction occurred. Hence significant
audit resources were allocated to audit this area.
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o BPIAHEES ABFARRNERER HELIMN R TF LH
& HRHERRREESNNERETLR  KMETHE
ERnREtERE BESEMREEABERTIAER &

e We compared, on a sample basis, revenue transactions
recognised during the year with delivery documents or
customers’ acknowledgement of sales, underlying sales
invoices and sales contracts to determine whether revenue
from the sales of goods had been recognised in accordance
with the Group’s revenue recognition policies; and

. ﬁﬁ%%hﬁﬁ%%ﬁi BZ AR 2 RIER N HE S m ik
RPBEZN M %ﬁﬁ%%&ﬁ@%%%%%%%ﬁﬁﬁ
L RMETEHEE MO EREE M BERE T AR
271
e We tested, on a sample basis, revenue transactions from the
sales of goods recognised before and after the financial year-
end to delivery documents or customers’ acknowledgement
of sales and underlying sales invoices to determine whether
revenue from the sales of goods had been recognised in the
appropriate financial period.

AR LAFATHRRF  HFIRSHEERNESERERAR
BXH e

Based upon the above procedures performed, we considered that
the recognition of revenue from the sales of goods was supported
by available evidence.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

RAFEF A BRZSREENATENE - AR
RESF2RE

Fair value measurement of financial asset at
FVTPL - investment in convertible bonds

E2BERE MIRERMFE3.5 ~ 4.4%15 0
Refer to Notes 3.5, 4.4 and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BE2022F12A31HLEFE » EXRERERAF
Bt ARG (RAFEFABRGE D EREEZRA
FEZEREEAI13,090,000/8 7T - K2022F12 4
318 - EXERAERATEMABEZEREE
#19,094,000/87C * HTIERERTAI B REAHK
BEtE YN BERIFE=AEHMITE] -

During the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Group recorded a loss of approximately
HK$13,090,000 on fair value changes of financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had financial
asset at FVTPL of approximately HK$9,094,000
which was measured based on significant
unobservable inputs and classified as “Level 3
financial instrument”.

BB A FES ABSE 2 ERMEEMNTHETRF 21
Our audit procedures performed on financial asset at FVTPL
included:

o HMBEE BESRERFNELMGEMNED - LRk
BN MRS AIBREF R EETTEENER - e K
EEIM

e We evaluated the competency, capability and objectivity of
the independent valuer engaged by the Group for performing
valuation of investment in convertible bonds by assessing its
qualifications, relevant experience and independence with the
Group;

o HMBBAIGEZRHEEEE LB (GEMR - UFEHE
EERHERATEFABRCEREEN A HEMATER
HESMHEE K

e We involved our internal valuation expert to discuss with
management and the independent valuer to evaluate the
appropriateness of methodology and valuation techniques used
by management in valuation of fair value of financial asset at
FVTPL;

BEFRRIZERBR AR
- Xzozﬁ%& 1 03
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ZAEEINUSE - RRREETEREEN QT
EQEEERARTISHRE) B AN GHERRRE
RGETDEREREE RREL&E A6 -

We focused on this area due to the high degree of
judgement required in determining the fair value
of the financial assets which do not have direct
open market quoted value, with respect to the
adoption of applicable valuation methodology and
the application of appropriate assumptions in the
valuation.

1 04 WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

o BMRERFMNOTSME - FEEATEAAERZEREE
BN FEEITHER BREBR B A B EE MR
BREEBEATRRE LRSI B EMAIEN -

* We assessed the appropriateness and relevance of the key
assumptions and inputs in valuation of fair value of financial
asset at FVTPL including discount rate and probability of
cash flows happening of each scenario based on our market
knowledge;

o HMASEARGERLNRETEAEENE &
e We tested the accuracy of mathematical calculation applied in
the valuation model; and

s HBMREFEMBERESEFEZATENAERZEREE
A TETEARARENTOME -

e We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to fair
value measurement of financial asset at FVTPL in the context
of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

ERNEliief AR EEEREERAFEFABRZ SR
BENXFERMABIENGEDERBRERARIEX

Based on the procedures above, we found the valuation
methodology and the assumptions made by management in
determining the fair value of financial asset at FVTPL were
supported by available evidences.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

BEEBERERAR
202245
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BREpKRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BEpRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

BEEEERARAT
= Xzozziiﬁi 1 07
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BREpKRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheng Lap Yam.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

EZE2022412 318 1L F For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
liEsd FExT FHET
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Wz Revenue 5 1,335,549 1,047,330
SHE KA Cost of sales 6 (1,140,595) (853,068)
EF Gross profit 194,954 194,262
HAb®EE Other losses, net 7 9,774) (14,743)
HAnl A Other income 7 3,288 1,740
SHE MO HAX Selling and distribution expenses 6 (52,247) (52,414)
TR Administrative expenses 6 (97,573) (93,481)
SREEREER Impairment losses on financial assets 6 (6,541) (386)
B RF Operating profit 32,107 34,978
AE WA Finance income 9 725 41
AR Finance costs 9 (11,519) (7,571)
YRR A B AN Finance costs, net 9 (10,794) (7,530)
—fEAaEE 7 E(EE Share of loss of a joint venture 19 (2,000) =
F%ﬁﬁ SHANEF Profit before income tax 19,313 27,448
BHAX Income tax expense 10 (4,179) (7,328)
RN AERTE ARG Profit for the year attributable to
FRamF equity holders of the Company 15,134 20,120
Hib2mE (&8) s - Other comprehensive (loss)/income:
Ao EF 7 EZEamA  ltem that may be subsequently reclassified
HH to profit or loss
B E = Currency translation differences (6,843) 4,919
FEREMEE(EIE) W3S Total other comprehensive (loss)/income
. for the year (6,843) 4,919
EARERRFEA Total comprehensive income for the year
EBEFER2EREARE attributable to equity holders of the
Company 8,291 25,039
RATEREE AENG Earnings per share attributable (&)
BRER to equity holders of the Company (Restated)
AR R EEBL) Basic and diluted (HK cents) 11 15.1 20.1
LR a2 E RS REEBEK MM — B8  The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be
iE o read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

BEEEERARAT
= Xzozziiiﬁ 1 09



e MR R

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2022412 A318 As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
k=3 FExT FHET
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
&E ASSETS
FRBEE Non-current assets
Y - BENERE Properties, plant and equipment 12 88,927 90,433
mREE Intangible assets 13 700 935
e KA FRIE Deposits and prepayments 16 5,569 2,905
R—EaEhEIRE Investment in a joint venture 19 - -
WA EFABZ &R Financial asset at fair value through
BE profit or loss 15 9,094 =
BEEFIBE = Deferred tax assets 22 6,453 4,121
110,743 98,394
REEE Current assets
FE Inventories 17 227,846 288,728
B 5 R Trade receivables 20 368,267 275,183
ARSI BE R Prepayments, deposits and
E fth fEUGRIA other receivables 16 28,467 27,632
RITHER Bank deposits 18 32,370 =
ReRHFEEED Cash and cash equivalents 18 209,823 207,272
866,773 798,815
mEE Total assets 977,516 897,209
S EQUITY
AAREEFEA Equity attributable to equity holders
PEih s of the Company
A&7 Share capital 28 20,000 20,000
B Reserves 136,035 132,744
iR Total equity 156,035 152,744

1 1 O WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
72022412 A31H As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
BfaE FET FHET
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
afE LIABILITIES
FREBEE Non-current liabilities
REIRB 2T Long service payment scheme 25 25
BT BUT 6 BY) Deferred government grants 25 - 132
FEEFRITBEE Deferred tax liabilities 22 1,615 2,170
HEARF Lease liabilities 21 24,962 15,741
26,602 18,068
REBEE Current liabilities
B 5N RE Trade payables 23 332,591 233,494
BHEE - EME[FEIAKL  Contract liabilities, other payables and
et E A accruals 25 157,171 200,896
RFETR 70 B Deferred government grants 25 - 1,171
HEaE Lease liabilities 21 12,976 17,158
FET R Bills payables 24 3,614 15,680
RITER Bank borrowings 27 275,340 249,900
JE - RS A R 5R0E Amount due to a related company 32 338 636
BNEAFT1S mﬁﬁ Current income tax liabilities 12,849 7,462
794,879 726,397
Hafs Total liabilities 821,481 744 465
BERE AR Total equity and liabilities 977,516 897,209

bt A ISR R EEEE M AT sE —Hf%]  The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in

i conjunction with the accompanying notes.

F1092196 B iR A IR TI&ESE The consolidated financial statements on pages 109 to 196 were

R2023F3 A28 B ENRARREE approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2023 and were signed
on its behalf:
KEE 2+ 1% Chu Wai Hang Raymond Lau Shui Fung
= 2 Director Director

BEEEERARAT
= X2022%?& 1 1 1



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

EZE2022412 A31 B 1EFF For the year ended 31 December 2022

ADRRREEARL
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Bx ReE  EERR ARk EXRe  BRUE 7
Share Share  Statutory Other ~ Exchange Retained Total
capital  Premium reserve reserve reserve earnings equity
Tin Tin Thn Tn Tin Thn Tin
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

GED)

(Note b)
202261 1B M Balance at 1 January 2022 20,000 80,355 7,725 67 (240) 44,837 152,744
2EKE Comprehensive income
EREF Profit for the year - - - - - 15,134 15,134
Hft2E b Other comprehensive income
ERIEFAEZERNES  ltem that may be subsequently

reclassified to profit or loss
ERBEES Currency translation differences - - - - (6,843) - (6,843)
2ANGAE Total comprehensive income - - - - (6,843) 15,134 8,291
RERFEAETHRS Transactions with equity holders
_ Ra(E2e) Dividend (Note 26) - - - - - (5,000) (5,000

2022512831888  Balance at 31 December 2022 20,000 80,355 7,725 67 (7,083) 54,971 156,035

1 1 2 WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2022



RERBREER
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
2022412 A31 8 ILEZ For the year ended 31 December 2022

ARAIEREAARLG
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
kx BiEE ARk EbRe  EiRE Sk g
Share Share  Statutory Other  Exchange  Retained Total
capital Premium reserve reserve reserve earnings equity
AT TR AL AT TR AL AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(FirzEb)

(Note b)
0211 B1AMEE Balance at 1 January 2021 20,000 80,355 6,288 67 (5,159) 36,154 137,705
REYE Comprehensive income
ERET Profit for the year - = - = - 20,120 20,120
B2 E Other comprehensive income
ERIEFAEZERMES  ltem that may be subsequently

reclassified to profit or loss

RRBEEE Currency translation differences - - - - 4919 - 4919
2HEUFEAE Total comprehensive income = = = = 4919 20,120 25,039
RERNEAETHRS Transactions with equity holders
28 (Wa) Appropriation (Note a) - - 1437 - - (1437) =
G Dividend (Note 26) - - - - - (10,000) (10,000
AREBEAETHRALE  Total transactions with equity holders - - 1437 - - (11,437) (10,000
B2021£12831B 068 Balance at 31 December 2021 20,000 80,355 7,725 67 (240) 44,837 152,744

BEEEERARAT
= Xzozziiiﬁ 1 1 3
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Notes:

(a)

The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) laws and regulations require
companies registered in the PRC to provide for certain statutory reserves,
which are to be appropriated from the profit after income tax (after offsetting
accumulated losses from prior years) as reported in their respective statutory
financial statements, before profit distributions to equity holders. All statutory
reserves are created for specific purposes. A PRC company is required to
appropriate an amount of not less than 10% of statutory profits after income
tax to statutory surplus reserves, prior to distribution of its post-tax profits
of the current year. A company may discontinue the contribution when
the aggregate sum of the statutory surplus reserve is more than 50% of its
registered capital. The statutory surplus reserves shall only be used to make
up losses of the company, to expand the company’s operations, or to increase
the capital of the company. In addition, a company may make further
contribution to the discretional surplus reserve using its post-tax profits in
accordance with resolutions of the board of directors.

Other reserve represents the accumulated actuarial gains on the Group’s
long service payment scheme for its Hong Kong employees and the excess
of the combined share capital of the companies comprising the Group, after
considering the intra-group elimination, over the consideration given in
relation to the reorganisation.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EZE2022412 318 1L F For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
B3 FET FAET
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
BETHELENEELSHE  Cash flows from operating activities
KEEFNRE Cash generated from operations 29(a) 90,196 34,163
(B, BREMESH Income tax (paid)/refunded, net

HER (2,195) 161
REFRHELNFRE Net cash generated from operating activities 88,001 34,324
REZHELEMNBESHRE  Cash flows from investing activities
BEYE BENERE Purchase of properties, plant and equipment (14,087) (16,720)
HEWE - MENRZER  Proceeds from disposal of properties,

Fr{S3k3A plant and equipment 29(b) 16 827
HBEELEE Purchase of intangible assets (557) (137)
EUHE Interest received 541 41
WEE—FAa & Acquisition of a joint venture 19 (2,000) -
REER— A EMRHEIEITZ  Subscription of convertible bonds issued

EE: T by a joint venture (22,000) =
SRITFEZIE N Increase in bank deposits (32,370) -
FIE B R EBUERFME)  Receipt of government grants for purchase

of equipment - 108

__T%iéé}:ﬁibﬁﬁﬁﬁ}\giﬁ(i\ Net cash used in investing activities (70,457) (15,881)

BMETHELNEESRE  Cash flows from financing activities
SRITIE RS FRIE Proceeds from bank borrowings 29(c) 905,886 873,143
BEBITER Repayments of bank borrowings 29(c) (880,446) (884,699)
TNAEAEMAEIS  Payment of principal element of lease

liabilities 29(c) (23,322) (16,828)
EARRE Dividend paid 26 (5,000) (10,000)
2R 8 Interest paid (11,519) (7,571)
BEEBFTAFRE Net cash used in financing activities (14,401) (45,955)
RERBESEEY Net increase/(decrease) in cash

#®in, GEd)FE and cash equivalents 3,143 (27,512)

FNReRBEEED Cash and cash equivalents at beginning

of the year 207,272 234,376
EEsmE =g Currency translation differences (592) 408
FRBEEMREEEYD Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 18 209,823 207,272

LG AR S RERELEBEN A sF—68  The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

BEEEERARAT
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION AND REORGANISATION

1.1 General information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
15 January 2019 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961 as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address
of its registered office is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South
Church Street, P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman KY1-1002,
Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
manufacturing and sales of electronic products. The ultimate
controlling shareholders are Mr. Chu Wai Hang Raymond (“Mr.
Raymond Chu”) and Mr. Chu Wai Cheong Wilson (“Mr. Wilson
Chu”) (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”).

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 10 January
2020.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$’000”), unless otherwise
stated.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with all the applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified
by the revaluation of financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL”), which is carried at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires the directors of the
Company to exercise their judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

BEEEERARAT
= Xzozziiﬁi 1 1 7
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2.1 fRBEXE(1E)
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@@ FEERANEEITERRERS

EIR-EEi -]

AEBED 20221 A1 BHEH
FEREHEE NERNT I &S
HEEIE S HE-SEElE

AR REERFEIFRUSETAN)
HKFRS 3 (Amendments)

BBSFERIE 165 (1BE]AN)
HKAS 16 (Amendments)

BB ERFBI7HRUEFTA)
HKAS 37 (Amendments)

BB EHREELF 1655 (ERTA)
HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

FEEIER

Annual Improvements Project

B3I ES R (IEET)
Accounting Guideline 5 (Revised)

RNZ SRIEFT R REIERT S
ARSI U BB AKREOGTER
EREREATE - HBAED
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(@) Amended standards and revised accounting guideline

adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amended standards
and revised accounting guideline for the first time for their
annual reporting period beginning 1 January 2022:

BSERZ2E

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

W% - BB KR (FRE MR PSR
Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds Before Intended
Use

EBERAN-BITAH KA

Onerous Contracts — Costs of Fulfilling a Contract

F20214F % B Covid-19/ENTEE E R
Covid-19-related Rent Concessions Beyond 2021

20185 E2020F HAM B RS LM FRUGE
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

HEEHEHNAH SRR
Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations

The adoption of these amended standards and revised
accounting guideline did not have any significant impact
on the Group’s accounting policies and did not require
retrospective adjustments.
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2 BEARSHBRBE(E) 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.1 fREEXE(1E)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) EEMEREREERA B HET
REBIEA RSB 2E

(b) New and amended standards and revised interpretation
issued but not yet adopted by the Group

TEFRET RAEERTER R EER
RENAEERN202251 AR Z
MHEERMERAREREY

The following new and amended and revised interpretation
have been issued but are not effective for the Group’s
revised interpretation January 2022 and have not been early

BENEEIRERR

EBSERE 1S LB BT BHRE
ERIEBER2(BE]A)

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 (Amendments)

BEGFAERFEST(EE]A)
HKAS 8 (Amendments)

ERGTIERE 125 (IBFTA)
HKAS 12 (Amendments)

BAEMGREERR175
HKFRS 17

BB HREERE1 75 (BETA)
HKFRS 17 (Amendments)

BEGFERF15R(EE]A)
HKAS 1 (Amendments)

ERGTERE1RBETA)
HKAS 1 (Amendments)

BAMBHREERE 165 (BFTA)
HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

adopted by the Group:

SAHR KR

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

SR ER

Definition of Accounting Estimates

B-RGFEAREENAGERECELERE
Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities
Arising from a Single Transaction

RBREXK

Insurance Contracts

BN HREERNFE 757 21E5]
Amendments to HKFRS 17

BESERMELIETE
Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

MEZHEZIFRBEE

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

ERARELZHERE

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

EFERERERAT
202245,

RELT B8
Ciyed: 1) -y
SHHBEXN

Effective for
accounting period

beginning on or after

2023F1A1H
1 January 2023
2023F1A1H
1 January 2023
2023F1H1H
1 January 2023
2023F1A1H

1 January 2023

20231 H1H
1 January 2023

202451 A1H
1 January 2024
2024%F1H1H

1 January 2024

202451 A1H
1 January 2024
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(b) EBEMEREREE KA HET
REBTEA RSB RE(H)

BRREESR(KER])

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised)

BAEMBHREERIF 105
RBEBESEERFE 285 (85T A)
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendments)

AEBB EFERENT REE
FIEA R ERTREBR IR E R
BORE VS EwASZED
SUHAKBHNMBRRLEE X
PRENERTE -
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New and amended standards and revised interpretation
issued but not yet adopted by the Group (continued)

REAT B
oA 3Lyl
EEHBER

Effective for

accounting period
beginning on or after

PmE 2V - BERAHBSIE
EREBECEHRER DR
Presentation of Financial Statements —

2024F1HA1H

1 January 2024
Classification by the Borrower of a Term

Loan that Contains a Repayment on

Demand Clause

REEBRHEBENANAELE LM HEE
MEEHEIIE

Sale or Contribution of Assets Between an To be determined

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
impact of these new and amended standards and revised
interpretation upon initial application and has concluded
on a preliminary basis that these are not expected to have
a significant impact on the Group’s financial position and
results of operations.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2 BEAETBRMEGE)

22K B E] 2.2 Subsidiaries
221 ZREERE 2.2.1 Consolidation
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MEEXBEBENRAFE &
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Iz

R B OEBRTK - K
77 ST BT FT R R RE 77 Y B
REEERKBEANAT
BEHME  BEENE
A B BN R as e o

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when the Group
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

(@) Business combination

Except for the reorganisation upon listing, the Group
applies the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

BEEEERARAT
= Xzozziiﬁi 1 21
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

(@)

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

Business combination (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability
are recognised in accordance with HKFRS 9 in profit
or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement
is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amounts of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the
profit or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without
change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners
of the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying amounts
of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity.
Gains or losses on disposal to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value
at the date when control is lost, with the change in
carrying amounts recognised in profit or loss. The fair
value is the initial carrying amounts for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

B BB 2R ARAT
b Xzozziiif; 1 23
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Joint arrangements

Investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification depends on the
contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than
the legal structure of the joint arrangement.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method (Note 2.3.1), after initially being recognised at cost in
consolidated statement of financial position.

2.3.1 Equity accounting

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group's
share of movements in other comprehensive income of
the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from joint venture are recognised as
a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in this entity. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity
accounted investees have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 2.8.

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2022
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Joint arrangements (continued)
23.1 Equity accounting (continued)

When the Group ceases to equity account for an investment
because of a loss of joint control or significant influence,
any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair
value with the change in carrying amount recognised in
profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying
amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for
the retained interest as an associate or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/ permitted by applicable
HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is
reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss where appropriate.

2.4 Segment reporting

Operating segment is reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker (“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segment,
has been identified as the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEQ”)
who makes strategic decisions.

BEEEERARAT
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation

2,5.1 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group'’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

2.5.2 Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
generally recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, within finance costs. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a net
basis within “other losses, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or
loss and translation differences on non-monetary assets such
as equities held at fair value through other comprehensive
income are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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2 BEARSHBRBE(E) 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.5 IMNEHRE (48)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)
253 KEAQF] 25.3 Group companies
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The results and financial positions of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
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e
WEBIINEBEENEHER AT
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currency as follows:

e assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that consolidated statement of financial
positions;

e income and expenses for each income statement and
statement of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the rate on
the dates of the transactions); and

e all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign operations are
taken to other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences
are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on
sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.

BERBRIRARAT
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Properties, plant and equipment

Properties, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the assets’ carrying amounts
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation of properties, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their costs, net of their
residual value, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 3 to 5 years
Plant and machineries 3 to 10 years
Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years

Right-of-use assets Over the lease term
Over the shorter of lease term

and useful life of 5 years

Leasehold improvements

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.

Gain or loss on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds
with carrying amount and are recognised in profit or loss.

2.7 Intangible assets

System software

Acquired system software licences are capitalised on the basis
of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software. These costs are amortised using straight-line method
over the shorter of licence period and their estimated useful
lives of three years.
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POLICIES (continued)
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Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or group of assets (cash generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting
period.

2.9 Financial assets

2.9.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
and

e those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms
of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income. For investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, this will depend on whether the group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets changes.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial assets

29.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the investments have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
risks and reward of ownership.

2.9.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value
through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows
are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the
cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies
its debt instruments to be measured at amortised costs and
FVTPL.

(i) Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the asset
is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method.
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2.9 Financial assets (continued)

2.9.3 Measurement (continued)
Debt instruments (continued)
(ii) FVTPL

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost
or fair value through other comprehensive income are
measured at FVTPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised
in profit or loss and presented net within other losses in
the period in which it arises.

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amounts
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.11 Impairment of financial assets

The Group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost are
subject to HKFRS 9’s expected credit loss model. The Group
assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its assets carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables from third parties and related parties, the
Group applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from
initial recognition of the trade receivables from third parties
and related parties. The Group has assessed the expected credit
loss by considering historical default rates, existing market
conditions and forward-looking information.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For other receivables, the Group measures the impairment
as either twelve months expected credit losses or life-time
expected credit losses, depending on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If
a significant increase in credit risk of the other receivables has
occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is measured
as lifetime expected credit losses.

2.12 Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair values. Changes in the fair value of
derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting
are recognised immediately in the profit or loss.

Derivative financial assets are classified as current assets if they
are expected to be realised within 12 months after the balance
sheet date. Derivative financial liabilities are classified as current
liabilities if they are due to be settled within 12 months after the
balance sheet date.

2.13Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business.
If collection of trade receivables is expected in one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less allowance for impairment.
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Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted-average method.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw
material, direct labour, other direct costs and related production
overheads (based on normal operating capacity). It excludes
borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

2.15Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and
cash on hand.

2.16Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.

2.17 Trade, bills and other payables

Trade and bills payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Trade and bills payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade, bills and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried
at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in
interest expense over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

2.19 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

2.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amounts can be reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.
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2.20 45 (41)

2.20 Provisions (continued)
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Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase
in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

221 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (continued)

(o)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amounts and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the
Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred income tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In
this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

2.22Employee benefits

(@)

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits that are expected to be settled wholly within twelve
months after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period
and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when
the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as
current employee benefit obligations in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Other long-term employee benefit obligations

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position if the entity
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months after the reporting period, regardless
of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.

Defined contribution plans

The Group pays contributions to state-managed pension
insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when they are
due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses
based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit
attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that
has created a constructive obligation.

Long service payments

The Group’s net post-employment benefit obligation
in respect of long service payments to its employees
in Hong Kong upon cessation of their employment in
certain circumstances under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance is the amount of future benefits that the
employees have earned in return for their services in the
current and prior periods.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22Employee benefits (continued)

(e) Long service payments (continued)

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit
cost method, discounted to its present value and reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement
schemes that are attributed to contributions made by the
Group. The discount rate is the yield at each balance sheet
date of Hong Kong Government’s Exchange Fund Notes
which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of
the related liability. The expected costs of these benefits
are accrued over the period of employment using the same
accounting methodology as used for defined benefit plans.

The current service cost of the long service payment
scheme, recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income reflects the increase in the long
service payment’s obligation as a result of employee service
in the current year, benefit changes, curtailments and
settlements. Past-service costs are recognised immediately
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
The interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate
to the balance of the long service payment’s obligation.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience
adjustment and changes in actuarial assumptions are
charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive
income in the period in which they arise.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date,
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to
either: terminating the employment of current employees
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of
withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a result of
an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits
falling due more than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period are discounted to present value.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
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Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts for the sale of
goods in the ordinary course of the Group’s activity. Revenue
is shown net of returns and after eliminating sales within the
Group.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the
period between the transfer of the promised goods to the
customers and the payment by the customers exceeds one
year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the consolidated statement of financial
position as a contract asset or a contract liability, depending
on the relationship between the Group’s performance and
the customer’s payment. A contract asset is the Group’s right
to consideration in exchange for goods that the Group has
transferred to a customer. Incremental costs incurred to obtain
a contract, if recoverable, are capitalised and presented as
assets and subsequently amortised when the related revenue is
recognised.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to
an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers the promised goods to the customer, the Group
presents the contract as a contract liability when the payment
is received or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier).
A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer the
promised goods to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional
right to consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for
the Group’s activity as described below:

Sales of goods

Sales of goods transferred at a point in time are recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when the Group has
delivered the products to the customers and the customers have
accepted the products, the customers have full discretion over
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customers’ acceptance of the products.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
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Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using
the effective interest method.

2.25 Leases

The Group leases various properties and plant and machinery.
Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of
three months to five years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain various terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets (included in
properties, plant and equipment) and the corresponding
liabilities at the date of which the respective leased asset is
available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is
charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate;

e amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined, or the
entity’s incremental borrowing rate.
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Right-of-use assets are measured at costs comprising the
following:

e the amount of the initial measurement of lease liabilities;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received;

e any initial direct costs; and
e restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s
useful life. The useful life used for the assets’ depreciation
purpose is:

Properties Over the lease term

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense
in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases for properties, plant
and machinery with a lease term of less than 12 months. Low-
value assets comprise machinery with value below HK$5,000.

2.26 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised as a
liability in the years in which the dividend is approved by the
Company’s shareholders or directors, where appropriate.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher
of:

e the amount determined in accordance with the expected
credit loss model under HKFRS 9; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance
with the principles of HKFRS 15.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on
the present value of the difference in cash flows between the
contractual payments required under the debt instrument and
the payments that would be required without the guarantee, or
the estimated amount that would be payable to a third party for
assuming the obligations.

2.28 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to expenses are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income over the period necessary to match them with the
expenses that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of properties, plant
and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as deferred
income and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the expected lives of the related assets.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.
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POLICIES (continued)
2.29 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can
also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic
resources will be required or the amounts of obligation cannot
be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then be
recognised as a provision.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

3.1 Market risk

3.1.1 Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the USD and
RMB. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations, which are denominated
in these currencies.

The Group also manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign
exchange exposures and may enter into foreign exchange
contracts to manage foreign exchange risks. As at 31
December 2022 and 2021, the Group had no outstanding
forward foreign currency contracts.
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3.1 Market risk (continued)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1.1 Foreign exchange risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, if USD had
strengthened/weakened by 0.5% against HK$, with all
other variables held constant, profit before income tax for
each year would have changed mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of USD denominated
cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade and
other payables.

2022 2021
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
x/ BT USD/HK$
B ETS R ATE LG hn,~ (B4 ) Profit before income tax
increase/(decrease)
—3E500.5% — Strengthened by 0.5% 1,799 1,207
—H40.5% — Weakened by 0.5% (1,799) (1,207)
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3.1.2 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate
risk is mainly attributable to its cash at banks and bank
borrowings with floating interest rates and investment in
convertible bonds. Details of the Group’s cash at banks and
bank borrowings have been disclosed in Notes 18 and 27
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, if interest rates on
cash at banks and bank borrowings had been 50 basis
points higher/lower with all variables held constant, profit
before income tax for the years ended would have been
approximately HK$166,000 (2021: HK$213,000) lower/
higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expenses
on the bank borrowings netted with interest income on the
cash at banks.

The sensitivity analysis of the investment in convertible
bonds is disclosed in Note 3.5.
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3.2 Credit risk
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The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash at banks,
trade and other receivables and financial asset at FVTPL. The
carrying amounts of each financial asset represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

Risk management

The Group has policies in place to ensure that credit terms are
made to customers with an appropriate credit history and the
Group performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers.

The Group’s cash at banks were deposited with high quality
financial institutions. Therefore, the Group does not expect any
losses arising from non-performance by these counterparties.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, 48% (2021: 53%) of
the Group’s revenue was derived from its top five customers.
As at 31 December 2022, 61% (2021: 61%) of the total trade
receivables were due from the Group’s top five customers.

(@) Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject
to the expected credit loss models:

e trade receivables from third parties

e other financial assets carried at amortised cost

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. Future cash flows
for each group of receivables are estimated on the basis
of historical default rates, adjusted to reflect the effects
of existing market conditions as well as forward looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the customers to settle the receivable.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (continued)
Risk management (continued)

(@) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on individual basis

Trade receivables with dispute or known insolvencies are
assessed individually for impairment allowances and are
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators of insolvencies include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group and a failure to make contractual payments. As
at 31 December 2022, certain customers who did not share
the same credit risk characteristics as the rest of the debtors
were in delinquency of payments and their respective
trade receivable balances amounting to approximately
HK$7,150,000 (2021: HK$1,555,000) were therefore fully
impaired.

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis

Remaining trade receivables without known insolvencies
are collectively assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking
into account the nature of the customer and its ageing
category, and applying the expected credit loss rates to the
respective gross carrying amounts of the receivables.

The expected credit loss rates are estimated on the basis
of historical credit losses experienced, adjusted to reflect
the effects of existing market conditions as well as forward
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivable.

As at 31 December 2022, the balance of loss allowance
in respect of these collectively assessed receivables was
approximately HK$1,233,000 (2021: HK$287,000) based
on expected credit loss rates applied on different groupings.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as
net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (continued)
Risk management (continued)

(@) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Group’s other financial assets carried at amortised cost
include other receivables in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The impairment loss of other financial
assets carried at amortised cost is measured based on the
twelve months expected credit loss. The twelve months
expected credit loss is the portion of lifetime expected
credit loss that results from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within twelve months after the
reporting date. However, when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will
be based on the lifetime expected credit loss.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, management
considered the credit risk of other receivables to be low
as counterparties have a strong capacity to meet their
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term. The
Group has assessed that the expected credit losses for
the other receivables were immaterial under 12 months
expected losses method. Therefore, the loss allowance
provision for these balances was close to zero and no
provision was recognised.

Financial asset at FVTPL

For convertible bonds that are measured at fair value
through profit or loss, credit risk has been considered in
the fair value measurement of the investment in convertible
bonds.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the shorter
and longer term.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group held cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$209,823,000 (2021:
HK$207,272,000), that are expected to be readily available to
generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.

The Group maintains liquidity by a number of sources including
orderly realisation of short-term financial assets, receivables
and certain assets that the Group considers appropriate.
Long term financing including long-term borrowings are also
considered by the Group in its capital structuring. The Group
aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient bank
balances, committed credit lines available and interest bearing
borrowings which enable the Group to continue its business for
the foreseeable future.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group'’s total undrawn banking
facilities amounted to approximately HK$155,452,000 (2021:
HK$260,920,000) and the Group’s total drawn banking
facilities amounted to approximately HK$279,048,000 (2021:
HK$265,580,000).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Liquidity risk (continued)

TRINAAEEETEESREER The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities
MEHRNFREHRNEE  &RED at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-
KEERIR S AE R ANEFBABKRERY derivative financial liabilities, which is based on the contractual
NOxF HEEE - undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date in which Group

can be required to pay:

BHRRBBERER
Contractual discounted cash outflow
AREREE —&£R —ZI1F st
Repayable Less than Between

on demand Tyear  1and5 years Total
FET FET FHET FHET
HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

R2022%12A31R At 31 December 2022
BoERTE Trade payables - 332,591 - 332,591
Hi BB REE R Other payables and accruals - 116,932 - 116,932
HEAR Lease liabilities - 14,478 27,124 41,602
EREE Bills payables - 3,614 - 3,614
FITER Bank borrowings 277,508 - - 277,508
RN Amount due to a related company - 338 - 338
277,508 467,953 27,124 772,585

BHRMRRLT
Contractual discounted cash outflow
FRBRER —R —Ehf st
Repayable Less than Between

on demand Tyear  1and5 years Total
TET TET TAT TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

120215124318 At 31 December 2021
O ANE Trade payables - 233,494 = 233,494
HiENHIBRETER Other payables and accruals - 126,761 = 126,761
RERE Lease liabilities - 18,670 16,197 34,867
EREE Bills payables - 15,680 - 15,680
BITER Bank borrowings 250,997 = = 250,997
JE{ B A R F0E Amount due to a related company - 636 - 636
250,997 395,241 16,197 662,435

BEBFERERAR]
- Xzozzf%& 1 49
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3 HBERERGE)

JAELRER

AEEEREANBRRREAEHE
FECLEMEE N ARBERFRD
¥R - [R) B3R ERE A &5 4R B 0 A
@ WHERRENEAGEBUREE

BEFNABRERNERE  AEExE
AR RGOS SR - MR
REIE AR EEERIEER ©
AEEZRREBEHBERL REEE
BN o BEERIRITER o BE KA
IRE MR RS R B o
2022 K%20214612 A31 BEWE A &Y
BERLEEINT -

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to

reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amounts of dividend paid to shareholders, return

capital to shareholders or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the total debt to
total capital ratio. Total debt represents bank borrowings. Total
capital represents total equity, as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The total debt to total capital

ratios at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

2022 2021

TERT THTT

HK$’000 HK$'000

BIEFK Total borrowings 275,340 249,900
s Total equity 156,035 152,744
BEEHEERL X Total debt to total capital ratio 1.81% 1.6
1.8 times 1.6 times

BREEHEEARLER2021F12 A31
BRI1.6(51EME2022%12 A31 B
1.8(% - TEARRRITERNAERIA
HEHNFTER °

1 50 WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The increase in total debt to total capital ratio from 1.6 times as
at 31 December 2021 to 1.8 times as at 31 December 2022 was
mainly due to the increase in proceeds of bank borrowings.
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3 MBEREEGR) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.5 AE{EMET 3.5 Fair value estimation
TRIBEAEQFEMNGERMP The below table analyses the Group’s financial instruments
FEREINBABBNER DA carried at fair value as at 31 December 2022 by level of the
EEMN2022F12 A31 BIEAFEAER inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The
MNEMTEAE BAREBENERDIEA level of inputs is categorised into three levels within a fair value
TEERSBEANT =B hierarchy as follows:

F1ER - HREEXBENERTIS Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
BB CRSTE) - identical assets or liabilities.

FEH - WIEMAE1ERRE - Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
MRl B (BIER) kA& 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
(BVREER)BRNEEK directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
BEMNRABIE - from prices).

SEIBAR W IR AT ER R AT I5BURH Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
BEXEENE A SR (R observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

THERBARE) °

F1BR FABR FEIBR st
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
THT THT THT Tz
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
®2022%12A31H At 31 December 2022
BRATE ANBR 2 &BEE  Financial asset at FVTPL
- EmARRES — Unlisted convertible bonds - - 9,094 9,094
@it Total - - 9,094 9,094
FR - KEEEAFEFE2NRET 283 There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for recurring
[& A 7 BN e s fair value measurements during the year.

BEBRIERERAR]
- Xzozzgiﬁ 1 51
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3

R EE(E)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.5 D FEME ()

EREATABRBABEZATE
AHE(EIER)

TR BEERTAIBREIERD
HEHEMBNBARE Z8LEHR :

3.5 Fair value estimation (continued)

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs
(level 3)

The following table summarises the quantitative information
about the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair
value measurements:

4

o2

TABR

£RTA b ER BARE TUBRERABBRAFEZBE
Financial Unobservable Relationship of unobservable
instruments Valuation technique  inputs inputs to fair value
AR E 7 HRRERE BRE 18.79%  MHAXRHER - RFHEBE

(20214 : TNER)
Convertible bonds  Discounted cash flow  Discount rate 18.79%  The higher discount rate, the lower fair value

(2021: N/A)

2022512 A31H @ (G EFTA EAM
BERBZIIAEZNERLT  BAREXEERE
EFRRE100ER LS, - AEEMF
A 555 ) 15 8 > #993,00078 7T 1 HN 49
94,0007 7T (20214 - @A) o

R2022F12 A318 @ fhEtEMAE
MEHRRFIAENBRT » ExER
MTEBEERSHREOME EF T
5% » N8 B HY A R F A5 o0, e
#7909,00078 7T (20214F : T@A) ©

R|ERR - LAAKERFA 22/
BERBIYAEMGE -

AR EH T RRE

At kA HREBE LR R EMEAR(E
EERBBEATRRBEENRKEMHTR
HY) FEERTS -

AREBERRIEL ZAMGEF REBER - RIE
EE HELNEGFETRISEERH
ERAREN - EERERREBAERT—
S BFEHEERBBRABEFELEXR
FEH EET RERRAANT

41 FENEERE

IR - FHRAFAERERATE
BRR AR EERM A G T
AESHERX - ZFHAERER
MR AR SGE R HE B U EE MY
BELRED - EEENSREHR
ExEHERAE o
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As at 31 December 2022, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in discount rates, with
all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit for the year
would decrease by approximately HK$93,000/increase by
approximately HK$94,000 (2021: N/A).

As at 31 December 2022, it is estimated that an increase/
a decrease of 5% in the probability of cash flows happening
under best case scenario, with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s profit for the year would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$909,000 (2021: N/A).

Valuation of the above financial asset held by the Group
as at the end of the reporting period was performed by an
independent valuer.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

ASSUMPTIONS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

4.1 Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated cost to
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based
on the current market condition and the historical experience
of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature.
Management reassesses the estimation at the end of each
reporting period.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

4 BARETHETRBRR(E

4.2 FT8%

4.2 Income taxes

AEBTEERTBLRPEANME
B EEEMSHBEABSAFELEXN
H - E R B EBBIET - ZTHRS
NEtEMREBIREE Y T © fd
ZEEENREBBEEREZIAR
MeB TR ZEE=REEVEFEDL
B RAET YRGS HR REERMSR
B -

BN EE R SR A AR RERT G
MAEEHEREZRARAEE
WEREEE TEREEZERBIEE
BHECEREREE - WAMERA
BETFEEZH  ZSERHETE

BT 2B MENECHEREE R
T3 VE 5 ST HE R,

4.3 EYCRRIERUE

AEBERIZARENR R R AN EE
KRR IREBURBERR - N
SENMEHZEMREITEXE - X
REASERSREHRNBEED
Hx - WITHIHARR LA LGS
PERARRE ENBABER o 35l
& W SR TRURR (B 7858 PR H B B A ET - i
BFHERAGAFEEZSE  REER
HEFERNARMAESHNIRRER
) LS 3K R B T % R MKk R R L S

18-

4ARDNFEFANEBEZEZESMEE

f&{E

BAVFEFABRZEHEEZRF
ECRUMRASREERE -

HRURBEREDN - EFFARKER
ME N R TGEPNRREB B K
R RITMSEMRERRABRE
Dls - EREERIBREN SR
TR RMAELMNREMDET - 3537
FRERBRANEREERRMATE
BRAHIE M RREEERMHEE3S

The Group is subject to income taxes mainly in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining
provision for income taxes. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the periods in
which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised as management
considers it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences or tax losses
can be utilised. Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the recognition
of deferred income tax assets and tax expense in the periods in
which such estimate is changed.

4.3 Impairment of receivables

The Group makes provision for impairment of receivables based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the
Group's historical default rates, existing market conditions as
well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. The identification of impairment of receivables requires
the use of judgment and estimates. Where the expectations are
different from the original estimates, such differences will impact
the carrying value of receivables and loss for the impairment of
receivables recognised in the periods in which such estimates
have been changed.

4.4 Valuation of financial asset at FVTPL

The fair value of financial asset at FVTPL has been determined
based on the discounted cash flow.

For a discounted cash flow analysis, estimated future cash flow
and discount rates are the best estimations made based on
future business plans and forecast, current market information
and rates applicable to financial instruments with similar yields,
credit quality and maturity characteristics. Discount rates are
influenced by risk-free interest rates and credit risk. Details of
the judgement and assumptions have been disclosed in Note 3.5.

BB A R AT
= Xzozziiﬁi 1 53
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5 WEKkoEHER 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

ARB/—FREBEBRARRAEEETE
REETEMRENIHFE -

TERERRECETERARAIITHAE
B o THRASEHARE A B E AR
EERBARNDEER - THRAEHCREZS

AREENEEAEEEAEENEE -
R A B — AT 2T LS -

BEFEMBERHE -

TR ARRIR NS M ENNFTEF GRS
7 EPHYRIR ©

HE2022F R2021F12A831BIEFE -
AEBERNAMBEREREEATFPEIINEG
4 WRE—EREEHER - BEUEER
MEETBURFI5R28ME2.23 -

(@ REXTEEF(HEHNERAE
BEAWFEN10%E L L) s

The Company is an investment holding company and the Group
is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of electronic
products.

The CODM has been identified as the CEO of the Company. The
CEO reviews the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The CEO has determined the
operating segment based on these reports.

The CEO considers the Group’s operation from a business
perspective and determines that the Group has one reportable
operating segment being the manufacturing and sales of electronic
products.

The CEO assesses the performance of the operating segment based
on a measure of revenue and gross profit.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, all of the
Group’s revenues were from contracts with customers and were
recognised at a point in time. Please refer to Note 2.23 for details of
accounting policies on revenue recognition.

(@ Revenue from major customers who have
individually contributed to 10% or more of the
total revenue of the Group

2022 2021

FET T

HK$’000 HK$’000

ZEA Customer A N/A* R f* 132,367

ZFB Customer B 143,251 125,387

®FC Customer C 158,796 120,556

®FD Customer D 136,334  N/A* TNEM*
* MEEEPRATERENESRASER *  The corresponding customers did not contribute over 10% of the

Yz 3810% ° total revenue of the Group for the denoted years.

1 54 WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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5 WERDEHBER(E) 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
(b) BEF BV E & 2/ 2 FU (b) Segment revenue by customers’ geographical
= location
AEBZEMBUE(ERRNUEE The Group’s revenue by geographical location, which is
E)Elp AT determined by the delivery location, is as follows:
2022 2021
FET FA&T
HK$’000 HK$'000
EE United States 496,838 430,948
JFEE Philippines 197,914 168,837
ERE Ireland 129,922 129,224
S ikt Malaysia 93,247 9,849
R United Kingdom 89,770 100,368
eyrizh= Mexico 75,848 6,026
O Hong Kong 56,669 6,980
st Switzerland 45,026 35,458
=8 The PRC 39,239 36,383
= Germany 33,826 24,154
eS| Netherlands 18,785 23,500
EWedn Estonia 827 24,480
HAb (KizE) Others (Note) 57,638 51,123
1,335,549 1,047,330
Mzt HEMEEeFoREAMBE  XE - Note: Others mainly include (i) European countries including Czech
BAM - B RImHRERNER & Republic, France, Italy, Norway and Sweden; and (ii) Australia,
(iR - EA - ENE - AT - 37 Canada, India, Israel, New Zealand, Singapore, Taiwan, Thailand,
R ETE - A8 B T HE Turkey and Vietnam.
R o

B ERERARAT
b % XZ()§25L\E§4§ 1 55
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5 WERDHER(E) 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

() ENEEFHE

(continued)

(c) Details of contract liabilities

2022 2021

FHBT T

HK$’000 HK$’000

BHIEE25Q) Contract liabilities (Note 25(a)) 25,354 61,161
B 5 Notes:

() BREEERITEPOEGEREET
EP A RIEEPYEERK -

(i) TRITHRAREFERZWEFZD
BN RERR

(i) Contract liabilities represent advanced payments received for
orders from the customers for goods of which the control has not
yet been transferred to the customers.

(i) The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
in the current reporting period relates to carried forward contract
liabilities:

2022 2021

FET FAxT

HK$’000 HK$'000

SAFEVIENEEESHZ Revenue recognised that was included 61,161 22,257

DR

in the contract liabilities balances at the

beginning of the year

(i) REITBAES

R2022F K%20214E12 A318 » AREE M
KBITH2PRAOEKHRE RIEH
RARR—FHNEH - Bt - RIBFEHBH
BHREERF 1SRN ERERER 25t
BE PEREEXSABITBHBEBENR
SHBIRI RIFTE

d) BN EESHIERBEE
2022F 202112 A31H » A&EE

FRBEERB(EEHREER TR
TABRINIR A TR :

(iii) Unsatisfied performance obligation

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all performance obligations
not yet satisfied by the Group were from contracts with original
expected duration of less than one year. Therefore, as permitted by
the relevant practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied performance obligations was
not disclosed.

(d) Non-current assets by geographical location
The total amounts of non-current assets, other than deferred tax

assets and financial instruments of the Group as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 were located in the following regions:

2022 2021
FET FET

HK$’000 HK$’'000

S5 Hong Kong 9,115 15,494
# The PRC 82,758 78,779
91,873 94,273

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2022
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6 EMEEIHNEX 6 EXPENSES BY NATURE

FEASHERA - SHERDHERAXIARITHR
M MerEEREBEBRNFOMIT

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses,
administrative expenses and impairment losses on financial assets

are analysed as follows:

2022 2021
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTA R A Raw materials used 941,990 693,649
1E B AR (FzEs) Employee benefit costs (Note 8) 230,199 191,382
EFEE12) Depreciation (Note 12) 39,250 34,016
B (MIRE13) Amortisation (Note 13) 791 1,662
FAMENEREE Short-term leases in respect of properties
(BE21(c)) (Note 21(c)) 825 1,262
B KR AARERSY Electricity, water and utility expenses 10,104 7,270
HEMEMX Sales commission expenses 9,346 14,083
FEM Consumables 6,375 8,229
BB NIk Freight and custom declarations 13,035 13,964
HIERRE Repair and maintenance 1,925 1,936
PBER Subcontracting fee . 8,200
HibFiE Other taxes 7,772 2,997
BEREAE Professional and consultancy fees 7,380 5,380
MAER Office expenses 1,784 1,377
ZHEME Auditor’s remuneration
— 2 RTE — Audit services 2,311 2,016
RITFEE Bank charges 1,772 1,661
RE2 Insurance 2,102 1,923
Bz Telecommunications 977 886
FERE/(FERE Provisions for inventories/(net reversal of
R FRE) (FisE17) impairment of inventories) (Note 17) 1,583 (88)
B 5 RIGRIBR B # Provision for impairment of trade receivables
(FffzE£20) (Note 20) 6,541 386
EIRE Travelling 1,171 446
8 TRiE Staff recruitment 3,006 923
B Donation 522 13
Hit Others 6,195 5,776
SHERAR - SHE M DRI« Total cost of sales, selling and distribution
TR AR ESREE expenses, administrative expenses and
RIEE B A impairment losses on financial assets 1,296,956 999,349
R nes 157
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7 HibFEBEREAMBRA 7 OTHER LOSSES, NET AND OTHER INCOME
(@) HiFEHE (@) Other losses, net

2022 2021
FTET THET
HK$’000 HK$'000
b 5 Wezs (E1E) Exchange gains/(losses) 7,318 (12,418)
PTESRMIAY Net realised losses from derivative (3,849) —

BB R ERFR financial instruments
HEWE - BER Loss on disposal of properties, (153) (2,325)

R EE plant and equipment
BRATHER ABEZ Loss on fair value changes of (13,090) -

SREEMNATEZEEIE financial asset at FVTPL

9,774) (14,743)
(b) E At A (b) Other income

2022 2021

FET FAT

HK$’000 HK$'000

R ATHEBh Government grants 3,278 1,740

HAth Others 10 =
3,288 1,740

8 EETAKE BIEEEMS 8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COSTS, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

2022 2021

FET FAT

HK$’000 HK$'000

TE - %He Rkt Wages, salaries and bonus 202,452 168,554
BINE A — FEHK Pension costs — defined contribution

T &I(fdzEa) schemes (Note a) 18,336 13,768

42 EE A Termination benefits 1,599 2,151

Hih 8 TR Other staff welfares 7,812 6,909

RIESREAFXZ Total employee benefit expenses
(BIEEEFN) (including directors’ remunerations) 230,199 191,382

1 5 8 WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2022
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8

EERAMAE  BRESHE

(%)

Bk

(@)

BARERA - RE KRG E
EV
RIRBFIRR A — FE kT8

REEDLHESHREES AR AEST
Zl([aEStE) —EaBUITATEDN
REHKETE) - RIERBELHE  AEEK
HESKREBWACERLBHMEATESIEN)
25%F ARGTEIELER - AEBREED
SEFIMAEFIIAF A1,5008 705 LR °

B 2T AR D R E A B R -

=]

1ZIRAP BRI AR A SORRMRE - ARERPE
BENMBARASEESAEREARNK
FEVEL TR - BT EREELHPEE N RE
BRI T{EMIE - B A RAEL RS AR
SETASLOMER - BXEE—PRERZ
SHFIMEARE IEREBIEHERX
- ZERREBHRING BB B ERINME
BMEERASERE -

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COSTS, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(@)

Pension costs — defined contribution schemes
Hong Kong
Retirement benefit costs — defined contribution schemes

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, the Group and its employees make monthly contributions
to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under
the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Both the Group’s and the
employees’ mandatory contributions are subject to a cap of HK$1,500
per month.

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable
in future year.

The PRC

As stipulated under the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC, the
Group’s subsidiary operating in the PRC contributes to state-sponsored
retirement plans for its employees. Depending on the provinces of
the employees’ registered residences and their current region of work,
the subsidiary contributes certain percentages of the basic salaries of
its employees and has no further obligations for the actual payment
of pensions or post retirement benefits beyond the contributions. The
state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to the retired employees.

EFERERERAT
202245,
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8 EEBARA ©IEEEMSE 8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COSTS, INCLUDING

(%&)
GEREC)

(b) EEBRSHFMAL

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

HE2022F12A318LFE AEBRER The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group
SEHEMALTREMBES(2021F : =& include 2 directors for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 3
=) HiMe RMAEMGE33Z2TE DM H & directors) whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in
F2022F 12831 B IEFE - BNBAT=8A Note 33. The emoluments payable to the remaining 3 individuals for the

T(2021F : MBAAL)BBST -

year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 2 individuals) are as follows:

2022 2021
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
I%5 - ekt Wages, salaries and bonus 5,121 3,556
RGN — FREHFETE Pension costs — defined contribution schemes 54 29
5,175 3,585
BlesEmT The emoluments fell within the following bands:
A
Number of individuals
2022 2021
[ fea | Emolument bands
1,500,001/ 7T 22,000,000/ 7T HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 2 2
2,000,0017#7T,22,500,000748 7T HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1 -
3 2
HE2022F %20215F12 A31HIEFE - K& During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no emoluments
EfEnEESESEERSHMA T AME were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the five highest paid
B <& 5 7% hi BB 5 72 in B2 7N 5% 1B ) B2 sk A individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss of office.

1 60 WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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9 FREKA 9 FINANCE COSTS, NET
2022 2021
FER FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
SRITERF B YA Interest income on bank deposits (541) (41)
AR ESHF B Interest income on convertible bonds (184) -
e 22D )
RITIERH B F Interest expenses on bank borrowings 9,300 5,111
TEBEN SRS (MEE21(b)) Interest expenses on lease liabilities (Note 21(b)) 2,219 2,460
B E AR Finance costs 11,519 7,571
SFRVE R Finance costs, net 10,794 7,530
10 PSRRI 10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

HZE2022F12A31HIEFE  FEFEH
EERFREETERTE N A16.5%F M °
HE2021F 128318 LFE - AEETE
REBERMERTES - BITETIRE
TSRS R -

HZE2022F 12 A31HILFE - AEBIE
AR B (] FE SR B s )+ B TR b
X[ 2REH ) EE - BZE2021
F12A318LEFE - AEBTEFHAKNB
D RBIRIEAET R 5% MM ZEFFEH o

HZE2021F12A31 B IEFE @ EARRR
Fh B ) EIRANIR R SR 0 A% BB 5 % T 0
o BE2022F12A31BEFE - AAF]
I B B[R ESR AN R EIRARE. ©

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Hong Kong profits tax
has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profit for the year. During the year ended 31 December 2021, no
provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had
no assessable profit in Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no provision for
corporate income tax (“CIT”) has been provided as the Group had
no assessable profit in China. During the year ended 31 December
2021, the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC was subject to CIT at a
standard rate of 25%.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a 5% withholding tax
was levied on dividend declared by the Company in the PRC to its
foreign shareholder. During the year ended 31 December 2022, no
dividend was declared by the Company in the PRC to its foreign
shareholder.

2022 2021
FHxT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000

BERFT1S AR Current income tax
—HBMEH — Hong Kong profits tax 7,550 =
— MG - PRCCIT - 4,662
7,550 —
EIEFTS R (BI5E22) Deferred income tax (Note 22) (3,371) 2,666
FrERiFM X Income tax expense 4,179 7,328

BEERERERAT
b Xzozz%;& 1 61
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10 FriS®ifA < (&) 10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
AN B RR TS 85 B s M BV A IR A Bl The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the
AR AR B R B A B A s theoretical amounts that would arise using the weighted average tax
MERFIEAMNIERESTELT ¢ rate applicable to profits of subsidiaries of the Group as follows:
2022 2021
FHET THET
HK$’000 HK$'000
B PSR A& Profit before income tax 19,313 27,448
1ZE R R B A Tax calculated at tax rates applicable to
SEFIRF R E BIA profits of the respective subsidiaries 2,713 6,453
LATIEE MTHIER 2 Tax effect of:
BIERTFUBA Income not subject to tax (656) (330)
AT Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 3,138 961
B FE L Y =22 Effect of PRC withholding tax (466) 719
AR S Research and development tax credit (550) (475)
TSt FE 2 Income tax expense 4,179 7,328
11 BRER 11 EARNINGS PER SHARE
BRERBMDIBRBEFARRREEFE The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
AR TR AE 217 E BmAR A hnfE 19 attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
HEtE o average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

BZ12A31HILLEE
Year ended 31 December

2022 2021
(s &3t)
(Restated)
RNAFIERFTE ARL Profit for the year attributable to equity holders
FRRA(FHETT) of the Company (HK$’000) 15,134 20,120
BRETEER Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
IR (TRR) issue ('000) 100,000 100,000
FRTE AN RS B GBL) Basic and diluted earnings per share (HK cents) 15.1 20.1
2022F9A 168 * AARIB - +RE# On 16 September 2022, every twenty issued and unissued ordinary
TR ARBITEBRA HRARR — RN shares of the Company were consolidated into one share of the
(TRBEH]) - sTEERERRE SR Company (the “Share Consolidation”). Comparative figures of the
ZROIEFIOEE 2 BB FEERR weighted average number of shares for calculating basic earnings
R EHREFAERNBER TETELR - per share and diluted earnings per share have been restated on the
assumption that the Share Consolidation had been effective in the
prior year.
FR - WEBITEINBEEETERRE There were no differences between the basic and diluted earnings
MERERNREERN W EESR per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares

outstanding during the year.
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12 9% - BMERKRE

12 PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

HEWE &R RER BER
EREEE %1% WORHE Ha AE st
Furniture,
fixtures
Right-of-use Leasehold and office Plant and Motor
assets improvements  equipment  machineries vehicles Total
T FAT TAT T T FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
®202151818 At 1 January 2021
AR Cost 91,066 43,015 20,831 106,096 3,002 264,010
RitHhE Accumulated depreciation (57,599) (37,104) (14,189) (60,150) (2,228) (171,270)
REFE Net book amount 33,467 5,911 6,642 45,946 774 92,740
5220215 Year ended 31 December 2021
12A31HLEE
R F(E Opening net book amount 33,467 5,911 6,642 45,946 774 92,740
RE Additions 9,768 647 3,550 17,754 169 31,888
e Depreciation (15,920) (1,815) 2,590) (13,904) (337) (34,566)
e Disposals = (27) (529) 2,263) (333) (3,152)
EREE Exchange differences 972 166 286 2,086 13 3,523
HARREEE Closing net book amount 28,287 4,882 7,359 49,619 286 90,433
120215128318 At31 December 2021
B Cost 104,687 44,980 23,949 123,709 2,277 299,602
RIHhE Accumulated depreciation (76,400) (40,098) (16,590) (74,090) (1,991) (209,169)
BEFE Net book amount 28,287 4,882 7,359 49,619 286 90,433
BZ022F Year ended 31 December 2022
12A31ALFE
HI R E Opening net hook amount 28,287 4,882 7,359 49,619 286 90,433
NE Additions 30,900 1,353 2,432 9,085 - 43,770
hE Depreciation (20,484) (2,021) (2,458) (14,165) 37) (39,165)
& Disposals - - (109) (60) - (169)
BN =8 Exchange differences (2,431) (234 (377) (2,882) (18) (5,942)
HRREFE Closing net book amount 36,272 3,980 6,847 41,597 231 88,927
720225128318 At 31 December 2022
AR Cost 127,565 43,437 24,450 123,508 2,117 321,077
Z:HTE Accumulated depreciation (91,293) (39,457) (17,603) (81,911) (1,886) (232,150
REFE Net book amount 36,272 3,980 6,847 41,597 231 88,927

HE2022F12831HIEFE - ITERAX
#79,446,0007% 7T (2021 4F : 9,194,00075
J0) B TR 2 0Bk 5 4929,804,00075 7T
(20214 : 24,822,000/ 7T ) E M 5 Ak 4%

kR °

During the year ended 31 December 2022, depreciation expense
of approximately HK$9,446,000 (2021: HK$9,194,000) has
been charged in administrative expense and approximately
HK$29,804,000 (2021: HK$24,822,000) has been charged in cost of
sales respectively.

BFERERERAR
20224
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13 EFEE 13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
RGE M
System
Software
FHT
HK$’000
M2021F1 818 At 1 January 2021
[DE Cost 6,829
RETEEH Accumulated amortisation (4,369)
BREVFE Net book amount 2,460
HZE2021F12A31HILLEE Year ended 31 December 2021
EAIBREFE Opening net book amount 2,460
NE Additions 137
255 (ko) Amortisation (Note 6) (1,662)
HPRBREDFE Closing net book amount 935
R2021F12831H At 31 December 2021
DN Cost 6,966
Kt Accumulated amortisation (6,031)
BRmFE Net book amount 935
HZE2022F12A31HILLEE Year ended 31 December 2022
HAYIAREDFE Opening net book amount 935
NE Additions 557
#5H (fisEe) Amortisation (Note 6) (791)
PEH =5 Exchange differences 1
HAREREFE Closing net book amount 700
7M2022512H831H At 31 December 2022
[D#N Cost 7,522
Rt Accumulated amortisation (6,822)
REFEE Net book amount 700
BZE2022F 12 A31HIEFE - #BHAA During the year ended 31 December 2022, amortisation expense
791,000/8 7T (20214 : 1,662,000 7T) & of approximately HK$791,000 (2021: HK$1,662,000) has been
PITERFE S H0RR © charged in administrative expenses.
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14 BERSSHNEMITA 14 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES
2022 2021
FExT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
EREE Financial assets
BAHERT AR Financial asset at FVTPL (Note 15)
erEEME15) 9,094 -
IR EK AT EN S REE Financial assets at amortised cost
& 5 A (Mi5E20) Trade receivables (Note 20) 368,267 275,183
e M EM WA (MFE16) Deposits and other receivables (Note 16) 8,229 2,933
RekReEEYW(HEE18) Cash and cash equivalents (Note 18) 209,823 207,272
RITFER(MEE18) Bank deposits (Note 18) 32,370 =
627,783 485,388
cRBeE Financial liabilities
REEK AT EN S RIAE Financial liabilities at amortised cost
B S RIAE(MEE23) Trade payables (Note 23) 332,591 233,494
Hi R IARETER Other payables and accruals
(M45E25) (Note 25) 116,932 126,761
HEaEPEE21) Lease liabilities (Note 21) 37,938 32,899
FER IR (MI7E24) Bills payables (Note 24) 3,614 15,680
RITIER (FIEE27) Bank borrowings (Note 27) 275,340 249,900
FEHREER A BB (M7E32)  Amount due to a related company (Note 32) 338 636
766,753 659,370

EFEBERERAT
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15 BAVEFABRSNERMEE

15 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL

2022 2021
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BATEFABZHNSEEE  Financial asset at FVTPL
— AR ES () — Convertible bonds (Note) 9,094 =

MiEE - 202243 A22 B » 7N £ @ B Talentone

Technology Limited ([TTL])ETSZ R85 -
Bit - AEBREZEREATILETHMAL AR
& 4858 544,000,000/ TR AT R E S o IfE
R E W T RRE R AT 2 SR o

M2022F3 A28 AEBURE
22,000,000/ T REE —BLERTTLE T 2]
BRES - N - IRBRE RS - ANEEE
7202249 A AR E22,000,00078 TTREE 5
ZHEATHARRE SR o AT - BB R AIRRRE S
WRBCHERZ MBRIERBE &L R
IR REER S RT A T AR o

F—HARRESFAEER  REMNXR1%
FTEWARE AR ESRE AL
A DR2FEREE @S ARk
EFREAREZIMAL  ShEE%
TTL 10%M XD ©

BAFEFABRSNEREEZZEINT -

Note: On 22 March 2022, the Group entered into a subscription agreement

with Talentone Technology Limited (“TTL”) pursuant to which the
Group agreed to subscribe two tranches of convertible bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$44,000,000 issued by TTL. The
subscription is subject to the fulfillment of the conditions precedents
set out in the subscription agreement.

On 22 March 2022, the Group subscribed the first tranche of
convertible bonds issued by TTL at a consideration of HK$22,000,000.
In addition, pursuant to the subscription agreement, the Group shall
subscribe the second tranche of convertible bonds at a consideration
of HK$22,000,000 in September 2022. However, the subscription
of the second tranche of convertible bonds has been deferred until
and unless the conditions precedent as set out in the subscription
agreement are fulfilled or waived by the contracting parties.

The first tranche of the convertible bonds are unsecured, bear
interest at 1% per annum and repayable at 2 years from the date of
first tranche of convertible bonds subscription (“Maturity Date”) or
convertible into a maximum of the 10% equity shares of TTL from the
date of the second tranche of convertible bonds subscription until the
Maturity Date.

The movement of the financial asset at FVTPL is as follows:

2022 2021

FaT FBT

HK$’000 HK$'000

W1A1H At 1 January _ _

RE Addition 22,000 -
FEETFIE Interest accrued 184

e 2 EW R ER Fair value changes recognised in consolidated
Z ANEEE) statement of comprehensive income (13,090) -
R®12A31H At 31 December 9,094 =

EMEEATERRL T ERBER AR
BAHEES.S © ABUUBTTIHE -

166
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determining fair value is set out in Note 3.5. The balance is
denominated in HKS.
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16 FENFIE - RERHEMEIWFE 16 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

15 RECEIVABLES
2022 2021
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEENEAER D Non-current portion
e (Miita) Deposits (Note a) 3,323 1,708
WHEZ - B KA Prepayments for acquisition of properties,
FEFIB plant and equipment 2,246 1,197
5,569 2,905
BNEAER Current portion
SEUNEE] Prepayments 10,500 11,401
Ze (fita) Deposits (Note a) 249 297
Hb e FiTE N Al Ug @8 (EFR  Other tax receivables and VAT recoverable 13,061 15,006
Hh fE YRR IA (P 7Ea) Other receivables (Note a) 4,657 928
28,467 27,632
34,036 30,537

BEE Note:

@@ 20225 K2021F12A31H @ RE REAME (@) As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of deposits
WA SR ERE A TERE - ZREEHRA and other receivables approximated their fair values. These balances
EIEERRE were unsecured and interest-free.

AEENES REAMEKFIENREERATEE The carrying amounts of the Group’s deposits and other receivables were

FHE : denominated in the following currencies:

2022 2021

FHExT FHET

HK$'000 HK$’000

ARE(TARE]) Renminbi (“RMB”) 3,013 1,624
BT HKS$ 5,216 1,309
8,229 2,933

BERRERARAR
b Xzozzfiti& 1 6 7
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17 7€ 17 INVENTORIES
2022 2021
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
=M Raw materials 174,799 206,607
B Work in progress 12,276 17,233
BURK o Finished goods 40,771 64,888
227,846 288,728

HE2022F12A831BILFEE #RAA
AW ABEERNETNTFERRD R
1,133,753,000/8 7T (20214 : 844,864,000
PETT) o

HZE2022F 12 A31HILFE  FERER
%#91,583,000/8 7T (20214F : F &R ER
5] 5 58 4788,00078 7T ) A 1B 3 FE R 51 A
[SHERA] -

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in cost
of sales during the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
approximately HK$1,133,753,000 (2021: HK$844,864,000).

Impairment provision for inventories amounting to approximately
HK$1,583,000 (2021: net reversal of impairment of inventories
amounting to approximately HK$88,000) was recognised to profit
or loss and included in “cost of sales” during the year ended 31
December 2022.

18 RERAEEEY 18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2022 2021
FET FA&T
HK$’000 HK$’000
RITIRE Cash at banks 241,839 207,172
FHER® Cash on hand 354 100
RITBE S LFHEES Cash at banks and on hand 242,193 207,272
W ERITIER Less: Bank deposits (32,370) =
RENREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 209,823 207,272
SalsERR Maximum exposure to credit risk 241,839 207,172

Re RS EEMIGERSRERME
BEATIER

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purpose of
the consolidated statement of cash flows:

2022 2021

TR TET

HK$’000 HK$'000

ReRREEFEY Cash and cash equivalents 209,823 207,272
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18 REREELEEBY(E) 18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

ARER SRR S EENOBRTEL TS
EHEHE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were
denominated in the following currencies:

2022 2021
FHBT T

HK$’000 HK$’000

AR RMB 869 18,763
ETT usD 230,320 146,707
BT HK$ 10,947 41,609
Hi Others 57 193
242,193 207,272

RITRE (R HIRBE=[EAMIRTE
FOMRIZ S B SRITHEFR R I%F B MREUH
5\ o

R2022F12 A31H » AEBEVIREIR B
=@ A IR T R ERRFIE 53.82% ©

R2022F 20215128318 » e &R
S EEY RV EIR A = 8 A Wik1TF
MR EREEEE R FEES ©

M2022F 12 A318 - AEEHR© KR
S ZBWH 510,693,000 7T (2021 4
12,630,000/ 7T) * 17 BI3E ARIIRTT
i 45 & & FE o B 5 AP B R AT 28 R B9 SN FE
EHIFR B SZEIRETIRR ©

Cash at banks except for the bank deposits with initial terms over
three months earned interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposits rate.

As at 31 December 2022, the effective interest rate of the Group’s
bank deposits with initial terms over three months was 3.82%.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of cash
and cash equivalents and bank deposits with initial terms over three
months approximated their fair values.

As at 31 December 2022, cash and cash equivalents of the
Group amounting to approximately HK$10,693,000 (2021:
HK$12,630,000) were deposited with the banks in the PRC where
the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the
government of the PRC.

B BB 2R ARAT
b Xzozziiif; 1 69
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19 REEEENRE

M2022F3 828 "EBUKRE
2,000,000/8 T W EETTL 10%M%#E » TTLE
ENEETERRERES - EEECDF
HUEEAEEERAESSRRRELD
HmZ o A ERES - At - %%
BESEANEGELENRE -

REZERENRE ZZEINT

19 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

On 22 March 2022, the Group acquired 10% equity interest in TTL
at a consideration of HK$2,000,000. TTL is principally engaged in
the manufacturing and trading of electronic products. Management
has assessed and determined that the Group has joint control thereon
through a board representation and other arrangements made.
Accordingly, this investment has been classified as an investment in
a joint venture.

Movements in the investment in a joint venture are as follows:

2022 2021
FET TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
M A1E As at 1 January _ _
MEEEETE Capital injection to a joint venture 2,000 -
BEDE T ELER Share of loss of a joint venture (2,000) =
®12H318 As at 31 December - -
BEREFE Details of a joint venture:
3LV
BRESH A AEER ARG RS ERER
Place of business/ % of ownership
country of interest Measurement
Name of entity incorporation 2022 2021 method Principal activities
Talentone Technology &% 10%  TNER ##@X ETEMRENES
Limited
Talentone Technology ~ Hong Kong 10% N/A  Equity method ~ Manufacturing and trading of
Limited electronic products
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19 REELHENIRE ()

19 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued)

RN R E Summarised statement of financial position

2022

HK$’000

FERT

(Unaudited)

(RESEX)

mENEE Current assets 20,287
FEMBEE Non-current assets 1,331
REBE Current liabilities (17,298)
EmEBBIE Non-current liabilities (22,230)
AEFsE Net liabilities (17,910)

ZHRRRBE Summarised statement of comprehensive income

For the period

from 22 March

2022 to

31 December

2022

720225

3A22B &

2022F

12A31H

HAMS

HK$’000

FER

(Unaudited)

(RESEX)

e Revenue -
e K Depreciation and amortisation (806)
B Interest expense (225)
R Operating expenses (37,232)
FREE Loss for the year (38,263)
PSR X Income tax expense .
FRE2HEBEAHE Total comprehensive loss for the year (38,263)

BEBFERERAR]
. Xzozz%ﬁ& 1 71
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20 B 5 BRI

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES

2022 2021

TERT FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

B 5 e R aE Trade receivables 376,650 277,025

BB S REWEIR R E R Less: provision for impairment of trade

receivables (8,383) (1,842)

368,267 275,183
M2022F K2021F12 318 - BHEW As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of trade

FIEMBREEREE A HERS

AEFBEENEERNT15 212075 -

MR2022F 2021512 A31H » BRI
A (MNBRRE) R R H B ERER D T

receivables approximated their fair values.

The Group’s sales are made on credit terms ranging from 15 to 120
days.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the aging analysis of trade
receivables, net of impairment, based on invoice date, were as

™~ follows:
2022 2021
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
0Z290:K 0 to 90 days 307,081 240,049
91£365K 91 to 365 days 60,857 33,871
365 KA | Over 365 days 329 1,263
368,267 275,183

72022512 A318 © 49156,165,00078 7T
(20214 : 70,160,000/ 7T ) K & 5 FE U 3k

O BHERRE -

72
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As at 31 December 2022, trade receivables amounting to

approximately HK$156,165,000 (2021: HK$70,160,000) were past
due but not impaired.
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20 EZEWFIE(E) 20 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
BRI IAREREE BBNT Movements of the provision for impairment of trade receivables

were as follows:

2022 2021
THERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
TREEA] At beginning of the year 1,842 1,456
B S RWGIBE R E Provision for impairment of trade receivables
(R ERIEZE) on an individual basis 5,595 251
B 5 IRBGRIBR E Provision for impairment of trade receivables
(FRHEEE) on a collective basis 946 135
RER At end of the year 8,383 1,842
REENE HREFIENREENLTIE The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables were
A denominated in the following currencies:
2022 2021
FTHExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ETT usD 357,582 262,827
AR RMB 10,530 11,682
BT HK$ 146 662
BT EURO 9 12
368,267 275,183
2022 R2021512 A31 B &S EE The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 December 2022 and
[B g A XAt E 5 W IE R BREE © 2021 was the carrying value of the trade receivables mentioned
REE W EFFH EA IR R IERER - above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

BEBRIERERAR]
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21 HE
(@) RERE MR R RERWRIE

FABBIRRRIIR AT HEREN
B - assRst ABER12%  BE R

21 LEASES

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the
following amounts relating to leases and that the balances were

& included in Note 12 “Properties, plant and equipment”:
2022 2021
FEx TET
HK$’000 HK$’000
EREEE Right-of-use assets
LYJES Properties 36,272 28,287
BE2022F12 A31ALLFE - REE

A # %8 B 30,900,000 7T (2021 £ -
9,768,000/ 7T) °

There were additions to the right-of-use assets amounted to
HK$30,900,000 during the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: HK$9,768,000).

2022 2021
FaT FBT
HK$’000 HK$'000

HEaE Lease liabilities
JEmENE D Non-current portion 24,962 15,741
mENEL Current portion 12,976 17,158
37,938 32,899

AEENHEERBENREEATIIE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s lease liabilities were

HEHE denominated in the following currencies:
2022 2021
FHT THET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT HK$ 4,049 7,236
ARE RMB 33,889 25,663
37,938 32,899

WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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21 HE (&)

21 LEASES (continued)

(b) RERE2E W R KRB NIE (b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income
GRAEERERIRATHEMRBER The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows the
g : following amounts relating to leases:
2022 2021
THET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
ERAEEENERX Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
(BteE12) (Note 12)
L7ES Properties 20,484 15,920
HEEEMERA(FHEE9)  Finance costs on lease liabilities (Note 9) 2,219 2,460
() REAHESRERERWEIE (c) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of cash flows
HE2022F % 2021F12 A31 8 IHE The total cash outflows for leases during the years ended 31
B AEAENEBESTHIT December 2022 and 2021 were as follow:
2022 2021
FHET THET
HK$’000 HK$'000
KETFEHELENESHRE  Cash flows from operating activities
BRATEIER Payments for short-term leases
SHAEENRK in respect of:
— M+ (Fiste) — Properties* (Note 6) 825 1,262
BMETEHELNRSHRE  Cash flows from financing activities
XRHEEAEC Payment of interest element of lease
F 2 & (FsE9) liabilities (Note 9) 2,219 2,460
XNEERBZ AR Payment of principal element of lease
liabilities 23,322 16,828
26,366 20,550
* BEHEENFAREBZ - ERBE *  Payments for short-term leases were not shown separately, but
BORRT AR EE29@) P 25 EELEN included in the line of “profit before income tax” in respect of the

FHR AR FRATSHEDEN PRE A -

net cash generated from operations which were presented in Note
29(a) using the indirect method.

BFEREEERAT
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22 IR FTEH 22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

A RBIRRRATFIRBEATIERR ¢

The amounts shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position include the following:

2022 2021
FHExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FREFIRE = Deferred tax assets 6,453 4,121
FEETIBE(E Deferred tax liabilities (1,615) (2,170)
BEFHIBEE Deferred tax assets, net 4,838 1,951
BIELERIEAE SBNT The movements on net deferred tax assets were as follows:
2022 2021
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
®1A1R At 1 January 1,951 3,904
RERE 2 HEER Charged/(credited) to the consolidated statement
Nk (ABR)(KsE10) of comprehensive income (Note 10) 3,371 (2,666)
FANREENL LS Reversal upon payment of withholding tax - 524
PEH =% Exchange differences (484) 189
M12A318 At 31 December 4,838 1,951
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IRIEFTEH (&) 22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
B ZE2022F R2021F12A31BIEFE - The movement in deferred tax assets during the years ended 31
R IEE EREE) (R &t IR AR December 2022 and 2021, without taking into consideration the
FERDERER AR AT - offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, was as
follows:
%A
REER
B HEESE HEER et
Right-of-use
assets and
lease
Provisions liabilities Tax losses Total

FTAT TAT THT TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

120211818 At 1 January 2021 2,730 1,322 1,808 5,860
Rigae2mElak Credited/(charged) to the
AR/ (40RR) consolidated statement of
comprehensive income 146 (167) (1,808) (1,829)
MEN = Exchange differences 138 51 - 189

M2021F12A318 K& At 31 December 2021 and

202291418 1 January 2022 3,014 1,206 - 4,220
RErE EERE T (Charged)/credited to the
(30B%) / ANBE consolidated statement of
comprehensive income 396 (762) 3,146 2,780
b H =%F Exchange differences (238) 27) (219) (484)
72022412 318 At 31 December 2022 3,172 417 2,927 6,516
BERERIAE BTy A FEARRA T A5 M a5 8 Al 8 Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry-forwards to the
BRARERTOGANBE ML AE 27l extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through the future
EHERIEHER - HEME R R TIEE taxable profits is probable. The tax losses of the PRC subsidiary will
BN EFRER - 120225124318 - expire in 5 years. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s unused
REBAREMB BB AR 2027 F & © tax losses will be expired in 2027. The Group did not have other
M2022F 2021612 A31H » REEW material unrecognised deferred tax assets as at 31 December 2022
EHMBARERRTENIAEE and 2021.

BERBRIRARAT
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22 JEFEF{SHE () 22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
HE2022F K2021F12A31BLEFE - The movement in deferred tax liabilities during the years ended
IEETTE B BN &) (R & MK EMRF 31 December 2022 and 2021, without taking into consideration
EEERERm AR IAT ¢ the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, was as
follows:
IERBIETE REHZBF Y
Accelerated tax Unremitted

depreciation earnings Total

TATT TAT TAETT

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

M202141818 At 1 January 2021 (387) (1,569) (1,956)

WirA2mEWEERFIIB  Charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive

income (118) (719) (837)
5 A B B 8 2 ) Reversal of deferred income tax
i M1 B [ R AT liabilities upon distribution of
FEfiasE profits from PRC subsidiary - 524 524

72021412 8318B% At 31 December 2021 and
20221 A1H 1 January 2022 (505) (1,764) (2,269)
AEEEEWFRAE  Credited to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive

income 125 466 591
K2022%12A31H At 31 December 2022 (380) (1,298) (1,678)
2022812 A318 - REME R RAIKRE As at 31 December 2022, total unremitted earnings of PRC
H 2 F 42884 /525,954,000 7T (2021 4F subsidiary amounted to approximately HK$25,954,000 (2021:
35,276,000/7T) ° HK$35,276,000).
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23 E5BNARE 23 TRADE PAYABLES
2022 2021
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
Z SR EIR Trade payables 332,591 233,494
2022 K2021F12 8318 - ESEN As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the aging analysis of trade
FIEREZ R HRNRE S ITOT - payables, based on invoice date, were as follows:
2022 2021
FTHERT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
0Z290K 0 to 90 days 222,318 186,639
912365k 91 to 365 days 106,608 45,429
365 KA E Over 365 days 3,665 1,426
332,591 233,494
AEBEZRNFIENRAEBENTIIEE The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables were
FHE denominated in the following currencies:
2022 2021
THET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT HK$ 16,023 15,800
ETT uUsD 139,867 73,947
AR RMB 166,146 143,325
BT EURO 10,151 252
Hh Others 404 170
332,591 233,494
2022 K20215612A318 » B EN As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of trade
AR REEEE A TEES payables approximated their fair values.

BFERERERAT
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24 B EE 24 BILLS PAYABLES
2022 2021
T FHIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
EREE Bills payables 3,614 15,680

MR2022F %2021 FE12 8318 » ENEE

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the aging analysis of bills
HERZHHORESTIT

payables, based on invoice date, was as follow:

2022 2021

FET FHT

HK$’000 HK$’000

=@ANLRA Within 3 months 3,614 15,680

MN2022F K2021FE12 8318 » EANEE
REREEHIAS T HER BEE AN ERE -

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of bills
payables were all denominated in HK$ and approximated their fair

values.
25 A E - HtERERE 25 CONTRACT LIABILITIES, OTHER PAYABLES AND
AERAUR LBUH%@EJJ ACCRUALS AND DEFERRED GOVERNMENT
GRANTS
@ aXNEE - HttESFIERE (a) Contract liabilities, other payables and accruals
FTEH
2022 2021
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEEHE BRI E Accrued employee benefit expenses 14,442 12,839
FEETHE SR Accrued sale commission expenses 8,097 13,984
HAtbfEET &R Other accruals 7,965 7,749
WEEM% - BB K& Payables for acquisition of properties,
AR FRIE plant and equipment 1,807 1,805
BEERE Customer deposits 76,336 78,925
Hofth e (< FIR Other payables 23,170 24,433
AHEEMIRES ) Contract liabilities (Note 5(c)) 25,354 61,161
157,171 200,896

M2022F }%2021%F12 A31H

EREAHEMES -

FBRE
&~ Ht AR ERT B AR RE

their fair values.
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25 ENEE HtENRIERE 25
FTE R RIEIE BT /B ()

@ aNEE  HttEARIERE
TEAGE)

ANER B ELA PR A5 SRR K A B B R AR
EEA NIIEREEHE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES, OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS AND DEFERRED GOVERNMENT
GRANTS (continued)

(@) Contract liabilities, other payables and accruals
(continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other payables and
accruals were denominated in the following currencies:

2022 2021

TFExT T

HK$’000 HK$’000

AR RMB 3,787 3,882
ETT usD 89,047 94,263
BIT HK$ 24,098 28,616
116,932 126,761

(b) ESE B AT #EBY (b) Deferred government grants

2022 2021

FET T

HK$’000 HK$’000

M1A1H At 1 January 1,303 1,203
FARABW Received during the year - 1,762
FRIRK Refund during the year (906) =

BOZ4cersmEliaR Released to the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income (397) (1,662)

- 1,303

SERNEAER 5 Non-current portion - 132
BUERER 7> Current portion - 1,171
- 1,303

BEBFERERAR]
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26 RE 26 DIVIDENDS

M202243 A30BETNESTE SR L
BEEEZRMNEZE2021F12 8318 1IHE
ERRER BB MAR0.058 T - A2
5,000,0008 7T ° IR ERE E2022F12 A
3TRLIEFEIRN ©

MR2023F3 A28 ITHNEE S 23
RARIESEZRRTEZ2022512H31H
IEFE R R S BT @A%0.058 T -
4 #£5,000,000/8 7T ° REAMR BN ZEERE
B HRERP AR ABEMARE - HEFRE
REEREEFT RS EH#ER - ZRER
R AEZE2023F12 A31 B IEFERNRF
WesH e o

* BATFESREERRHREZERNDEL
TR 20229 16 A Z DA HERIBHE
FEEEMR -

At the board meeting held on 30 March 2022, the directors
recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.05* per
ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2021, amounting to
a total of HK$5,000,000. The dividends were paid during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

At the board meeting held on 28 March 2023, the directors of the
Company recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.05
per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2022, amounting
to a total of HK$5,000,000. The final dividend was not reflected as
dividend payable in these consolidated financial statements, but will
be reflected as an appropriation of retained earnings for the year
ending 31 December 2023 after receiving shareholders’ approval at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

*  The final dividend per ordinary share information for the prior year has

been restated on the assumption that the share consolidation on 16
September 2022 has been effective in the prior year.

27 SRITER 27 BANK BORROWINGS

2022 2021
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
RITER—FHER R Bank loans — secured and repayable
AR BREE on demand 275,340 249,900

At M BRERERKRINEEZERITE The bank borrowings were repayable, without taking into account

AR the repayable on demand clauses, as follows:
2022 2021
TERT THTT
HK$’000 HK$'000
—FNR Within 1 year 270,840 239,400
—EF Between 1 and 2 years 4,500 6,000
—ERF Between 2 and 5 years - 4,500
275,340 249,900
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27 SRITER(E) 27 BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

MR2022%12A31H » B —§RTFER
A ] BE By 22 SR (E IR A MR IR RE R B0 16 3R
H) & %8 /& #9275,340,000 78 7T (2021 £ -
249,900,000/ 70 MR TIE KD ARENE
& THRERAZREBERITELIERZ
B o

M2022% K12 A318 - BITERE hiHEF
HEBRERNRE 56.4%(20214F : 2.0%) °

As at 31 December 2022, bank borrowings of approximately
HK$275,340,000 (2021: HK$249,900,000) which contain a clause
that gives the lender the unconditional right to demand repayment at
any time have been classified in current liability irrespective of the
probability that the lender will invoke the clause without cause.

As at 31 December 2022, the weighted average effective interest rate
on bank borrowings was 6.4% (2021: 2.0%) per annum.

R2022F K2021F12 A318 * AEER
RITEFIABTRE - BREAFEM

++

Eo

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, bank borrowings of the Group
were denominated in HK$ and approximated their fair values.

MR2022F 20216128318 » KEER
ITIERZIRITRVE Th AR R Al S = MR
RRAREZBERERARAIERER KBS
P Ry EGE BRI o

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings
and banking facilities were secured by a letter of undertaking from
Mr. Raymond Chu, a director and Controlling Shareholder of the
Company, and Mr. Wilson Chu, a Controlling Shareholder of the
Company.

28 BRAR R RE 28 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

RDEE HE MR A8
Number Nominal Share
of shares value premium
T FHT FAT
‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000
202151 H18 ~ 20214 At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and
12A31H%2022%F1A1H 1 January 2022 2,000,000 20,000 80,355
f&fn& oF (FdsEa) Share Consolidation (Note a) (1,900,000) = -
72022412 A318 At 31 December 2022 100,000 20,000 80,355
Bt 5 Note:
(@) M2022F9A816H - B +HRADRBEEITR (@ On 16 September 2022, every twenty issued and unissued ordinary
RBITEBREHR/ERRF RN - shares of the Company were consolidated into one share of the

Company.

BEEEERARAT
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29 IMERERERME 29 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

@ REELENRS (@) Cash generated from operations
2022 2021
TER FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
R PS8 AR R Profit before income tax 19,313 27,448
FATRIRIELARE - Adjustments for:
BE WA (P3E9) Finance income (Note 9) (725) (41)
A& R AN (H13E9) Finance costs (Note 9) 11,519 7,571
e (fisE12) Depreciation (Note 12) 39,250 34,016
BESH (M5T13) Amortisation (Note 13) 791 1,662
FERE/ (FERE Provision for inventories/(net reversal of
B eEEE) (FisE17) impairment of inventories) (Note 17) 1,583 (88)
B S RUGRIBRERE Provision for impairment of trade receivable
(Ff5E20) (Note 20) 6,541 386
HEWE - BE RRERETE Loss on disposal of properties, plant and
(Hf7E7(a)) equipment (Note 7(a)) 153 2,325
—HaELEZEN Share of loss of a joint venture (Note 19)
BB (MiEE19) 2,000 —
BAFEF ABZEMNEREE Loss on fair value changes of financial asset
2N FEESER(HF5)  at FVTPL (Note 15) 13,090 ~
BT Bh (B 3E25(b)) Government grants (Note 25(b)) (397) (1,662)
93,118 71,617
LERLHEY Changes in working capital:
— & 5 M H M EWEIE — Trade and other receivables (104,326) (34,987)
—ZE — Inventories 46,001 (144,398)
— EAFFRS 5 o A ek — Balances with related parties (298) 510
— B 5 KEMEFIE — Trade and other payables 68,673 144,415
—ERNEE - Bills payables (12,066) (4,648)
— IRIETR AT B — Deferred government grants (906) 1,654
REELNFRS Net cash generated from operations 90,196 34,163
184  “WISEALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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29 MEREREBRMT(E) 29 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

b) RESHSRERT  HEWY
R BERREREREAES

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows,
proceeds from disposal of properties, plant and
equipment comprised:

2022 2021

THET TET

HK$’000 HK$'000

HEREHE Net book amounts disposed 169 3,152

HEMZE - BER Loss on disposal of properties,

BaE GG plant and equipment (Note 7(a)) (153) (2,325)
HEME - BER Proceeds from disposal of properties,

RIS IR plant and equipment 16 827

(c) MEZDHELENRBHEROT

(c) The reconciliations of liabilities arising from

financing activities were as follows:

HESE RATER
Lease Bank
liabilities borrowings
FHT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
72021451818 At 1 January 2021 38,785 261,456
REeEmE Cash flows
—RITIE RS RIE — Proceeds from bank borrowings - 873,143
—BBIRITER — Repayment of bank borrowings - (884,699)
—SNHEEBEBZAEEH - Payment of principal element of lease
liabilities (16,828) —
—SNHEEREZFIEZHS - Payment of interest element of lease
liabilities (2,460) =
Hi IR 28 Other non-cash movements
—AEMHEBRRE — Addition of lease liability 9,768 —
—FERZ — Interest expenses 2,460 -
—[E = — Exchange difference 1,174 -
20215128318 K At 31 December 2021 and
20221818 1 January 2022 32,899 249,900
Rens Cash flows
— SRITIE RIS RIE — Proceeds from bank borrowings - 905,886
—([ERIFTTER — Repayment of bank borrowings - (880,446)
—YNEEBEZAREED - Payment of principal element of lease
liabilities (23,322) -
— S NHEEBBZMEED - Payment of interest element of lease
liabilities (2,219) -
Hi IR 2 28 Other non-cash movements
—AREMERRE — Addition of lease liability 30,900 -
—FBFX — Interest expenses 2,219 -
—[EH =5 — Exchange difference (2,539) -
R2022%128318 At 31 December 2022 37,938 275,340

BERBERARAT
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30 EEM B R FFE 30 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
REB2022F K2021F12 A31HA = The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022 and 2021
EMBARNT - BREAHBAIN - TRIE are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital
EHRAENBE AN ERFAEEEEEENTE consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly by the
FR4ARK - Bi5A 0 ET A RS L ISR A Group, and the proportion of ownership interests held equals the
EEHFRORE - T HE L BRI voting rights held by the Group. The countries of incorporation or
AHETBEEME, - registration are also their principal place of business.

FEERENEERER
Ownership interest held
by the Group
2022 2021
AR, BN
WEREA IREBR EBITR
WEAREH BERNER R EHERA HEER RrAkED
Place of incorporation/
registration and Principal activitiesand  Issued and fully Interest Interest
Name of subsidiary kind of legal entity place of operation paid up capital held held
B
Direct interests:
Brilliant Holdings RERENES REBRHES 1%
Investments Group ARAT ETRERR
Limited
Brilliant Holdings BVI; limited liability Investment holding usD1 100% 100%
Investments Group company in BVI
Limited
B -
Indirect interests:
BFERARAA B RERHEETER 100,000
BRARF
Wise Ally Holdings Hong Kong; limited Trading of electronic HK$100,000 100% 100%
Limited liability company products in Hong Kong
REBHNERBRAR & R B 12 64,800,000/
BRAF HEETEM
Dongguan Wise Ally The PRC; limited liability ~Manufacturing and trading  HK$64,800,000 100% 100%
Industrial Co., Ltd.* company of electronic products in
(REBRNEFARRT) the PRC

*  The English translation is for identification purpose only. This company
does not have official English name.
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31 BEAENE 31 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
RER - BFIRNERAEEEERERE Capital expenditure in relation to the purchases of plant and
Res 2 EARFAZAOT - machinery contracted for but not yet incurred at the end of the year

was as follows:

2022 2021
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
EETA B E R B Contracted but not provided for 507 1,823
32 B A R 5 R 32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES
RARE T A R N IE I - HRIE SIS E K Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control,
REUSFHERNNEMTTREATE jointly control or exert significant influence over the other party in
7 B RSEWRE SN RNEEMESK holding power over the investee; exposure, or rights, to variable
BRZAAEOR  URBRIERKRE returns from its involvement with the investee; and the ability to use
HREREN  UREREELDHRNEE its power over the investee to affect the amounts of the investor’s
BB T o RN T X BB RE 6 sk K R returns. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to
il - TRARAR S EEEE DT o BREE S AT LA A A common control or joint control. Related parties may be individuals
HEMERE - or other entities.
PERR AR PAMI FET. 1358 © The Controlling Shareholders are disclosed in Note 1.1.

EFEBERERAT
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EBAERIREER(E) 32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

FRAEASEFERXZNTERMBTIT

BB

Related parties

Major related parties that had transactions with the Group during the
year were as follows:

7A2022F % 2021512831 B EAREBERBIF
Relationship with the Group as at

31 December 2022 and 2021

BELE
Mr. Raymond Chu

Mr. Wilson Chu

WO S
Mr. Tsang Ming Chit Stanley

REAEE
Mr. Chan Chi Ming

RXELE
Mr. Chu Man Yin Arthur Newton

e
Mr. Lau Shui Fung

REEXARRAA

Defond Electrical Industries Limited

Talentone Technology Limited
Talentone Technology Limited

Smartview Investments Limited
Smartview Investments Limited

BAE -

(@) HEEAELEENR2021F9A30BBEARGE
ERITEARE, -

(b) PFREBBECEDR20215E10A31 HEIAR A
EEREEEER °

(€ KRXEXREER202157 A28 ERITAARA
RIES o

d BILtEELEEDHR2021F108108 %2021 4
NRA1BDREZEARRRIERVEERE
$ °
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EREREARBESR
Controlling Shareholder and Director of the Company

FERRRR R
Controlling Shareholder

RRREZ(K5Ea)
Director of the Company (Note a)

RRREFR(MEEDb)
Director of the Company (Note b)

RAREE(MEC)
Director of the Company (Note c)

RRREF(MEEd)
Director of the Company (Note d)

P F2E AR AR SR 2
Controlled by Controlling Shareholders

BEEH

Joint Venture

REER AT

Ultimate Holding Company

Notes:

(a)

Mr. Tsang Ming Chit, Stanley has been resigned as the director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 30 September 2021.

Mr. Chan Chi Ming has been resigned as the director and Chief
Operating Officer of the Company on 31 October 2021.

Mr. Chu Man Yin Arthur Newton has been appointed as the director of
the Company since 2 July 2021.

Mr. Lau Shui Fung has been appointed as the Chief Financial Officer and
the director of the Company since 10 October 2021 and 1 December
2021 respectively.
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32 BB R 5 K AR () 32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)
(a) EREBERE TS 2 A5 ER (a) Balance with related party
2022 2021
THERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ES5ME Trade nature
FEAS AR X B R Amount due to a related company
—REEXERAT — Defond Electrical Industries Limited
(%)) (“Defond”) 338 636
20224 2021612 4318 - EfH1E As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the amount due to Defond
CRERESME  EEM 2ER was trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable
BRARRT AR RMERER - within the next twelve months.
720226 %20215F12A318 » ERAE As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the aging analysis of the
BRI EZEHHRE ST ¢ amount due to Defond, based on invoice date, was as follows:
2022 2021
FTEx FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
0£30K 0 to 30 days 338 636

BEBFERERAR]
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32 BB S R 5 K 48k ()

(b) EREEEE T IR 5

B E B mEREMI D TIEES
AN B E2022F &2021F12A31H 1
FE - UTRZIREH R TERK
SRR B AT

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial

statements, the following transactions were carried out with
related parties during the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021, at terms mutually agreed by both parties:

Continuing transaction

@

Purchase of goods

2022 2021

TERT FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

BELREED Purchases of goods from Defond 1,818 3,249

LA R 5 TR K8 5 A8
BEHEMIGRRET - ARBES
RE - ZERZGTINAEENA
FBERBEREP WRIEHG R =
ERFRAETT ©

(i) AAREBEBTETERBEAER
HZE2022F K%2021412 A31 8 1F
FE > BETAREERITERAK
FE27 FT S AN A IR AR B A AR
BRI /3 o
(c) EEEIE B H N

EERFENHENEIEEREN
FENZIREN T -

(ii)

The above related party transactions were carried out on
terms mutually agreed between the parties. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, these transactions were
conducted in the ordinary course of business of the
Group and in accordance with the terms of the underlying
agreements.

Personal guarantee to secure the Group’s bank borrowings

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
certain bank borrowings of the Group were secured by a
letter of undertaking from the Controlling Shareholders of
the Company as set out in Note 27.

(c) Key management compensation

Compensation paid or payable to key management for employee
services is shown below:

190

2022 2021

FEx FAT

HK$’000 HK$'000

ITENG® Wages and salaries 18,041 18,152
BIREKA— Pension costs —

FEMKRETE defined contribution plan 144 107

18,185 18,259
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33 EENNRRER
@ EEME

BRESNFHEINT -

33 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(@) Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of each director is set out below:

ExH
BER  RAETE
e #e ML BNRIE e EJIE Y st
Employer’s
Allowances ~ contribution
Discretionary ~ and benefits  to pension  Termination
Fees Salary bonus in kind scheme benefits Total
TR TR THT TET TiEn TiEn TiEm
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BZ200F For the year ended
12A31HLLEE 31 December 2022
HITES Executive directors
-K2E - Chu Wai Hang Raymond
(7Hes) (CEQ) (Note i)
(f3Ei) - 3,600 604 - - - 4,204
—KXE(Hf3Ev) - Chu Man Yin Arthur
Newton (Note iv) - 1,300 20 - 18 - 1,338
—2|+&(fzkv) - Lau Shui Fung (Note v) - 1,800 15 - 18 - 1,833
BAUIHTEE  Independent non-executive
directors
— BB - Ling Imma Kit Sum 360 - - - - - 360
—BER — Lee Wa Lun Warren 360 - - - - - 360
— AR - Szeto Yuk Ting 360 - - - - - 360
1,080 6,700 639 - 36 - 8,455
éi@?ﬁﬂﬁﬁzﬁ%;?& 1 91
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33 EENRNERELRS(E) 33 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(continued)
(Q ESBEE(E) (@) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

BEEENHEWT - (8) The remuneration of each director is set out below: (Continued)

B4

28R RAkEHE

we e BERL EONE MR RLEEF st
Employer's

Allowances  contribution
Discretionary ~ and benefits ~ to pension  Termination
Fees Salary bonus in kind scheme benefits Total
TAL TATL TATL TATL TAT TATL TATL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BZ20215F For the year ended
12A31R.LEE 31 December 2021
RTES Executive directors
—-KEE — Chu Wai Hang Raymond
(1T 8H) (CEO) (Note i)
(Fitsi) - 1,046 600 - - - 1,646
— BB (Ji5Ei) - Tsang Ming Chit Stanley
(Note ii) - 2,340 - 1,080 13 528 3,961
—BREB (i) - Chan Chi Ming (Note iii) - 1,669 154 - - 144 1,967
—KXE(Miv) - ChuMan Yin Arthur
Newton (Note iv) = 692 20 = 9 = 721
—2IT&(FizEv) - Lau Shui Fung (Note v) = 100 15 = 2 = 17
BUJEHTES  Independent non-executive
directors
— BB - Ling Imma Kit Sum 300 - = - - - 300
—FEfy — Lee Wa Lun Warren 300 - - - - _ 300
— AIERE - Szeto Yuk Ting 300 - - - - _ 300
900 5,847 789 1,080 24 672 9,312
PZE Notes:
() KREELEEEN2021F9A30BEERT (i)  Mr. Raymond Chu has been appointed as the Chief Executive
RANRRITHAEE, - Officer of the Company since 30 September 2021.
(i) HBEABLEEBER20214F9 A30HFER (i) Mr. Tsang Ming Chit Stanley has been resigned as the director and
NREERITRES, Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 30 September 2021.
(i) FRAEBASLEAEDRR202110H831 BEHEAR (iii) Mr. Chan Chi Ming has been resigned as the director and Chief
NEEEREELEE o Operating Officer of the Company on 31 October 2021.
(iv) RXEFLREBR2021F7A2BEZER (iv) Mr. Chu Man Yin Arthur Newton has been appointed as the
RARES - director of the Company since 2 July 2021.
(v) ZBILEEEER2021F10A10H %2021 (v) Mr. Lau Shui Fung has been appointed as the Chief Financial
F£12 81 B A RIEREARA T EFIHE Officer and the director of the Company since 10 October 2021
EREF- and T December 2021 respectively.
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33EENFZRER () 33 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

@ EEM<E (&)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

HZE2022F %2021 F12 A31HIEF
& - BEEAR A B E E () B B AL UL
BN EREM () EREARRF
ER N EHME AR ER A A BRI
BB o

HZE2022F12A31BIEFE @ 8K
NABEEREXRERERETMAE -

HZE2021F12 A31HILFE » KE1E
S BT A RRERRLEED R
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None of the directors of the Company (i) received or paid any
remuneration in respect of accepting office; (ii) received or
paid emoluments in respect of services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries’
undertaking during the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the directors
of the Company waived or has agreed to waive any emolument.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Mr. Chu Wai Hang
Raymond, Mr. Tsang Ming Chit Stanley and Mr. Chan Chi
Ming waived emoluments of HK$36,000, HK$342,000 and
HK$151,200 respectively.

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits and termination

benefits

No emoluments, retirement benefits, payments or benefits in
respect of termination of directors’ services were paid or made,
directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor were any payables
during the years 31 ended December 2022 and 2021.

(c) Consideration provided to third parties for making

available directors’ services

No consideration was provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

(d) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, no significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.
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34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

34 ARRMBRRKRRFEED

(@) AR BMBARRR

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

2022 2021
k=3 FHET FHET
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
&E ASSETS
FRBEE Non-current asset
REMERNE Investment in a subsidiary 67,908 67,908
RBEE Current assets
SEUNE R Prepayments 251 23
MK BfT B 2 B FRIE Amount due from a subsidiary 101,043 100,328
RERREEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 215 538
101,509 100,889
WEE Total assets 169,417 168,797
S EQUITY
ARBRBHEA Equity attributable to equity
PEih s holders of the Company
RN Share capital (b) 20,000 20,000
BB B Share premium (b) 80,355 80,355
B Capital reserve (b) 67,898 67,898
B Retained earnings (b) 1,161 541
s Total equity 169,414 168,794
RBAEE Current liability
E A RIB R EETE A Other payables and accruals 3 3
EEREEAE Total equity and liability 169,417 168,797

KRR BB IS AR R R B 72202343 A
28R EBEEEHAE  WRKRUTA

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2023 and was

THE signed on its behalf:
KEfE 2|+ 1&g Chu Wai Hang Raymond Lau Shui Fung
) B Director Director
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M AEAQNTRERREBREESE 34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

(%) RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
(b) ARETRARREEEE (b) Share capital and reserve movement of the Company
(RitEE)/
& R EE ERfife BrlhE ann
(Accumulated
losses)/
Share Share Capital retained Total
capital premium reserve earnings equity
TAL TEL TEL TAT TEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(B2
(Note (i)
_RNTIAIAZER  Banceatifmany2 000 803 . T o 16826
REYWE Comprehensive Income
RN ofitrtheyer S S S L L
- - - 10,568 10,568

BEFARTHRS Transactions with owners
& Dividend - - - (10,000) (10,000)

B ARTHRZEE  Total transactions with owners = = = (10,000) (10,000)

R2021E128318 R Balance at 31 December 2021

202F1 18 2 &8 and 1 January 2022 20,000 80,355 67,898 541 168,794

2EYE Comprehensive Income
ERA Profit for the year - - - 5,620 5,620
- - - 5,620 5,620

BREAETHRS Transaction with owners

8 Dividend - - - (5,000) (5,000)
BREEAETHRZHAE  Total transaction with owners - - - (5,000) (5,000)
R2022F12 8310 248  Balance at 31 December 2022 20,000 80,355 67,898 1,161 169,414
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34 AP FHMBERRERRFEHEEST 34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
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(b) AT RARf#HE2E (R)

BifaE :
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WISE ALLY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

(b) Share capital and reserve movement of the Company
(continued)

Note:

(i) As at 13 December 2019, as directed by Defond HK, the entire
issued shares of Brilliant Holdings were transferred to the Company
in exchange of the Company allotting and issuing 1,000,000
shares in total to Smartview, Smart Union and Grandview. The
excess of net assets value of Brilliant Holdings in aggregate as at 13
December 2019 over the par value of 1,000,000 ordinary shares at
HK$0.01 per share was credited to the capital reserve account with
the amount of HK$67,898,000.

35 SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 6 February 2023, Dongguan Wise Ally Industrial Co., Ltd (3
SHIEFEZEABRAF), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, as lessee, entered into the tenancy agreement with
Dongguan Yetong Property Management Co., Ltd* (R5eh %84
*EEHRAA), as lessor, an independent third party, to renew
the lease in the PRC. The lease will be commenced on 1 April 2023
and will be expired on 31 March 2028 (both days inclusive) for
the Group’s use as its production plant, staff quarters and ancillary
functions in the PRC. The tenancy agreement was approved by
the Shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting held on 17
March 2023. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 6 February 2023 and the circular of the Company
dated 24 February 2023. The total lease payment that the Group
has committed but not commenced amounts to RMB72,851,000
(approximately HK$80,137,000). This amount has not been included
in calculating the lease liabilities as at 31 December 2022.

* For identification purpose only
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